

Australian and New Zealand Third Sector Research Inc.

# **Third Sector Review**

VOLUME 26 NUMBER 1 2020

#### THIRD SECTOR REVIEW

#### **Joint Editors**

Associate Professor Ian Murray Law School University of Western Australia

**Dr Fiona McGaughey** Law School University of Western Australia

#### **Editorial Advisory Board**

**Dr Megan Alessandrini** School of Social Sciences, University of Tasmania

**Professor Oonagh Breen** Law School, University College Dublin

**Professor Carolyn Cordery** Aston Business School, Aston University

**Professor Matthew Harding** Melbourne Law School, University of Melbourne

**Emeritus Professor Myles McGregor-Lowndes** Australian Centre for Philanthropy and Nonprofit Studies, Queensland University of Technology

**Professor Jenny Onyx** Centre for Cosmopolitan Civil Societies, University of Technology Sydney

**Professor David Gilchrist** Business School University of Western Australia

Professor Melanie Oppenheimer School of International Studies, Flinders University Associate Professor Ruth Phillips Faculty of Arts and Social Sciences, University of

Sydney Alceste Santuari

Department of Sociology and Business Law, University of Bologna

Krystian Seibert Centre for Social Impact, Swinburne University

**Professor Mark Sidel** Law School, University of Wisconsin-Madison

#### **Professor Karen Smith**

School of Management, Victoria University of Wellington

Australian and New Zealand Third Sector Research is a professional and academic organisation that aims to foster research and the dissemination of knowledge concerning the third sector in Australia and New Zealand. The third sector is constituted by all those organisations that are non-profit and non-government, together with the activities of volunteering and giving which significantly sustain them.

*Third Sector Review* provides a refereed publication outlet for scholars, researchers and practitioners whc are working in the third sector.

Subscriptions for ANZTSR may be directed to: Email: anztsr@anztsr.org.au.

Editorial correspondence and manuscript submissions should be directed to the Joint Editors, email: editor@anztsr.org.au.

Guidelines for contributors can be found on the following page of this issue.

Copyright remains with ANZTSR Inc. ISSN: 1323 9163 ISBN: 1 86365 805 X



Australian New Zealand Third Sector Research Ltd (ANZTSR) is a network of people interested in pursuing and encouraging research into private, non-profit, community or voluntary organisations and the activities of volunteering and philanthropy.

#### What is the third sector?

The third sector is constituted by all those organisations that are non-profit and nongovernment, together with the activities of volunteering and giving which sustain them. These organisations are a major component of many industries, including community health services, rural, education, housing, sport and recreation, culture and finance. Although they differ amongst themselves, third-sector organisations differ as a group from for-profit businesses and from government departments and authorities. Third-sector organisations vary greatly in size and in their activities. They include neighbourhood associations, sporting clubs, recreation societies, community associations, chambers of commerce, churches, religious orders, credit unions, political parties, trade unions, trade and professional associations, private schools, charitable trusts and foundations, some hospitals, welfare organisations and even some large insurance companies.

#### What is ANZTSR?

ANZTSR was launched in 1993. It arose from the growing awareness of the importance of the third sector in Australia and New Zealand, the paucity of reliable information about it, and the difficulty of working as isolated researchers. ANZTSR is an incorporated association. ANZTSR joins similar organisations in the USA (ARNOVA), the UK (ARVAC) and the International Society for Third Sector Research (ISTR) as active networks that promote communication between researchers and help develop synergies in the research endeavour. Research networks have also formed in several European countries or regions, in Latin America and Japan. These all testify to the growing interest in the third sector. The third sector is an important but hitherto undervalued and under-researched sector of societies, political systems and economies.

#### Who can join ANZTSR?

Membership is open to all who share ANZTSR's objectives. Members include academics and research students, government officials with an interest in the third sector, and people working in third-sector organisations, together with those organisations themselves.

#### Benefits of ANZTSR membership include:

- Subscription to Third Sector Review
- Discounts on biennial conference registration
- Access to members' website

Please visit www.anztsr.org.au for more information.

ANZTSR supports the efforts of the International Society for Third Sector Research (ISTR) to build a global scholarly community with a focus on civil society, the non-profit sector and philanthropy. Please visit www.istr.org for more information.

#### **GUIDELINES FOR CONTRIBUTORS**

*Third Sector Review* is explicitly cross-disciplinary, with both theoretical and empirical papers invited from a range of disciplines and fi elds of practice. Critiques of existing theory or practice are invited. Contributions are encouraged from both practitioners and academics. There is a special 'From the Field' section. Contributions are invited relating to characteristics of the third sector or any aspect of its management, including governance, human-resources management, the labour market, financial management, strategic management and managing change, community development, fundraising, user rights, relations with government, legal issues, historical development, etc.

Papers should be written in a jargon-free, non-technical style accessible to managers, workers and board members of non-profit organisations, and to academic researchers, teachers and students from a variety of disciplines. Papers are subject to rigorous peer review, normally by two independent reviewers. A blind review process is adopted. For that reason, authors should indicate their names and affiliations on a separate page.

Authors should also include a brief abstract (100 words) and up to fi ve keywords. Papers should be between 4000 and 6000 words in length, in 12-point Times New Roman, double-spaced and with 2.5-cm margins. Please use minimal formatting and styles; indicate headings through the use of CAPITALS, bold and *italics*. Authors should submit an electronic version of their paper in Microsoft Word format or Rich Text Format (RTF). If any images are used, please ensure that a high-resolution image fi le (jpeg or tiff) is supplied separately. If graphs are included, please ensure that the data used to create them is available to our designer. Where quotations are more than 40 words, they should be indented, justified and set in italics, with the source following directly. Single quotation marks are to be used throughout the text, with double quotation marks within single when needed.

#### Citations

The Harvard style of referencing is used, with endnotes kept to a minimum. Examples: (Lyons 1999); (Lyons 1999: 20); (Lyons 1998a, 1998b); (Onyx & Bullen 1998). If there are three or more authors, use the form: (McDonald et al. 1998). List multiple references in ascending chronological order: (McDonald et al. 1998; Onyx & Bullen 1998; Lyons 1999).

#### References

List in alphabetical order by the first author's surname. List multiple references by the same author chronologically, the earliest first, with the author's name repeated. Refer to the following examples, including the punctuation and capitalisation.

- Book: Verba, S., Scholzman, K. & Brady, H. (1995) *Voice and Equality: Civic voluntarism in American politics*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Book chapter: James, E. (1987) The Nonprofit Sector in Comparative Perspective. In W. W. Powell (ed.), *The Nonprofit Sector: A Research Handbook*: 397–415. New Haven: Yale University Press.

Journal article: Lyons, M. (1997) Contracting for Care: What is it and what is at issue? *Third Sector Review*, 3 (Special Issue): 5–21.

Working paper: Onyx, J. & Bullen, P. (1998) Measuring Social Capital in Five Communities in NSW: An analysis. CACOM Working Paper No. 41. Sydney: CACOM, University of Technology, Sydney.

# Contents

#### Editorial

David Gilchrist, Not-for-profits UWA, UWA Business School, University of Western Australia

1

6

#### Articles

The Impact of Recessions on Fundraising: A Systematic Review of the Literature

John Godfrey, Independent Consultant & Researcher; Alexandra Williamson, Australian Centre for Philanthropy and Nonprofit Studies, Queensland University of Technology

Social Enterprise and Financial Sustainability In South Asia: A 35 Grounded Theory

Mahesan Kandaiya, Partners in Micro-development Incorporated

In Pursuit of Effective Charity Advertising: Investigating the Branding and Messaging Execution Tactics Used by Charity Marketers 66

Cathy Nguyen, Ehrenberg-Bass Institute, University of South Australia; Margaret Faulkner, Ehrenberg-Bass Institute, University of South Australia

Social Enterprises in the European Union and the Italian 2017 Social Enterprises Reform Act: A Legal Framework for other Jurisdictions? 89

Alceste Santuari, Associate Professor, Department of Sociology and Business Law, University of Bologna

Measuring and Accounting for Outcomes in Australian Human Services Charities 108

Sarah Adams, Australian National University; Lydia Kilcullen, UWA Business School, University of Western Australia; Zoe Callis, Centre for Social Impact, University of Western Australia; Paul Flatau, Centre for Social Impact, University of Western Australia

Charity Hoarding in a COVID-19 Time of Need: The Role of Activity- 140 Based Regulation

Ian Murray, University of Western Australia Law School

#### From the Field

What Does the Next Generation of Christian Not-for-profit Leaders Need? 163

Paul Oslington, Professor of Economics, Alphacrucis College

# EDITORIAL

David J. Gilchrist, Not-for-profits UWA, University of Western Australia

# INTRODUCTION

There is no doubt that the last six or so months has been one of the most challenging periods for the not-for-profit and charitable sector ('Third Sector') in Australia, New Zealand and globally. Similarly, academic life across our network has been impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic as a new 'business as usual' drives how we undertake teaching and research activities. However, the important work of the academic community in building our understanding of the not-for-profit and charitable sector has continued unabated as the need for knowledge and data increases in response to the health and economic crises.

The pandemic has also reinforced and emphasised the importance of the sector itself in responding to health and social needs and, in turn, of the broader research undertaken. Indeed, the academic community has continued to pursue research goals that were extant prior to the pandemic and which will, no doubt, continue to be significant priorities once this current crisis has abated. This does not diminish the realities of the impact of COVID-19 but it does confirm the continued presence of the significant challenges faced by the Third Sector and its mission to build better communities.

This work has been conducted notwithstanding the challenges—both economic and operational—that have faced the academic community. Universities are facing dire economic pressures causing them to cut internal funding allocations for research while 'lock downs' and other government measures have restricted the capacity of researchers to extend their activities as broadly as they might otherwise have done. This includes in relation to the important activities associated with conferences, symposia and other research networking arrangements so necessary to enculturating ideas and refining them for better research outcomes.

This issue of Third Sector Review presents articles that directly and indirectly frame issues that are relevant to COVID-19 from an Australasian and global perspective and which also extend the ideas raised beyond the current crisis. Indeed, this is the challenge of academic researchers in this area, to be relevant to the immediate challenges while also striving to frame better outcomes into the future. These articles certainly respond to this challenge. Presented here are papers focusing on outcomes reporting, fundraising in economic downturns, social enterprise and sustainability, regulation, marketing and the development needs of sector leaders. Once again, these pieces are presented as general articles and as 'From the Field' papers.

#### The Articles

In the face of the economic impacts of COVID-19, John Godfrey and Alexandra Williamson have investigated the literature related to the impacts of recession on fundraising. They have examined the research related to Australia, New Zealand as well as the UK and USA. They identified an area of research need as well as the ubiquitous problems associated with poor data assets and competing definitional structures increasing research challenges. Mahesan Kandaiya explores sustainability in social enterprises located in South Asia. Kandaiya applies grounded theory in support of a practical set of prescriptions aimed at increasing the financial sustainability of not-for-profit social enterprises. Importantly, the piece develops a focus on the social, cultural and institutional contexts of India, Bangladesh and Sri Lanka.

The examination of social enterprise in an international context continues with Alceste Santuari's contribution focusing on the Italian Social Enterprises Reform Act [2017] in the context of the European Union's directives relating to this area. The combination of EU and Italian national legislation provides a framework for not-for-profit social enterprise that Santuari considers could inform regulatory structures in other parts of the world.

The development of market-style funding policies in the context of not-for-profit and charitable organisations' fundraising is a critical area for consideration as these economic policies place organisations in a position where they need to market themselves effectively. This process costs money and time for these organisations which have little of either, so any advertising needs to be effective. Therefore, Cathy Nguyen and Margaret Faulkner's article focusing on effective charity advertising is timely and relevant. The article considers advertising collateral of 40 Australian not-for-profits and prescribes a set of guidelines for testing effectiveness in charity campaigns.

Measuring and accounting for outcomes in human services is both a challenge and an opportunity. In the next article, Sarah Adams and her colleagues Lydia Kilcullen, Zoe Callis

and Paul Flatau examine outcomes, their development and reporting in the context of the users' information needs. Importantly, the results of their survey indicate that outcomes measurement and reporting is driven by identity and upwards accountability rather than downwards accountability. This primacy of upwards accountability impacts utility experienced by report users.

Ian Murray's article brings us back to COVID-19 and the regulatory framework surrounding reserves and investments held by charities. He examines activity-based regulation in the context of the need to ensure the natural proclivities of those charged with governance to retain and 'hoard' such reserves does not reduce charities' capacity to meet increased need as a result of the impact of the pandemic.

The 'From the Field' section of the journal is an important element in our pursuit of industry engagement and relevance. This edition of Third Sector Review includes an article from Paul Oslington examining the development needs of future leaders of Christian not-for-profits. Using the development of a course with the intention of meeting these needs, Oslington utilises the interviews carried out with CEOs of Christian not-for-profit organisations to gather evidence relating to needs and the challenges faced by the organisations in meeting them. Amongst other things, Oslington reports that these CEOs identified that religious formation is a high priority in terms of preparation of the next generation of leaders.

# **Concluding remarks**

Overall, a balance between continuing research topics and timely responses to COVID-19 issues is sought in this edition of Third Sector Review. The articles do provide new ideas while assessing existing thought in a practical and sector-focused way such that I believe sector leaders, experienced and emerging academics and those from the policy world are able to assimilate and use the prescriptions and ideas effectively.

As always, the submission of articles to Third Sector Review is appreciated and I would like tothank the authors who have created the articles presented here. A very special thank you is also extended to the reviewers and my colleagues as editors of the Third Sector Review, Associate Professor Ian Murray and Dr Fiona McGaughey.

# **ABOUT THE AUTHOR**

DAVID J. GILCHRIST is professor of accounting in the UWA Business School and coconvenor of the Not-for-profits UWA Research Group. He has held various senior positions in the Not-for-profit sector, government and commerce and undertakes research in the area of Human Services with especial focus on sustainability, governance, finance and policy. Email: <u>david.gilchrist@uwa.edu.au</u>

# The impact of recessions on fundraising: A systematic review of the literature

John Godfrey, Independent Consultant & Researcher Alexandra Williamson, Australian Centre for Philanthropy and Nonprofit Studies, Queensland University of Technology

# Abstract

The impact of economic crises on philanthropic funding to, and fundraising by, nonprofit organisations is a surprisingly under-researched field. Internationally, data is scant and comparisons are impeded by different categorisations and definitions of funders and sectors, different timeframes and the dominance of the US in the body of published research. A search and review of the literature identified 60 journal articles and professional reports that we analysed by theme. This paper brings together, reviews and analyses what is known from four national contexts – the US, the UK, Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand. Analysis covers the impact of multiple recessions, with a particular focus on the Global Financial Crisis (GFC) of 2008-09. Key findings include that losses of funding are not as uniform nor as sustained as media coverage would suggest and that different sectors are impacted in different ways. Philanthropic sources including individuals, trusts and foundations, and corporate philanthropy vary in the timing of their responses to economic crises, and though the impact of economic crises on nonprofit sectors is variable, giving as a whole is better sustained than popularly supposed.

# Keywords

GFC; Australia; UK; US; New Zealand; philanthropy

# Introduction

The headline of an Australian media release screams: '50% loss of revenue across social purpose organisations' (Xfactor Collective 2020) though closer inspection of the text reveals

this to refer to 'early research' in which <u>half</u> the respondents report <u>some</u> loss of income. A blog from the Australian Institute of Company Directors (AICD) reports fundraising income <u>may</u> fall by 20-30 percent over the next nine months (Dempsey 2020). These are just two examples of what Breeze and Morgan (2009: 19) warned against during our last global recession, the GFC, given '...the evidence of existing research indicates no straightforward causal relationship between economic conditions and the amount of philanthropic spending that takes place'.

Such early announcements are usually based on opinion and prediction (Breeze & Morgan 2009; Wilding 2010; Taylor et al. 2012). For example, the survey cited by AICD asked fundraisers what they thought the impact of Covid-19 on fundraising <u>might</u> be (More et al. 2020). A US example using this same method provides similar pessimistic projections '... with several organizations forecasting alarming rates of reduced funding as 50%, 70%, or even 100%' (CAF America 2020: 9). Data on actual receipts are mixed, and given the short timeframe, are far from robust indicators (Taylor et al. 2012).

In contrast, one research agency reports worldwide giving to March 2020 as higher than previous responses to a crisis (Grabois 2020). Similarly, a UK agency tracked significant growth in individuals reporting having given to UK charities between March and April (Murphy 2020a; 2020b). This UK agency reported increased income to some charities from individuals 'cleaving to the causes they feel close to' (Madden et al. 2020: 5).

The immediate aftermath of an economic shock is too early to know its effect (NFP Synergy 2008; List & Peysakhovich 2011; Morreale 2011; Brooks 2018). The full impact of the current Covid-19 recession will not be clear until it is over - therefore, historical evidence provides the best guide to what we might expect (Breeze & Morgan 2009; Taylor et al. 2012).

#### Lack of research

This paper updates research on the impact of economic downturns on fundraising, including data from Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand. In doing so, however, it faces a challenge that high-quality data on giving during recessions is difficult to find (Reich et al. 2011). These points are troubling given the profile and role of nonprofit organisations in times of crisis (Clifford 2017).

Some initial observations frame the discussion in this paper. One is that the proportion and therefore the importance of philanthropic gifts to nonprofits differs considerably according to

their sector (Breeze & Morgan 2009; Dietz et al. 2014; Lee & Shon 2018). Another is that not all trends and changes to giving may be caused solely by recession (Anheier 2009; Pharoah 2009). A third is that, as is inevitable in the case of philanthropy research, the vast majority of articles present US data and analysis.

#### Methodology

The literature of philanthropy and nonprofits is recognised as being interdisciplinary (Katz 1999; Daly 2011; Barman 2017; Webb Farley 2018). Sources may appear in publications related to various social science or humanities (SSH) disciplines. This suggests that a broad approach to conducting any literature search should be adopted. SSH sources are found in books and journals, SSH researchers communicate with each other via conference presentations and informal communications including blogs, pre-prints and other non-peer-reviewed publications (Morris & Van Der Veer Martens 2008; Glaser & Oltersdorf 2019).

Google Scholar (GS) is considered to be the bibliographic database best able to provide information from the most diverse array of sources (Harzing & Alakangas 2015; Gusenbauer 2019) including references such as theses, books, conference papers, and unpublished materials (Martín-Martín et al. 2018). Gusenbauer (2019) found that GS has the highest query hit rate out of 12 academic search engines and bibliographic databases. The two other major bibliographic databases are Web of Science and Scopus (Harzing & Alakangas 2015; Martín-Martín et al. 2018). Information services scholarship recommends that interdisciplinary researchers consult all three of these databases.

Having determined to use the three bibliographic databases discussed above, we chose the keywords on which to base our literature search (Linnenluecke et al. 2019). Our starting point was a collection of 37 articles assembled for a piece written for the Fundraising Institute of New Zealand (Godfrey 2020). Using NVivo we identified, by the frequency of their usage (shown in parenthesis), the following words of five letters or more related to the topic:

giving (3709) philanthropy (1225) charities (1034) donors (925) funding (904) charitable (878) fundraising (875) donations (850) recession (365) crisis (475) downturn (422)

Using these words as our guide, we constructed a search string to be used, with minor variation, in each of the bibliographic databases: (giving OR philanthropy OR charities OR donors OR funding OR charitable OR fundraising OR donations) AND (recession OR crisis OR downturn). We focused our search on papers that were empirically based.

We followed Harzing's (2017) recommendation to search for these keywords in article titles. We used *Publish or Perish* to search GS as it has an easier to use search interface (Harzing 2011; Harzing & Alakangas 2015). Using the search string above generated 1,000 results (the maximum GS will provide) being the 1,000 highest cited by GS citation metrics (Harzing 2011). We then exported these 1,000 records into EndNote, de-duplicated records, and then examined them for relevance. This first examination considered the title of the article, the title or type of journal or other category of publication, and the limited information that GS provides in its abstract field. Using these methods we were able to reduce the number of relevant articles to 221. We repeated this same process using Scopus and Web of Science. A variation was used for Scopus as it searches abstracts and keywords, as well as title. It does, however, permit limiting a search by journal name. Restricting the output to journals using the words 'nonprofit' or 'philanthropy' and their synonyms in the title (for consistency with other sources) produced 123 records. Our Web of Science search using the search string initially resulted in 341 articles.

Once we combined the articles from the four sources (including our initial collection), 185 were found to be duplicates. A further examination of title, keywords and abstract to identify those without a primary focus on fundraising in recessions reduced the collection even further. However, a process of addition also occurred, as relevant citations were discovered in reviewing the combined list of articles. After final consideration, 60 documents were retained for thematic analysis and coding in preparation for discussion in this paper. We used NVivo as it provides effective tools for searching and coding and both researchers are experienced in its use.

# The impact of recession on fundraising in the USA

This section examines literature that uses empirical data related to giving in the USA during recessions (including recessions before the GFC as well as during the GFC itself), and the effect of these downturns on philanthropic funding sources and nonprofit sectors. Since the advent of Giving USA in 1956 as a source of data on US philanthropy, the USA has experienced seven official recessions (Shaefer 2018). The only earlier economic downturn for which there is giving data is the Great Depression from 1929-1933.

As noted above, there is substantially more literature related to the impact of recessions on giving in the USA than any other country. This literature also cites a considerable range of primary data as shown by Table 1.

	Bank of America Study of High Net	Center on Philanthropy	Foundation Center	Giving USA Foundation	Guidestar	Million Dollar List	National Center for Charitable	Nonprofit Almanac	Panel Study of Income Dynamics
(Adelman et al., 2010)	et a		X		X		X		S
(Breeze and Morgan, 2009)				X					
(Bridgeland et al., 2009)				X		_		X	
(Brooks, 2018)				X		_			X
(Charity Commission, 2009)			X						
(Crittall et al., 2019)	X			X					
(Dietz et al., 2014)				X			X		
Drezner 2010 (Drezner, 2010)		X		X		_			
(Giving USA, 2008)				X	X				
(Hanfstaengl, 2010)			X			_			
(Horvath et al., 2018)						_	X		
(Hudson Institute, 2009)			X		X	_			
(Lawrence, 2009)			X						
(Leat, 2010)			X						
(Lee and Shon, 2018)							Х	X	
(Lee, 2013)				X					
(Lin and Wang, 2016)					X		X	X	
(List and Peysakhovich, 2011)			X	X			X		
(Marx and Carter, 2014)	X		X	X					X
(McCambridge, 2012)				Χ					

Table 1: Sources of US primary data cited by reviewed articles

	Bank of America Study of High Net	Center on Philanthropy	Foundation Center	Giving USA Foundation	Guidestar	Million Dollar List	National Center for Charitable	Nonprofit Almanac	Panel Study of Income Dynamics
(McCambridge and Dietz, 2020)							X		
(McGregor-Lowndes and Pelling, 2011)				Х					
(McLeod, 2020)				Х					
(Meer et al., 2017)									X
(Mohan and Wilding, 2009)				Х	X				
(Morreale, 2011)			Х	Х	Χ		Х		
(NCVO and CAF, 2009b)				Х					
(NCVO and CAF, 2009a)	Х			Х					
(Osili, 2010)	Х	Х		Х					
(Osili et al., 2019a)			Х	Х		X			Х
(Osili et al., 2019b)				Χ			X		X
(Reich and Wimer, 2012)	Х			Х	X		Х		
(Reich et al., 2011)	Х	Χ	Χ	Х	X				
(Rooney et al., 2009)	Х	Х		Х					Х
(Salamon et al., 2009)				Х					
(Shaefer and Boudreaux, 2012)				X			X	X	X
(Sheehan, 2012)	X		X	Χ					
(Taylor et al., 2012)	1				X				
(Wilding, 2008)				X					
(Wilding, 2010)				X					

# Recessions from 1970 - 2007

Recorded patterns of giving during recessions since the 1970s benefit from improved data collection. Giving in the US has tended in the long-term to remain stable between 1.7 percent to 2.3 percent of GDP between 1970 and 2010 (Reich et al. 2011). Shaefer and Boudreaux (2012) note that before 2008 only once – in 1987, not a recession year but the year of the Black Monday stock market crash on October 19, 1987 - did the value of giving in nominal (unadjusted) terms diminish. This was prompted by an impending change to tax rules which individuals anticipated by giving more in 1986 (Giving USA 2008). Giving in the US, nonetheless, declines during recessions, after adjusting for inflation (Reich et al. 2011; Shaefer & Boudreaux 2012) with the largest impacts on giving occurring during longer recessions (Giving USA 2008). Sheehan (2012) suggests that only twice has private giving in adjusted terms declined for more than one year. Giving USA (2008) indicates that, for the five recessions

of eight months duration or more between 1969 and 2007,<sup>1</sup> the average reduction in the value of individual giving was 3.9 percent while corporate giving averages fell 1.6 percent and foundation giving barely changed (-0.6%). Nonetheless, as individual giving comprises 80 percent of total giving, this decline has the most overall impact.

Changes in US giving to different sectors during recessions prior to 2008 are worth noting (See Table 2). Overall, giving to environment/animal welfare and international affairs fare the best, both showing continued growth albeit less than during non-recession years. It should be noted, however, that the data for these two sectors only began in 1987. Next, giving to public-society benefit and human services fare well, human services markedly so in longer recessions when average growth in giving in fact exceeded non-recession growth. Changes in giving to arts and culture are not dramatic, while giving to foundations diminishes markedly in longer recessions. The only negative changes or reductions in giving during this period are experienced by education and religion.

Sector	Non-recession	Recession	Long recession
International Affairs	26.3%	9.0%	12.0%
Environment/Animals	12.8%	6.2%	8.2%
Foundations	11.5%	5.9%	0.5%
Public-society benefit	7.3%	3.9%	4.8%
Arts, culture & humanities	4.7%	1.9%	2.3%
Human Services	2.9%	0.7%	5.0%
Health	2.9%	0.5%	1.9%
Religion	2.8%	-0.1%	1.4%
Education	4.6%	-1.1%	-1.9%

Table 2: 1967-2007 US Giving Change Averages in Recessions
--

# GFC and recovery

Several scholars remark that the GFC had a more severe impact on giving than its post-1970 predecessors (Morreale 2011; Reich et al. 2011; Shaefer & Boudreaux 2012; McCambridge 2013). However, Reich et al. (2011) note that while total giving decreased 7 percent in 2008 and a further 6.2 percent in 2009, Americans were only giving slightly less <u>as a percentage of GDP</u> - 2.0 percent in 2009, 2010, and 2011 compared with 2.1 percent in 2008. This is linked

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The recession of 1980 was officially six months.

to what Brooks (2018) explains as the steepest decline in US household income and wealth this century. These data suggest, as Breeze and Morgan (2009: 13) note, people do not stop giving because of changes to the economy (Wilding 2008).

As well as giving less, some segments of the US population appeared to change their giving patterns (Osili et al. 2019b). This could have been because giving attitudes changed or public uncertainty increased during this particular recession (Meer et al. 2017). Another possibility is that people 'moved ...to more informal types of charitable giving or private transfers' (Osili et al. 2019b: 1858) which are not visible in the data.

#### Impact of GFC on us individual giving

The next sections discuss literature relating to impacts of the GFC on sources of US philanthropy, namely individuals, foundations and corporations. Individuals account for around 80 percent of US giving (Reich et al. 2011). The influence of the GFC on individual giving was, according to Brooks (2018: 720), the steepest decline in US household income and wealth this century resulting in "...at least four consecutive years of diminished real purchasing power".

Depending on their date of publication, articles offer differing data regarding the decline in individual giving in the US. An early estimate suggested that individual giving declined by 6.3 percent between 2007 and 2008 in real terms (Giving USA 2009, cited by NCVO and CAF, 2009). A later result was that individual giving decreased by 2.4 percent from 2007 to 2008, followed by 3.2 percent in 2009, after adjusting for inflation (Giving USA 2019, cited by Osili 2010). A revised figure (Giving USA 2019, cited by Clark et al. 2019) is that during 2008, there was an 11.7 percent drop in inflation-adjusted giving by individuals.

Another aspect, however, is the decline in participation (measured as the number of households giving) which began in 2002, before the GFC (Clark et al. 2019). The decline following the GFC was more significant among those with lower levels of education, income, or wealth (Clark et al. 2019). Explanations for this include that giving (apart from religious tithing) comes second to basic needs (Sheehan 2012). Tithing also potentially reduces total amounts of individual giving, as it is based on a percentage of (potentially reduced) income or wealth (Reich et al. 2011). Other reasons for decreased giving could be that low-income homeowners saw substantial reductions in the worth of their homes (Morreale 2011); and poor households generally were affected by job losses (Reich et al. 2011).

The decline in giving during the GFC also took place in high net worth households that represent between 65 percent and 70 percent of all individual giving in the US (Osili 2010). While both the *proportion* of income given by high net wealth households (Clark et al. 2019) and the *number* of such households giving (Osili 2010) remained stable during the GFC, the *average amount* given decreased 34.9 percent from 2007 to 2009 (Osili 2010). Consistent with the observation that elites may give anonymously during recessions to avoid publicity, the *Chronicle of Philanthropy* reported a leap in anonymous gifts of over \$1 million to 19 percent in 2008-9 from an average ranging from 3 percent to 5 percent in the decade prior (Gose 2009).

Explanations for changes in the value of High Net Worth Individuals (HNWI) giving during downturns include the argument that 'predicting giving behavior (sic) based on gross economic measures is imperfect at best' (Sheehan 2012: 88). Huge declines in the stock market are not closely correlated to declines in philanthropy as even the wealthy give based on income rather than assets. Contra to Sheehan's argument, List (2011: 157) finds gifts are responsive to the economy but are 'much more sensitive to economic upturns than to downturns'. Two probable causes for downward 'stickiness' are that large gifts are often pledged in advance, and the social or peer pressure on wealthy philanthropists to maintain their giving (List & Peysakhovich 2011).

Bequests are a form of individual giving noted for their volatility (Reich et al. 2011), though Brown and Rooney (2010) consider bequests unlikely to be affected by the timing of recessions. Nonetheless, there was a 21 percent reduction in the value of bequests received from 2008 to 2010 (Reich et al. 2011).

#### Impact of GFC on US foundation and corporate giving

Foundation giving has a close relationship with the economy (Brown & Rooney 2010). Estimates of the overall decline in value of foundation endowments during the GFC range between 20-30 percent (Hanfstaengl 2010; Martin 2010). Foundation assets held in shares dropped 30 percent in value when the US stock market fell in 2009 (Morreale 2011). Foundation giving increased slightly in the first year of the GFC (Reich et al. 2011) but declined during 2009-11 (Reich & Wimer 2012). The initial rise in giving is typical of the countercyclical trait of foundations (Brown & Rooney 2010; Osili et al. 2019a) and Donor-Advised Funds (DAFs) (Heist & Vance-McMullen 2019). This countercyclicality is partially explained by basing giving on average asset values over prior years (Lawrence 2009a; Reich

et al. 2011; Sheehan 2012), by decisions to dip into reserves (Lawrence 2009a), and to continue to fund causes foundations care about. Many foundations agreed to continue funding existing commitments during the GFC (Hanfstaengl 2010) while others shifted giving from capital projects (Lawrence 2009a) to areas such as human services, arts, and higher education (Osili et al. 2019a) or hard-hit localities (Reich et al. 2011).

Corporate giving is the smallest of the three sources of US giving at around 4-5 percent of giving (Klein 2004; Van Fleet 2010). Although there is evidence of countercyclical giving by some US corporations during recessions (Morreale 2011) and the GFC in particular (Reich et al. 2011; Osili et al. 2019a), most research points to declines in US corporate giving during recessions (Van Fleet 2010; Sheehan 2012; Brown et al. 2013).

#### Impact of GFC on US nonprofit sector

As in previous recessions, the impact of the GFC varied among sectors. Table 3 provides an overview of the impact according to various papers. As indicated by their disparate assessments some data require a closer focus. Two factors need to be considered: firstly publication dates as data becomes more accurate or complete over time; secondly, certain papers comment on giving by the wealthy rather than giving overall (Osili 2010; Sheehan 2012; Marx & Carter 2014; McCambridge & Dietz 2020; McCambridge & Heliczer 2020). An example of the second point is causes related to the environment and animals. An overall decline in giving to these is noted (Morreale 2011; Reich et al. 2011). Giving from the wealthy, however, increased (Osili 2010).

		Negative Impact	Neutral Impact	Positive Impact
Arts,	culture,	Bridgeland et al.,		
humanities		2009		
		Katz, 2010		
		Lee and Shon, 2018		
		Morreale, 2011		
		Reich et al., 2011		
		Rooney et al., 2009		
		Salamon et al., 2009		
Education		Osili, 2010		
		Reich et al., 2011		

Table 3: Impact of GFC by Sector According to Literature

	Negative Impact	Neutral Impact	Positive Impact
Environment/Animals	Morreale, 2011 Reich et al., 2011		Osili, 2010 Dietz et al., 2014
Health	Osili, 2010 Reich et al., 2011		McCambridge and Dietz, 2020 Pratt and Aanestad, 2020
Higher Education	Drezner, 2010 McCambridge and Dietz, 2020 Pratt and Aanestad, 2020		
Hospitals	McCambridge and Dietz, 2020 Reich et al., 2011		
Human Services	Morreale, 2011 Reich et al., 2011	Shaefer and Boudreaux, 2012	Marx and Carter, 2014 McCambridge and Dietz, 2020 McCambridge and Heliczer, 2020 Osili, 2010 Osili et al., 2019 Pratt and Aanestad, 2020 Sheehan, 2012
International Aid	Dietz et al., 2014 Morreale, 2011	Adelman et al., 2010	Osili, 2010 Reich et al., 2011
Public Benefit	McCambridge 2012 Morreale 2011 Pratt & Aanestad 2020	Reich et al 2011	Marx & Carter 2014 McCambridge & Heliczer 2020 Osilli 2010
Religion	Barna Group 2008 Bridgeland et al 2009 McCambridge 2012 McCambridge 2013 Morreale 2011	Reich et al 2011	Marx & Carter 2014 Osili 2010

Arts, culture and humanities, and higher education appear to have been the US sectors worst affected by the GFC. Performing arts organisations (which in the US tend to be highly reliant on donations) were especially hard-hit (Salamon et al. 2009; Lee and Shon 2018). The wealthy,

in particular, reduced their 2008 giving to this area (Rooney et al. 2009), suggesting donors prioritise health and human services over arts (Osili & Ackerman 2019) during an economic crisis. Yet, giving to the arts increased in 2009 (Osili 2010). For higher education too, 'The data were grim' (Drezner 2010: 191) as its donors also gave more to health and human services (Pratt & Aanestad 2020).

Turning to health and human services discloses a mixed picture. Health receives a relatively small amount of revenue from philanthropy (Worth 2014, cited by Lee & Shon 2018). Early publications suggest declines in giving to health both from the wealthy (Osili 2010) and overall (Reich et al. 2011), whereas a later article (Pratt & Aanestad 2020) suggests contributions grew. Human services, in contrast, relies heavily on philanthropy (Worth 2014, cited by Lee & Shon 2018). In this case, wealthy donors were supportive (Osili 2010; Marx & Carter 2014; Pratt & Aanestad 2020). Foundations and corporations provided million-dollar gifts to human services during the GFC (Osili et al. 2019a). Overall revenue, however, declined in 2008 before an increase in 2009 (Reich et al. 2011) and, at a slower rate than other sectors, declined after 2010 (McCambridge & Heliczer 2020). Among human services, food banks fared well (Rooney & Bergdoll 2020) which might be considered an indication of 'more diligent targeting of poverty-relevant causes' (Reich & Wimer 2012: 1).

Religion relies primarily on philanthropy (Worth 2014, cited by Lee & Shon 2018) and represents the largest target for private giving in the US (McCambridge 2013). The sector also presents the most varied picture. A consultant study undertaken at the end of 2008, the busiest time for religious giving, reported a significant reduction in giving to Christian churches (Barna Group 2008, cited in Bridgeland et al. 2009). Osili (2010) and Marx and Carter (2014) say that religion continued to be highly supported by wealthy households. Morreale (2011) considers religion fared badly (along with arts, culture and humanities, international aid, environment, and public-society benefit organisations). Reich et al. (2011), however, report only a minor decline for religion overall. A final note is provided by McCambridge (2013, 'Other findings', para. 2) who, reporting an interview with the editor of *Giving USA 2013*, says religion "…is trending downward, and… that's a long-term trend".

The category of public-society benefit in the US includes intermediaries that both fundraise and distribute grants, such as United Way, the Red Cross or Salvation Army, and their grant recipients are usually charities providing basic needs to the poor (Osili 2010; Marx & Carter 2014; Osili et al. 2019a). Contributions to public-society benefit organisations declined considerably (Osili 2010; Pratt & Aanestad 2020) although they were the largest beneficiary category of gifts from the wealthy (Marx & Carter 2014) and of million-dollar gifts from foundations and corporations (Osili et al. 2019a). Gifts to (private grantmaking) foundations declined (Rooney et al. 2009; Reich et al. 2011; McCambridge 2012).

International aid is the last sector covered and, while Morreale (2011) describes a decrease in contributions, Reich et al. (2011) report a strong rebound. This was likely due to increased giving by corporations (Adelman et al. 2010) foundations (Reich et al. 2011) and wealthy individuals (Osili 2010).

#### Giving during recessions in the UK

There is very little data on the impact of recessions on UK philanthropy and fundraising before the GFC (Wilding 2010). During the recession of 1991-93 many charities experienced a fall in total income. No articles, however, describe data specifically for philanthropic giving in that period. It was said that corporate giving declined in that recession (Taylor-Gooby 1994, cited by Wilding 2008). Other data suggest that UK household giving was generally in decline from 1974 to 1994 making it difficult to disaggregate meaningful patterns regarding the recession years of 1974, 1980 and 1991 (Wilding 2008).

Empirical research articles on the GFC's impact on UK giving are considerably fewer than the US. The insights provided by these articles concerning both the sources of, and causes supported by, giving are discussed below. The principal sources of data used in the articles are the National Office of Statistics and the UK Charity Commission. Additionally, there are data compiled in a series of annual reports on *Million Pound Gifts* (e.g. Breeze, 2009; Breeze 2011). No empirical research was discovered relating to UK corporate giving during recessions.

#### Impact of GFC on UK sources of giving

As in the US, individuals are the largest source of philanthropic income. The proportion of the UK population giving fluctuated in the range 54-58 percent, with the low of 54 percent occurring during the GFC in 2008/9 (NCVO & CAF 2011). A drop in the mean amount (but not the median) also occurred during 2008/9, the worst year with an 11.4 percent decline for individual giving. This indicates a fall in the size of larger gifts rather than the reduction in value of most gifts (NCVO & CAF 2009).

It is noteworthy that the percentage of UK donors who give monthly amounts over £100 and are responsible for around half the total value of individual donations fluctuated only slightly between 7-8 percent during the GFC (NCVO & CAF 2009, 2011). Thus keeping or attracting major donors is important: 'Wealthy people retain the capacity and the desire to make their philanthropic contribution' (Breeze 2009: 14).

The Charity Commission (2009) undertook qualitative research within the UK grant making foundation sector in early 2009 indicating that asset values had declined. The managers interviewed, however, noted that foundations were 'holding their nerve' (Charity Commission 2009: 11) and some planned to spend from reserves. Nonetheless, some charities did report decreases in giving from foundations in the subsequent year (Charity Commission 2010).

#### Impact of GFC on UK sectors receiving gifts

The Charity Commission (2010) survey found that just under half of UK charities receive income from fundraising and, for around one-quarter, it was their most important source. By sector, international aid charities were the most reliant on fundraising. In 2009 religion received the most in gift value (NCVO & CAF 2008) though taking second place after medical research the following year (NCVO & CAF 2010). Higher education may also have suffered during the GFC though this finding is only based on a press report (Shepherd 2010, cited in European University Association 2011). Breeze (2011) provides corroboration, reporting a significant drop in million-pound gifts to UK universities which had previously been, along with arts and culture, donors' preferred recipient category. Breeze (2011) also found more million-pound gifts going to international aid and public welfare during the GFC recession than previously.

Overall, the favoured causes for UK giving remained medical research and hospitals, then children and young people. Giving to these remained stable from 2005 until 2011 (NCVO & CAF 2011). The only significant fluctuation was that international aid increased its giving income in 2009/10 probably in response to the Haiti earthquake (NCVO & CAF 2011), in itself a confirmation that people remain charitable during economic downturns.

#### Australia

Sources of primary data on the impact of recession on Australian philanthropy are even more limited than in the UK. The data for giving by individuals can be obtained from Australian Tax Office (ATO) records of tax deductions claimed for charitable donations. These are available from 1979 onwards, except for 1991 to 1993 when the last recession occurred – during that period the ATO did not collect data (McLeod 2020). The previous recession was in 1983 when, according to these data, giving grew before falling the following year (McLeod 2020).

There is no longitudinal data for giving by trusts and foundations and the data for the GFC provided below was obtained through two surveys (Centre for Corporate Public Affairs 2009; Leat 2010). Information on corporate funding was obtained from beneficiary nonprofit organisations (Centre for Social Impact 2009).

## Australian individual giving in the GFC

Australian individual giving rose sharply from 2000 until the GFC in 2008, followed by a decline between 2008 and 2010 (Crittall et al. 2019). The GFC heralded a trend of fewer people giving (McGregor-Lowndes et al. 2017) and verified in annual tax-deductible donation data. Total giving (including bequests) decreased 20 percent from the 2007 high point to 2011-12 (Crittall et al. 2019). Giving levels had not yet recovered to pre-GFC levels by 2011-12.

Major gifts fell significantly during the GFC, with nonprofit organisations concerned about whether they would be renewed in subsequent years (Centre for Corporate Public Affairs 2009). However, some individual philanthropists increased support in recognition that needs are greater during an economic downturn (Centre for Corporate Public Affairs 2009). These high net worth donors continued to give a greater percentage of their taxable income than lower-earners. In 2008-09, taxpayers earning over \$1 million donated approximately 1.71 percent of their taxable income to eligible nonprofits, compared to the national average of 0.38 percent (McGregor-Lowndes & Pelling 2011), highlighting their importance to the nonprofit sector.

# Australian foundation giving in the GFC

Survey results from 73 nonprofit organisations in June 2009 (Centre for Corporate Public Affairs 2009) indicate that the biggest falls in nonprofit funding included that from philanthropic trusts and foundations. Some philanthropic foundations scaled back commitments and reduced discretionary or one-off grants.

This was despite the fact that qualitative research by Leat (2010) of 23 Australian foundations in 2009 revealed that foundations did not lose asset value and that many remained wealthier than previous years. A problem for Australian foundations is that some cannot, under the terms of their establishment deed, spend the accumulated (or endowed) capital, while others choose not to dip into their assets in times of economic crisis. Leat (2010) contrasts this with the UK Charity Commission (2009) study that found a majority of UK foundations (69%) had made no changes to grant making expenditure in the 2008-09 period (Leat 2010).

# Australian corporate giving during the GFC

From a survey of 263 nonprofit organisations, just over half of respondents experienced a decrease in corporate funding in the six months before December 2009, and a further one-third experienced flat income. Only 7 percent experienced an increase in corporate donations in the second half of 2009 (Centre for Social Impact 2009).

Changes to the nature of Australian corporate support during the GFC meant less cash support but increases of in-kind support and corporate volunteers for community activities (Centre for Corporate Public Affairs 2009). Multi-year funding partnerships were most stable whereas funding support for one-off requests and sponsorship of art or sports events were not. Companies were understandably reluctant to support fundraising gala events when making difficult economic decisions in their organisations (Centre for Corporate Public Affairs 2009).

#### Sectors supported in Australia

Only one article was discovered discussing the support for different sectors in Australia during the GFC (Centre for Social Impact 2009). This was based on a survey of the impact of the first six months of the downturn and the *anticipated* consequences of the recession. These results

should be treated very cautiously given the short period to which they apply, and the small samples in some categories.

International aid organisations were found to be the most reliant on philanthropy, raising over three-quarters of their income through fundraising. Education charities were next, raising less than half this way. Welfare organisations were the least dependent at under one-third, while environment, health, arts and sport raised between 35 percent and 40 percent from giving. Within the six-month period examined, environmental causes reported the largest decline in fundraising income and international aid reported the least decline. Arts and sports organisations had been the least affected.

#### Giving in New Zealand during the GFC

Philanthropic giving in Aotearoa New Zealand contributes around 20 percent of nonprofit revenue (Tennant et al. 2006; Slack & Leung-Wai 2007; McLeod 2017). Data regarding the impact of the recession on giving in New Zealand is extremely limited. Only two *Giving NZ* reports spanning 2005 to 2010 exist from which to extract data relevant to the GFC (Slack & Leung-Wai 2007; Slack & Molano 2012). As a percentage of GDP, individual giving appeared to increase substantially in that interval, from 0.81 percent (Slack & Leung-Wai 2007) to 1.35 percent (Slack & Molano 2012). This, however, was undoubtedly due to the removal in 2009 of limits to the amount claimable as a tax rebate on charitable gifts (Slack & Molano 2012; McLeod 2017) which masks any response to the economic downturn.

#### NZ individual giving

The analysis of individual giving in New Zealand shows most funding coming from a large number of people giving smaller amounts, contrasting with the UK (NCVO & CAF 2009; 2011), although similar to Australia and the USA (McLeod 2017). The substantial increase mentioned above meant that, while before the recession in 2005 individual giving contributed around one-third of funding to nonprofits (Slack & Leung-Wai 2007), by 2011 this had leaped to three-fifths (Slack & Molano 2012).

### NZ foundation giving

The proportions of trust and foundation grantmaking showed exactly the opposite trend. In 2005 this represented just under three-fifths of total giving (Slack et al. 2006) and in 2011, one-third (Slack et al. 2012). A noteworthy part of NZ philanthropy is that giving from the energy, gaming and lottery sectors is mandated by government. Combined, grants from these industries' statutory trusts represent around a third of foundation giving (Slack & Molano 2012).

# NZ corporate giving

Corporate giving, calculated by the two *Giving NZ* reports that bookend the GFC, decreased from 7 percent of total giving in 2005 (Slack & Leung-Wai 2007) to 5.7 percent in 2011 (Slack & Molano 2012). This decrease appears to be related to a reconsideration of how to distinguish sponsorship from corporate philanthropy rather than a significant decline since the earlier report (Slack & Molano 2012).

## Sectors supported in NZ

There are no data regarding the effect of the GFC on different sectors for New Zealand. Those that rely most on philanthropy, however, are reported to be international aid, animal care and religion (McLeod 2017). The activities that receive the most philanthropy are culture and recreation (arts and sport), education (including research) and social services (welfare) (Slack & Molano 2012).

#### **Discussion and recommendations**

The literature on philanthropy is clear that social values are stronger drivers of giving than economics (Breeze & Morgan 2009; Shaefer & Boudreaux 2012; Crittall et al. 2019). Recent indications from surveys in the UK indicate that people expect charities to continue fundraising (Murphy 2020b) during economic crises. Arising from this, communicating using a focus that aligns mission to values is recommended (Anheier 2009; Lawrence 2009b; Sheehan 2012). A

study of environmental NGOs (ENGOs) in Greece, where recession and austerity bit harder than anywhere found:

Greek donors and ENGOs [sic] views correspond to a great extent. Both sides place the greatest emphasis on moral legitimacy components, on an ENGOs [sic] proven capability - mainly through its past record – to carry out the task that the organisation asks to be funded for (Botetzagias & Koutiva, 2015: 138).

Anheier (2009: 5) suggests organisations consolidate their efforts around those that are 'mission critical' and more 'resource attractive' or fundable.

In addition to communicating mission and values generally, connecting and communicating with donors is regarded as important. Based on their large database of giving research, Giving USA (2008: 3) is clear that 'Donors continue to give during recessions and are most likely to make gifts to organizations that provide excellent stewardship'. A study of US HNWI donors during the GFC found the top reason they stopped giving was feeling disconnected from a recipient organisation (Rooney et al. 2009).

Anheier (2009: 9) suggests that a recession offers opportunities for change: 'New funding patterns, business models and ways of organizing are likely to emerge'. In the literature, however, consensus seems to emphasise not making changes to ways of fundraising but investing more in it. Not only fundraising pundits such as Klein (2004), Warwick (2009) and scholars (Giving USA 2008; Breeze & Morgan 2009; Morreale 2011; Sheehan 2012) recommend more investment but it was also reflected in actual practice (Lawrence 2009b; Salamon et al. 2009; Hanfstaengl 2010). In an Australian survey during the GFC, nearly half the 263 nonprofit organisations that responded indicated greater investment was planned (Centre for Social Impact 2009). A post-GFC study found that US organisations that maintained strong external funding relationships were "more successful in generating revenues during and in the aftermath of the financial crisis" (Lin & Wang 2016: 269).

Other strategies discussed for fundraising during recessions are diversification (Klein 2004; Anheier 2009; Charity Commission 2010) and mergers (Anheier 2009; Lawrence 2009b; Charity Commission 2010; Morreale 2011; Wilson 2020). Empirical evidence on the effectiveness of diversification is mixed. A global report indicated that organisations did well during the GFC by extending their fundraising efforts to attract new Asian wealth (Adelman et

al. 2010). Lin and Wang (2016) found that diversification for more localised organisations was counter-productive in the short-term.

The literature contains theoretical suggestions that changes in taxation are levers which could be beneficial during economic crises (Hanfstaengl 2010; NCVO & CAF 2011; Lee 2013). Hence the question arises as to whether there a role for government support of nonprofit fundraising during recessions? There is, however, scant empirical data to support such cases and the limited data discovered in the literature reviewed is conflicting. The New Zealand example (Slack & Molano 2012; McLeod 2017) showed how removing a cap on deductions made a difference, although this change was made because of the recession. Brooks (2018) demonstrated the reverse, using data to construct a model showing that lowering the cap in the US would have a negative impact.

A recommendation of this paper - to governments and data agencies in Australia and New Zealand, at least - is to ensure robust and accurate data are kept on all forms of giving to, and expenditure by, nonprofits. The example from Australia, of tax data collection having being discontinued before the early 1990s recession (McLeod 2020) indicates a failure to understand or prioritise this data. Among the nations whose research has formed part of this review, only the US have access to comprehensive data on giving and institutions capable of collating, analysing and distributing it. This may well relate to the size of the US philanthropic sector. The importance of service provided by nonprofits particularly in times of economic crisis (Clifford 2017), should support the proposal that where similar economies of scale do not prevail, government attention to, even funding for, robust data would be beneficial.

#### Conclusion

This review of philanthropic funding of, and fundraising by, nonprofits during times of economic crisis questions some popular assumptions. A challenge faced by fundraisers during recessions is a lack of information regarding how donors will behave.

The literature clearly shows that reductions to philanthropic revenue are not as large nor as sustained as media coverage or fundraisers' initial predictions suggest, but also that different sectors are affected in different ways. Funding sources vary in the timing of their responses to economic crises, with giving by individuals first increasing but then falling as economic realities, particularly reductions in household income, take hold. Participation rates, however,

vary less: the number of donors remains the same but the average donation drops. It seems that the emotional and social values that inspire generosity are not dimmed by economic concerns.

Foundation giving remains steady for at least the first year and may also increase counter cyclically as a deliberate policy response. It is likely to decline in the second year due to the lag effect as new distribution decisions are based on reduced asset valuations. From that time on, grant making is dependent on the recovery of financial markets. Corporate giving decreases, particularly in the form of one-off contributions and event sponsorships, though long-term funding partnerships are likely to endure in some form.

Giving by HNWI and households, however, tends to be maintained, at least to causes and organisations to which donors have a close ongoing relationship. There is also evidence that giving to public welfare by the wealthy increases during recessions.

One practical contribution of our review and analysis is therefore the recommendation that nonprofit leaders and fundraisers should continue to communicate the needs and values that underlie their organisation's mission (Scaife et al. 2013), as donors will continue to give within their capacity to those organisations they care most about. Theoretical contributions include highlighting the large gaps in the body of research around philanthropic responses in times of economic crises and financial insecurity. Giving money to help those immediately and directly affected by an economic crisis (through, for example, unemployment, underemployment, homelessness or food scarcity) may be an obvious and intuitively generous reaction but the breadth of the nonprofit sector's work supports and sustains communities, research, culture and environmental causes in the much longer-term. The separate but related topic of fundraising in times of disasters (whether natural or human-made) offers some areas for future comparison. A further challenge is that charitable gifts and services have different social and political connotations in different cultures (Bekkers 2016). It should be noted that the vast majority of published research in English around nonprofit fundraising in economic crises is from the US and the UK. We feel that Australia and New Zealand both should make stronger efforts to track and analyse their national data.

Fundraising is now recognised as a specialisation requiring professional education, skills and standards. We believe that this paper, by reviewing past research on nonprofit responses to economic crises, contributes a useful platform that may serve as a resource not only for fundraising practitioners and future academic researchers but governments when they look towards civil society to step forward in times of crisis.

#### REFERENCES

- Adelman, C., Spantchak, Y. & Marano, K. (2010) *The Index of Global Philanthropy and Remittances 2010: Hudson Institute report.* Washington, DC: Hudson Institute
- Anheier, H. K. (2009) *The Global Economic Downturn, Philanthropy and Nonprofits: Reflections on what it means, and what to do.* Heidelberg: Centre for Social Investment.

Barman, E. (2017) The social bases of philanthropy. Annual Review of Sociology, 43: 271-290.

- Barna Group (2008) Churches Stand to Lose Several Billion Dollars in Lost Donations Due to Economic Downturn. Ventura, CA: The Barna Group.
- Bekkers, R. (2016) Regional differences in philanthropy. In T. Jung, S. D. Phillips & J. Harrow (eds.), *Routledge Companion to Philanthropy*: 124-138. Oxford, UK: Routledge.
- Botetzagias, I. & Koutiva, E. (2015) When Best is Not Enough: Greek environmental NGOs and their donors amidst the economic crisis. Aldershot: Ashgate Publishing Ltd.
- Breeze, B. (2009) *The Million Pound Donors Report 2009*. London: Coutts Institute & University of Kent.
- Breeze, B. (2011) *The Million Pound Donor Report 2011*. London: Coutts Institute & University of Kent.
- Breeze, B. & Morgan, G. G. (2009) Philanthropy in a Recession: An analysis of UK media representations and implications for charitable giving. NCVO/VSSN Researching the Voluntary Sector conference. Warwick, UK, 7-8 September. Warwick: University of Warwick.
- Bridgeland, J. M., Mcnaught, M., Reed, B. & Dunkelman, M. (2009) *The Quiet Crisis: The impact of the economic downturn on the nonprofit sector*. U.S.: WK Kellogg Foundation.
- Brooks, A. C. (2018) How did the Great Recession affect charitable giving? *Public Finance Review*, 46: 715-742.
- Brown, M. S., Mckeever, B., Dietz, N., Koulish, J. & Pollack, T. (2013) *The Impact of the Great Recession on the Number Of Charities*. Washington, DC: Urban Institute. Available at: https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/24046/412924-The-Impact-of-the-Great-Recession-on-the-Number-of-Charities.PDF [Accessed 27 July 2020].
- Brown, M. S. & Rooney, P. M. (2010) *Giving Following a Crisis: An historical analysis*. Available: https://scholarworks.iupui.edu/handle/1805/5778 [Accessed 27 July 2020].
- CAF America (2020) *The Voice of Charities Facing Covid-19 Worldwide*. Alexandria, VA: Charities Aid Foundation America.
- Centre for Corporate Public Affairs (2009) *Impact of the Economic Downturn on Not-for-profit* Organisation Management. Melbourne, VIC: Centre for Corporate Public Affairs.
- Centre for Social Impact (2009) Managing in a Downturn: A comprehensive survey of the impact of the economic downturn on not-for-profit organisations. Sydney, NSW: University of New South Wales.

- Charity Commission (2009) *Firm Foundations: A snapshot of how trusts ad foundations are responding to the economic downturn in 2009.* Liverpool, UK: Charity Commission for England and Wales.
- Charity Commission (2010) *Charities and the Economic Downturn: Fourth economic survey of charities*. Liverpool, UK: Charity Commission for England and Wales. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme nt\_data/file/315540/economic\_downturn4.pdf [Accessed 27 July 2020].
- Clark, C. J., Han, X., Osili, U. O., Kalugyer, A., Ottoni-Wilhelm, M., Pasic, A. & Rooney, P. M. (2019) *Changes to the Giving Landscape*. Indianapolis, IN: Indiana University.
- Clifford, D. (2017) Charitable organisations, the great recession and the age austerity: Longitudinal evidence for England and Wales. *Journal of Social Policy*, 46: 1-30.
- Crittall, M., McGregor-Lowndes, M. & Conroy, D. (2019) Individual giving: A decade of change in Australia? *Third Sector Review*, 25: 1-26.
- Daly, S. (2011) Philanthropy as an essentially contested concept. Voluntas: International Journal Of Voluntary & Nonprofit Organizations, 23: 535-557.
- Dempsey, S. (2020) *Charity giving forecast to fall 20-30 percent*. Australian Institute of Company Directors. Available at: https://aicd.companydirectors.com.au/resources/covid-19/charity-giving-forecast-tofall-20-30-per-cent [Accessed 27 July 2020].
- Dietz, N., Mckeever, B., Brown, M. S., Koulish, J. & Pollak, T. (2014) The Impact of the Great Recession on the Number of Charities by Subsector and Revenue Range. Washington, DC: Urban Institute.
- Drezner, N. D. (2010) Fundraising in a time of economic downturn: Theory, practice and implications. An editorial call to action. *International Journal of Educational Advancement*, 9: 191-195.
- European University Association (2011) Impact of the Economic Crisis on European Universities. Brussels: European University Association.
- Giving USA (2008) Giving During Recessions and Economic Slowdowns: Giving USA Spotlight No 3. Chicago, IL: Giving USA Foundation.
- Glaser, J. & Oltersdorf, J. (2019) Persistent Problems for a Bibliometrics of Social Sciences and Humanities and How to Overcome Them.
- Godfrey, J. (2020) Fundraising in the shadow of Covid-19. *FINZ Magazine*, Autumn 2020: 64-65.
- Gose, B. (2009) Anonymous giving gains in popularity as the recession deepens. *The Chronicle* of *Philanthropy*, 30 April 2009.
- Grabois, A. (2020) Global philanthropic response to COVID-19 approaches \$3 Billion. *Philantopic: A blog of opinion and commentary*. Available at: https://pndblog.typepad.com/pndblog/2020/03/global-philanthropic-response-tocovid-19-approaches-3-billion.html [Accessed 27 July 2020].
- Gusenbauer, M. (2019) Google scholar to overshadow them all? Comparing the sizes of 12 academic search engines and bibliographic databases. *Scientometrics*, 118: 177-219.
- Hanfstaengl, E. M. (2010) Impact of the Global Economic Crises on Civil Society Organizations. DESA Working Paper No. 97. New York, NY: United Nations.

- Harzing, A. W. (2011) *The Public or Perish Book: Your guide to effective and responsible citation analysis.* Melbourne, VIC: Tarma.
- Harzing, A. W. (2017) Using publish or perish to do a literature review. *Harzing.com Research in International Management*. Available at: https://harzing.com/blog/2017/02/using-publish-or-perish-to-do-a-literature-review [Accessed 27 July 2020].
- Harzing, A. W. & Alakangas, S. (2015) Google scholar, Scopus and the Web of Science: A longitudinal and cross-disciplinary comparison. *Scientometrics*, 106: 787-804.
- Heist, D. H. & Vance-McMullen, D. (2019) Understanding donor-advised funds: How grants flow during recessions. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 48: 1066-1093.
- Katz, P. M. (2010) Service Despite Stress: Museum attendance and funding in a year of recession. Washington, DC: American Association of Museums. Available at: https://blooloop.com/news/service-despite-stress-museum-attendance-and-funding-ina-year-of-recession/ [Accessed 27 July 2020].
- Katz, S. N. (1999) Where did the serious study of philanthropy come from, anyway? *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 28: 74-82.
- Klein, K. (2004) Fundraising in Times of Crisis. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Lawrence, S. (2009a) *Foundations address the impact of the economic crisis*. Faunalytics. Available at: https://www.issuelab.org/resources/9338/9338.pdf [Accessed 27 July 2020].
- Lawrence, S. (2009b) Foundations' Year-End Outlook for Giving and the Sector: Research Advisory November 2009. New York, NY: Foundation Center.
- Leat, D. (2010) Australian Foundations and the Downturn. Brisbane, QLD: Queensland University of Technology.
- Lee, G. S. 2013. Mitigating the Effects of an Economic Downturn on Charitable Contributions: Facing the Problem and Contemplating Solutions. *Cornell Journal of Law and Public Policy*, 22: 589-639.
- Lee, Y. J. & Shon, J. (2018) What affects the strategic priority of fundraising? A longitudinal study of art, culture and humanity organizations' fundraising expenses in the USA. *Voluntas*, 29: 951-961.
- Lin, W. & Wang, Q. (2016) What helped nonprofits weather the great recession? Evidence from human services and community improvement organisations. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 26: 257-276.
- Linnenluecke, M. K., Marrone, M. & Singh, A. K. (2019) Conducting systematic literature reviews and bibliometric analyses. *Australian Journal of Management*, 45: 175-194.
- List, J. A. (2011) The market for charitable giving. *Journal of Economic Perspective*, 25: 157-180.
- List, J. A. & Peysakhovich, Y. (2011) Charitable donations are more responsive to stock market booms than busts. *Economics Letters*, 110: 166-169.
- Madden, M., Walton, R. & Roche, M. (2020) Going Viral COVID-19: How have charities responded to the first phase of the crisis? London, UK: NFP Synergy.
- Martín-Martín, A., Orduna-Malea, E., Thelwall, M. & López-Cózara, E. D. (2018) Google scholar, Web of Science, and Scopus: a systematic comparison of citations in 252 subject categories. *Journal of Informetrics*, 12: 1160-1177.

- Martin, M. (2010) Managing philanthropy after the downturn: What is ahead for social investment? *Viewpoint*, 1: 10-21.
- Marx, J. D. & Carter, V. B. (2014) Factors influencing US charitable giving during the great recession: Implications for nonprofit administration. *Administrative Sciences*, 4: 350-372.
- McCambridge, R. (2012) Giving USA 2012 indicates long, slow, uphill slog...If we are lucky. *Nonprofit Quarterly*. Available at: https://nonprofitquarterly.org/giving-usa-2012indicates-long-slow-uphill-slogif-we-are-lucky/ [Accessed 27 July 2020].
- McCambridge, R. (2013) Giving USA 2013: Giving coming back slowly and different after recession. *Nonprofit Quarterly*. Available at: https://nonprofitquarterly.org/giving-usa-2013-giving-coming-back-slowly-and-different-after-recession/ [Accessed 27 July 2020].
- McCambridge, R. & Dietz, N. (2020) Nonprofits in recession: Winners and losers. *Nonprofit Quarterly*. Available at: https://nonprofitquarterly.org/the-great-recession-nonprofit-winners-and-losers/ [Accessed 27 July 2020].
- McCambridge, R. & Heliczer, C. (2020) 'Four Futures' of the great recession revisited: Nonprofits' hopes, fears, and what really happened. *Nonprofit Quarterly*. Available at: https://nonprofitquarterly.org/four-futures-revisited/ [Accessed 27 July 2020].
- McGregor-Lowndes, M., Crittall, M., Conroy, D. & Keast, R. (2017) *Individual Giving and Volunteering: Giving Australia 2016.* Brisbane, QLD: Queensland University of Technology
- McGregor-Lowndes, M. & Pelling, E. (2011) An Examination of Tax Deductible Donations Made By Individual Australian Taxpayers in 2008-09. Working Paper No. CPNS 54.
  Brisbane, QLD: The Australian Centre for Philanthropy and Nonprofit Studies. Available at: https://eprints.qut.edu.au/43323/1/Working\_Paper\_54\_v6\_Draft.pdf [Accessed 27 July 2020].
- McLeod, J. (2017) *The New Zealand Cause Report: Shape of the charity sector*. Sydney, NSW: JB Were.
- McLeod, J. (2020) Where to From Here? The outlook for philanthropy during COVID-19. Sydney, NSW: JBWere.
- Meer, J., Miller, D. & Wulfsberg, E. (2017) The Great Recession and charitable giving. *Applied Economics Letters*, 24: 1542-1549.
- Morreale, J. C. (2011) *The Impact of the "Great Recession" on the Financial Resources of Nonprofit Organizations*. Digitalcommons: Wilson Center for Social Entrepreneurship.
- Morris, S. A. & Van Der Veer Martens, B. (2008) Mapping research specialties. *Annual Review* of Information Science and Technology, 42: 213-295.
- Murphy, C. (2020a) Results for the latest wave of our public research on the pandemic and its impact on charities. *NFP Synergy*. Available at: https://nfpsynergy.net/blog/covid-19-coronavirus-charity-sector-survey-2 [Accessed 27 July 2020].
- Murphy, C. (2020b) Results from the third wave of our public research on charities and the coronavirus. *NFP Synergy*. Available at: https://nfpsynergy.net/blog/covid-19coronavirus-charity-sector-survey-3 [Accessed 27 July 2020].
- NCVO & CAF (2008) *UK Giving 2008: An overview of charitable giving in the UK in 2007/08.* London, UK: National Council for Voluntary Organisations and Charities Aid Foundation.
- NCVO & CAF (2009) *UK Giving 2009: An overview of charitable giving in the UK in 2008/09.* London, UK: National Council for Voluntary Organisations and Charities Aid Foundation.
- NCVO & CAF (2010) *UK Giving 2010: An overview of charitable giving in the UK in 2009/10.* London, UK: National Council for Voluntary Organisations and Charities Aid Foundation.
- NCVO & CAF (2011) *UK Giving 2011: An overview of charitable giving in the UK, 2010/11.* London, UK: National Council for Voluntary Organisations and Charities Aid Foundation.
- NFP Synergy (2008) Fluctuations in GDP hit charities' average voluntary income: After 10 month lag. London: NFP Synergy. Available at: https://nfpsynergy.net/fluctuationsgdp-hit-charities%E2%80%99-average-voluntary-income-after-10-month-lag [Accessed 27 July 2020].
- Osili, U. (2010) The 2010 Study of High Net Worth Philanthropy: Issues Driving Charitable Activities Among Wealthy Households. Bank of America Study of High Net Worth Philanthropy Research Series. Indianapolis, IN: Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy.
- Osili, U. O., Ackerman, J. & Li, Y. (2019a) Economic effects on million dollar giving. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 48: 417-439.
- Osili, U. O., Clark, C. J. & Han, X. (2019b) Heterogeneity and giving: Evidence from US households before and after the Great Recession of 2008. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 63: 1841-1862.
- Pharoah, C. (2009) Recession Challenges. London, UK: Centre for Charity Effectiveness
- Pratt, J. & Aanestad, K. (2020) Deconstructing the (not-so-great) nonprofit recession. *Nonprofit Quarterly*. Available at: https://nonprofitquarterly.org/deconstructing-thenot-so-great-nonprofit-recession/ [Accessed 27 July 2020].
- Reich, R. & Wimer, C. (2012) *Charitable Giving and the Great Recession. A Great Recession Brief October 2012.* Stanford, CA: Stanford Center on Poverty and Inequality.
- Reich, R., Wimer, C., Mohamed, S. & Jambulapati, S. (2011) Has the Great Recession Made Americans Stingier? In D. B. Grusky, B. Western & C. Wimer (eds.), *The Great Recession*. New York, NY: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Rooney, P. M. & Bergdoll, J. (2020) What happens to charitable giving when the economy falters? *The Conversation*. Available at: https://theconversation.com/what-happens-to-charitable-giving-when-the-economy-falters-133903 [Accessed 20 July 2020].
- Rooney, P. M., Osili, U. & Frederick, H. K. (2009) The 2008 Study Of High Net Worth Philanthropy: Issues driving charitable activities among wealthy households. Indianapolis, IN: Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy.
- Salamon, L. M., Geller, S. L. & Spence, K. L. (2009) Impact of the 2007-09 economic recession on nonprofit organizations. *Listenin Post Project Communiqué No. 14*. Baltimore, MD: Center for Civil Society Studies, Johns Hopkins University.

- Scaife, W., Williamson, A. & McDonald, K. (2013) Who's Asking for What? Fundraising and leadership in Australian nonprofits. Brisbane, QLD: Queensland University of Technology.
- Shaefer, H. L. & Boudreaux, T. (2012) Private charitable giving during economic recessions. *Families in Society-the Journal of Contemporary Social Services*, 93: 5-10.
- Sheehan, R. M. (2012) Does the economy matter? The complexity of economic cycles and nonprofit revenues. In R. M. Sheehan, S. U. Raymond, J. I. Walker & R. M. Sheehan Jr (eds.), *Nonprofit Leadership Tools for Uncertain Times*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Shepherd, J. (2010) Donations to universities down in recession. *Guardian*. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/education/2010/may/26/donations-to-universities-fall [Accessed 27 July 2020].
- Slack, A. & Leung-Wai, J. (2007) *Giving New Zealand: Philanthropic funding 2006*. Wellington, NZ: Philanthropy New Zealand.
- Slack, A. & Molano, W. (2012) *Giving New Zealand Philanthropic funding 2011*. Wellington, NZ: Philanthropy New Zealand.
- Taylor-Gooby, P. (1994) Charities in Recession: Hard times for the weakest. In S. Saxon-Harrold & J. Kendall (eds.), *Researching the Voluntary Sector*. 2nd ed. London, UK: Charities Aid Foundation.
- Taylor, R., Parry, J. & Alcock, P. (2012) From Crisis To Mixed Picture to Phoney War: Tracing third sector discourse in the 2008/9 recession. Birmingham, UK: Third Sector Research Centre, University of Birmingham.
- Tennant, M., Sanders, J., O'brien, M. & Castle, C. (2006) Defining the Nonprofit Sector: New Zealand. In L. M. Salamon (ed.), Working Papers of the John Hopkins Comparative Nonprofit Sector Project. Baltimore: John Hopkins University.
- Van Fleet, J. W. (2010) Corporate giving to education during economic downturns: General trends and the difficulty of prediction. *International Journal of Educational Advancement*, 9: 234-250.
- Warwick, M. (2009) Fundraising When Money is Tight: A strategic and practical guide to surviving tough times and thriving in the future. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Webb Farley, K. E. (2018) Shifting notions of philanthropy: Themes in scholarship and practice. *Political Science & Politics*, 51: 48-53.
- Wilding, K. (2008) *Economic downturns and the voluntary and community sector: A short review of the evidence.* London, UK: National Council for Voluntary Organisations.
- Wilding, K. (2010) Voluntary organisations and the recession. *Voluntary Sector review*, 1: 97-101.
- Wilson, C. (2020) Navigating Non-profit Organisations Through the COVID-19 Crisis. Sydney: Koda Capital.
- Worth, M. J. (2014) Nonprofit Management: Principles and practice. Washington, DC, Sage.
- Xfactor Collective (2020) 50% Loss of Revenue Across Social Purpose Organisations Informs Stage One of Free Live Program. Elwood, VIC: The Xfactor Collective and Equity Trustees. Available at: https://xfactorcollective.com/news/92-news/mediarelease/1288-50-percent-loss-of-revenue-across-social-purpose-organisationsinforms-stage-one-of-free-live-program [Accessed 27 July 2020].

#### **ABOUT THE AUTHORS**

JOHN GODFREY earned his PhD from Swinburne University of Technology through an exploration of elite philanthropy in India, and his MSc from Edinburgh Napier University for research of business arts partnerships. John has had three-decade-long career as a fundraiser. He is the current Chair of the Fundraising Institute of New Zealand (FINZ). Email: john@johngodfreyassoc.com

ALEXANDRA WILLIAMSON is a Postdoctoral Research Fellow at the Australian Centre for Philanthropy and Nonprofit Studies (ACPNS) in the QUT Business School at Queensland University of Technology. She holds a PhD and a Master of Business (Research) from QUT examining the accountability of philanthropic foundations, and a Master of Business (Philanthropy and Social Investment) from Swinburne University of Technology. Her research is focused on philanthropic foundations, accountability and place-based giving. Prior to commencing in academia in 2011, she had 14 years involvement in philanthropic foundations and grant making, in roles which involved researching and implementing grant making strategies. Email: a3.williamson@qut.edu.au.

# Social enterprise and financial sustainability in South Asia: A grounded theory

Mahesan Kandaiya, Partners in Micro-development Incorporated

#### Abstract

This paper presents a theoretically grounded strategy for the financial sustainability of smallto-medium nonprofit organisations (NPOs) engaged in social enterprise (SE) strategies. The theory is based on research conducted in the South Asia region: specifically India, Bangladesh and Sri Lanka. Despite the significant growth in the NPO sector in this region, the literature does not adequately deal with the emergence of SE. Using an adaptation of Strauss and Corbin's (1998) pragmatic approach to grounded theory method (GTM), the aim of this research is to contribute to the formulation of practical solutions to achieving financial sustainability across the spectrum of the target organisations, with due consideration of their region and country specific social, cultural, economic, and institutional contexts and drivers. This is achieved through development of a performance-based management action framework to achieve financial sustainability for small-to-medium NPOs pursuing SE strategies.

#### Keywords

Social enterprise; grounded theory method; South Asia; financial sustainability

#### Introduction

The issue of sustainability continues to be one of the most critical challenges confronting nonprofit organisations (NPOs). Burkett (2016) considers sustainability as longevity of the organisation along two dimensions: financial sustainability and the impact of the social purpose. Financial sustainability in turn is influenced by a range of endogenous capability and management related factors (Salvado 2011) and exogenous factors affecting access to traditional sources of funding (Gassman et al. 2012; Huggett 2009; Lamers 2005; Landsberg

2004) while competition for funding requires a strategic management approach (Francois 2015; Greatbanks & Manville 2013). The objective of this research paper is to develop a theoretically grounded approach to financial sustainability of small-to-medium NPOs deploying social enterprise (SE) strategies in India, Bangladesh and Sri Lanka, countries where there is a recognised literature gap in relation to SE and social entrepreneurship (Hasan 2015; Krishna & Krishna 2010; Ravichandran 2008; Sidel 2001).

While significant case study research on SEs in India has been undertaken<sup>2</sup>, there is little substantial theoretical and empirical work on the topic of SE itself or indeed on the NPO sector in general (Fisac & Moreno-Romero 2015; Doherty, Haugh & Lyon 2014; Kerlin 2009). The origins of the NPO and SE sectors, and the models that are emerging, also vary by region and country due to differences in the macro-institutional context (Kerlin 2013). This further raises the question as to whether models from other regions and contexts are transferable to South Asia.

SE is a multi-disciplinary and multi-faceted phenomena (Sassmannshausen & Volkmann 2013) with a variety of definitional constructs (Battilana & Lee 2014; Borzaga, Depedri & Galera 2012, Grassl 2012) and typologies (Kaplan 2013; Mair, Battilana & Cardenas 2012; Defourny & Nyssens 2010; Brouard, Hebb & Madill 2008; Alter 2007). For the purpose of this research and selection of the sample organisations, the following broad working definitions have been adopted: a *social enterprise* is an organisation 'seeking business solutions to social problems' (Thompson & Doherty 2006); *social entrepreneurship* is a strategy, process, and capability to exploit an opportunity for innovation for social purposes (Luke & Chu 2013); *financial sustainability* is the ability of an SE organisation consistent with its system of values (Alter 2003).

While these definitions encompass a broad spectrum of organisations, this research is focused specifically on small-to-medium SEs that belong to the social value creation group in Alter's (2007) typology as illustrated in

Figure 1 below. A shared vision and associated trust components are part of the norms that enable co-creation by all stakeholders of social value for such organisations (Lester 2013; Tsai & Ghoshal 1998).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See for example Best & Kumar (2008) and Kumar (2004).



Figure 1 – Sustainability equilibrium (Alter 2007)

The overarching question is how can small to medium-sized NPOs in the South Asian context achieve financial sustainability through SE business and organisational models? This question is answered by developing a grounded theory of financial sustainability drawing on interviews with 11 organisations from across the three countries. The paper proceeds by firstly elaborating the rationale for focusing on South Asia; secondly identifying through the literature a set of a priori themes to guide data collection and initial analysis without constraining the emergence of new themes in the process; thirdly introducing the research methodology based on grounded theory method (GTM); fourthly a discussion of the findings in terms of the main concepts and a detailed discussion of the core concept – *performance*; and lastly the presentation of a grounded theory of financial sustainability anchored in the core concept.

#### Geographic rationale

The literature gap relating to NPOs in developing countries relates to variations in political, social, economic and legal systems governing SE (United Nations Statistics Division 2017) which are reflected in concepts, models and practices of SE and social entrepreneurship. In the South Asian context, SE has emerged from the traditional nonprofit sector and business models and practices have largely been adapted from the commercial sector.

Kerlin acknowledges these variations and has developed a conceptual framework to explain regional and national differences (Kerlin 2010, 2013) encompassing culture, history, type of government, stage of economic development, model of civil society and their interrelationships together with the internationals influences on each of these factors. MonroeWhite, Kerlin and Zook (2015) have added strength of civil society and governance, collectivist values and levels of international aid to this framework. Kerlin's conceptual framework is validated by empirical data from five countries (the USA, Sweden, Italy, Argentina and Zimbabwe) with an acknowledgement of the need for further research to include Asian and Middle Eastern countries, and others, in order to validate the groupings already identified or add new groups - such as for South and South-East Asia – with potentially new models of SE.

There is also a need to extend the macro view by applying country-specific micro-level factors, thus 'offering a clearer overview of different influences that 'shape' social enterprises' (Mason & Barraket 2015). This is particularly relevant in the South Asian countries, where the differences in economic, political and historical environments are more pronounced, compounded by recent wars and conflicts, and devastating natural disasters. In the context of these countries and other developing countries, the impact of centuries of colonialism (Ziltener & Künzler 2013) also needs to be considered as a distinct international influence in comparative studies.

In Bangladesh for example, NGOs have played a significant role in the country's development since 1971, having established a foothold in the recovery from the War of Independence. They are important in meeting the needs of the people as there is limited state capacity. In different political contexts, the state has regulated the sector more or less strictly depending on its perceived need to limit external institutional influence (Fernando 2011). This role has led the sector to diversify from nonprofit to commercially oriented enterprises, seeing the rise of large local SEs such as the Grameen Bank and BRAC, the largest international development organisation in the world. While the NGO sector is regulated, there are no policies or legal frameworks relating specifically to SEs, other than specific cases such as microfinance and social impact investment (British Council 2016a).

A multi-ethnic country,<sup>3</sup> Sri Lanka's development is still determined by the 1983-2009 ethnic conflict and the post-war recovery policies of the government and international donors. The NPO sector has a tradition dating back to the early nineteenth century of being anchored in an ethno-religious construct, originally Christian and then later Buddhist, Hindu and Muslim. The sector has evolved from community-based social service organisations to include cooperatives for rural development, human rights from the 1970s onwards, humanitarian relief, poverty alleviation, advocacy and grass roots development (Asian Development Bank 2013). The NPO

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The three ethnic groups are: Sinhalese (predominantly Buddhist) – approximately 70%, Tamil (predominantly Hindu) – approximately 13%, and Muslim (ethnically Tamil) – 8% (Department of Census and Statistics 2012).

sector's involvement in civil society activism, especially during the war, has been the main source of tension with the government, resulting in a tight, financially oriented regulatory model operating in the country since 1980. Civil society organisations and NPOs rely predominantly on overseas funding and donors. There is very little research and data on SE in Sri Lanka. Social and cultural norms (Weeratunge & de Silva 2007), as well as state–civil society relationships as discussed above, are a constraining factor on growth. The SE sector operates at the micro end of the size scale.<sup>4</sup>

India contrasts with both Bangladesh and Sri Lanka in several ways. The federal structure of the state has created a very complex and varied political, regulatory, economic, social and cultural landscape, with uneven development. The NPO sector in India, dating to the early medieval period (Asian Development Bank 2009), derives from the values of service and giving. At independence, the NPO sector took on a significant role in helping to meet the demands placed on government but, unlike Bangladesh and Sri Lanka, this relationship was explicitly framed in policy as complementary to the state. Indeed, the state established institutions to facilitate the sector, including decentralisation to a village level. The sector has also become an active participant with the state in the development planning process (Nair 2011). Registration is voluntary but does attract certain benefits in relation to tax and access to foreign and government funding. The British Council (2016b) has identified 39 SE-related policies, including the National Skill and Entrepreneurship Policy of 2015. The majority of these policies have emanated from the Ministry of Micro Small and Medium Enterprises. The sector is also well developed in terms of donor funding and private investment. There is as yet no SE–specific regulatory framework.

Chilufya and Kerlin (2017) point out that the micro-institutional processes in the local context of SEs are as important as the macro view due to human agency. This research is concerned first and foremost with this interaction between the social entrepreneur and the environment in which they operate and the challenges they face as they navigate a path to financial sustainability. The following section draws on the literature to identify where these challenges might lie.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> One notable exception is the largest NGO with an SE arm in technology (Fusion 2017), the Sarvodaya Shramadana Movement (SSM) (2017) established in the 1950s on Buddhist principles.

#### Research themes – A conceptual framework

Kerlin (2013, 2017), Weerawardena and Mort (2006), and Seel (2006) inform the research design by providing a set of a priori themes for data collection and analysis. This is consistent with the pragmatic variant of GTM (Strauss 1987; Corbin & Strauss 1990; Strauss & Corbin 1998)<sup>5</sup> which allows the researcher to engage with the literature both pre and post data collection and analysis, to establish a conceptual framework as a starting point without predetermining in any way the emergence of the theory (Charmaz 2006; Bryant & Charmaz 2007; McGhee, Marland & Atkinson 2007; Dunne 2011).

Social entrepreneurship brings a process dimension (Dacin et al. 2011) to social value creation which Weerawardena and Mort (2006) encapsulate in their social entrepreneurship model. Their grounded theory study of social entrepreneurship in Australian NPOs found that social entrepreneurship exhibits three core attributes: innovativeness, proactiveness and risk management. However, these attributes are constrained by the need to fulfil the social mission and ensure the sustainability of the organisation within the environmental dynamics in which it operates (Weerawardena & Mort 2006).

Seel's grounded theory study on sustainability of the NPO sector in Canada, identified seven concepts relating to sustainability: risk and risk management, attaining the attributes of a learning organisation, sustainability largely through innovation, credibility, relationships, organisational uniqueness and ethics. These are integrated into a central category of boundary spanning, that is, the capability to reach out beyond the boundaries of the organisation for the purpose of exchange and co-operative pursuit of a social outcome.

The five a priori themes derived from these three scholarly contributions are integrated into a conceptual framework in

Figure **2** below. They are as follows:

1. *Context and environment for markets and risk*: factors that put at risk the financial sustainability of an organisation (e.g. government policy, regulation, resource constraints, competition).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The two dominant variations of GTM are: the Glaserian or purist method (Glaser & Strauss, 1967) and the Straussian or pragmatic method (Corbin & Strauss, 1990; Strauss & Corbin, 1998; Strauss, 1987). The former argues that the generation of theory must proceed exclusively from the analysis of data, while the latter advocates a preliminary review of the relevant literature.

- 2. *Scope of social entrepreneurship*: in terms of business strategy, business model and organisational structure, and how together they ensure financial sustainability and mitigate risk.
- 3. *Opportunity recognition, innovation and exploitation*: the links between and contributions of these capabilities to maintaining and enhancing financial sustainability (successes/failures, lessons learnt).
- 4. *Role of technology in creating social value*: technology exploitation for financial sustainability, networking and collaboration, cost control, and developing an e-business model.
- 5. *Performance and effectiveness in diffusion of social innovation in social venture formation*: goal-setting, critical success factors, performance measurement criteria, impact measurement and impact of governance.

Interviews conducted with research participants were structured according to the above themes which were then used as a set of a priori codes in the data analysis, without constraining the emergence of new themes. The GTM analytical process also identifies relationships between core categories of themes and any critical dimensions that may be identified by the research participants.



Figure 2 – Conceptual framework

As will be seen later, the thematic categories that ultimately emerged from the analysis differ from these initial themes and lead to a new conceptual framework. The following section describes the research methodology from design through to analysis and development of theory.

#### **Research methodology**

The sampling process began with an initial list of 30 organisations, identified through a broad scan of the publicly available data, and based on number of employees, financials (income, assets and expenditure), location, years of operation, sector, mission, legal structure, demography and socio-economic profile. This list was filtered down to 11 based on information to support purposive sampling provided by on-ground contacts and considerations of time and budget. Purposive sampling was done using an initial survey questionnaire to gather background information on each organisation and confirmed in a preliminary face-to-face meeting.

The sampling criteria ensured that the sample covered a spectrum of SEs based on size as shown in Table 1.

Size (investment <sup>6</sup> employees <sup>7</sup> )	based and	Number
Medium		4
Small-medium		2
Small		2
Micro-small		0
Micro		3
TOTAL		11

Table 1 – Sample distribution based on size

The selected organisations were also categorised according to stage-of-development using Burkett's (2010 life cycle phases of SE development as shown in

Table **2**.<sup>8</sup> The initial classifications were subsequently revised based on interviews as shown.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Indian Ministry for Micro, Small and Medium Sized Enterprises classification based on investment (2009 as cited in GIZ 2012, p.16). Investment data was not available, so revenue or turnover was used as a proxy given that nonprofits by definition reinvest surpluses into the organisation's mission.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Classification based on employee numbers drawn from the United Nations Industrial Development Organization (UNIDO 2004, p.20)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> These life cycle phases mirror those identified in the micro, small, and medium SE (MSMSE) sector in India (GIZ 2012, p.17).

	Pre: traditiona l nonprofit model	Startup phase of SE: beyond grant cultures	Development phase of SE: towards viability	Growth phase of SE: building strength and impact	Maturity phase of SE: towards sustainability
Initial sampling classification	2		4	4	1
Post interview re- classification		5	6		

Table 2 Phase of development (Burkett 2010: 13)

The sampling did not aim for an even distribution by country as the focus of the research was regional rather than country-specific and not intended to be comparative. The distribution by country together with the nature of the enterprises is summarised in Table 3. Table 3 Country distribution and type of enterprise

Country	Sample size	Type of enterprise
Bangladesh	1	Fair trade supporting small scale handicraft producers
India	9	<ul> <li>Artisan crafts co-operative (pottery)</li> <li>Women's empowerment</li> <li>Funding education through small business development</li> <li>Sustainable forestry and agriculture</li> <li>Farmer co-operative venture</li> <li>Supporting university students through a profit generating</li> <li>graduate finishing school</li> <li>Indigenous health network</li> </ul>

Country	Sample	Type of enterprise	
	size		
		Facilitating small farmer access to markets Remote area primary and secondary health care trust	
Sri Lanka	1	Drug rehabilitation	

The basic unit of analysis in the research is the a priori themes. The participants, and the organisations they represent, are the informants of the themes under investigation (Gasson 2004; Gläser & Laudel 2013). An extended interview of approximately 1.5 - 2 hours duration was conducted in the field with each organisation's founder or a C-level executive who had extensive knowledge across all strategic and operational details of their organisations over a number of years and were key drivers of the sustainability.

The interviews were transcribed and then analysed using NVivo software. The first step in GTM analysis is coding. Open coding involves coding and comparison of a single interview for developing categories. Axial coding is a process of comparison between interviews and then relating categories to subcategories. Finally, *selective coding* identifies a core category. The core category or concept is central, that is all other categories can be related to it and as such it ultimately anchors the theory.

In GTM, sample size and characteristics are important in ensuring that the data is sufficient to adequately test the completeness of the theory as it emerges through the analytical process. This is referred to as 'theoretical saturation'. However, this is not necessarily a function of the number of interviews (Kandaiya 2018). In this research, the interview process itself was designed to satisfy the demands of theoretical saturation within the practical constraints of a PhD project. This was done by firstly allowing for reflexivity between interviews in the field, and secondly by commencing analysis after the initial six interviews and using the remaining five to elaborate themes and test for theoretical saturation.

GTM analysis is thus an iterative process. There is overlap between stages as categories emerge (open-axial) and then the core category emerges (axial-selective). This parallel operation ultimately delimits the previous coding step. However, the following section presents the end results of coding steps in a way which implies a sequential process however this is done purely for ease of discussion and presentation.

#### Findings

The substantive findings from the application of open and axial coding are a stable set of categories and sub-categories. In this research the original a priori thematic codes used in the open coding step have not survived as categories in the axial coding. A new set of categories has emerged as discussed below.

Selective coding, identifies the core concept or category and maps out the relationships between that core category and other categories resulting in reconfiguration. The core category is the central unifying concept or variable in the participant responses to the challenge of financial sustainability.

#### Results of open and axial coding - Categories and subcategories

The most salient of the thematic categories in the interview data was external *factors*, followed by *performance*, *organisational characteristics*, *business process*, and lastly *technology*. However, ultimately, *performance* was identified as the core category. This is discussed in the next sub-section following a summary of the other categories.

#### **External factors**

In this category participants highlight a mix of macro and micro issues. At a macro level Government regulation, economic conditions, political climate for NPOs, and understanding of markets and product positioning are encountered as a series of hurdles to be overcome. At a micro level, within their domain of operation or engagement the issues are organisational; for example, continuity of core capabilities when key people leave, and also the complexity of pursuing a mission which may interfere with existing family and community structures and traditions, such as women's empowerment.

#### Organisational characteristics

The internal organisational aspects of sustainability are articulated as the tension between mission and delivering outcomes for the target beneficiaries on the one hand and on the other hand making the changes necessary to manage and sustain growth and longevity. These changes include more formalised processes, building human capital in the organisation, and adopting a more commercial orientation in part to meet donor expectations. Participants stress that the enterprise exists and grows for the sake of its target beneficiaries, not for its own sake as an enterprise.

#### **Business processes**

Moving beyond the perceived barrier of more formality in internal processes, participants see the opportunity and necessity of continuous improvement and finding better ways to do things as well as appreciating the benefit of having good, up to date information on costs and income. However, there is less emphasis in the responses on budgeting and forecasting. The perspective on governance tends to focus on inclusion and participation, while Boards are viewed as necessary but not always close enough to the mission and day-to-day operations to add value.

#### Technology

Technology is seen as a positive contributor to efficiency, service delivery, and even public image. However, it was primarily seen as a useful administrative tool, especially for financial management.

#### Results of selective coding – Core category

*Performance* emerged from the selective coding process as the core category because it meets Strauss and Corbin's (1998) criteria, specifically: its centrality in relation to the issue of financial sustainability in terms of causality, its salience in the data, its ability to logically integrate the other categories, its substantive underpinning of the theory as shown in the next section, and because it holds regardless of variations across organisations in relation to strategy, tactics and progress towards financial sustainability.

Analysis of the data relating to the different aspects of *performance* and the researcher's impressions during the interviews show that organisational characteristics such as size, budget and current operational environment of the organisation are significant for participants. However, there was a consensus view that, regardless of these differences, performance is multi-dimensional and dynamic.

Irrespective of the sources of the funds, the performance of the enterprise is often driven by the donor's perception of how the funds should be used and how performance should be demonstrated. Nor does donor influence always effect change in the environment requiring change in the organisation's response:

You know, the social issues are very dynamic or new. So they go on changing, either they grow or disappear ... [new] forms of challenges come up.

Another participant was confident that the performance of the organisation on multiple performance metrics has ensured continued financial sustainability, noting though that the dynamics of the environment in which they operated impacted on performance and needed continuous realignment in order to be financially sustainable and respond to the risks to sustainability:

I count at about twenty, twenty-five years this organisation has been running before my coming. ... Wherever I saw that this is a losing part of the business I had to ... then do some analysis and then guide my people that way. ..., I was able to make it profitable.

This interviewee ascribed the continued achievement of financial sustainability to the management training and oversight of its parent organisation (a global US-based NPO), his own leadership and a talented team. He also comments on the effects that performance measurement can have on individuals and that measurement on its own is no guarantee that a target will be achieved, especially as processes become more formalised / less informal:

Again, in most cases that I know... a few months before is very informal. Now we actually have a formal CEO who managed to put in the processes and put a structure. Again, both a result of the donor agency request and our own realisation that you cannot scale up the informal process. ... Once you start measuring and people know you are being measured, there is always a tendency to [0:52:08.8] the system. So there is no guarantee that just because someone is measuring numbers, it actually has made a difference. There is consensus that, in a financially constrained economic environment, the execution of the strategy must meet the increasing demands for accountability from multiple stakeholders. However, the barriers to impact measurement as voiced by the participants include: staff's skills and turnover; complexity of impact measurement and evaluation; in particular early planning and setup rather than last minute scrambling for data; time constraints and work commitments; and an organisational culture that is geared more to action than evaluation (Barraket & Yousefpour 2013).

The founders and senior executives of two small healthcare service organisations share a passion to scale up their current services and build the capacity of their organisations. For this they need capital. Both shared the view that the performance of their organisations strengthens their legitimacy and in doing so assists in strategic marketing to raise growth capital from multiple sources, be they philanthropic donors, CSR programs, government grants or social finance. The first step is to establish consistent performance over time, which has benefits in terms of staff retention and external legitimacy:

In most of the organisations of this order, what happens is the people who manage this kind of an organisation tend to dilute the focus of the organisation ... To run it for a short period, anybody can go, 'Five years, six years we run it'. I could have very well said, 'I've done my bit. I'm walking out'. No. ... And today, because of a consistency of performance, the doctors who were our [0:10:24.5] they feel confident about our performance ... 'Here is something that you're assured' [0:10:41.5] the consistency of performance.

Focus on the core mission must also be maintained and be 'congruent' (Huybrechts & Nicholls 2013: 133) with performance:

Like in the hospital today ... the people who are funding you, should first and foremost have trust in you ... That if they give you even ten rupees, they know this guy will spend it for the focus on which it's been given to them ... First and foremost, you've got to have a conviction about what you are doing. That's the most important thing.... But as much as that, you have to see that you perform. Your focus should be on performance.

In the case of the Ayurvedic hospital SE, performance and leveraging performance are a critical element of its financial sustainability strategy. Its point of differentiation is in relation to patient outcomes – and the actions to achieve these – as a key performance metric.

No, for the growth part we need to raise capital, but for the existing things, they're selfsustaining ... For example, from almost inception we take the patient's feedback of medical outcomes ... you use the power of IT to look and monitor health, tracking and, you know, recording all the [patient treatment] life cycle ... But right now, from a tactical angle we are looking at viability.

'Viability' is viewed as depending on scale while maintaining focus on the core mission and values of Ayurvedic Medicine. If it succeeds in doing both, it will achieve both patient and enterprise performance goals and enhance legitimacy:

Our measurement of impact, I think at this point, has to be primarily in terms of number of patients served and cumulative as well. And the other thing is clearly in terms of the nature of medical care that we're doing, and you know, the values based on which you set up.

Another participant offering advice to its clients – a women's self-help organisation - expressed confidence that the organisation is meeting its performance goals based on two metrics. The first is the social success of the organisation. As the women earn income from the revenue generated from the sales of the products produced by their activities, the social mission of the organisation is achieved:

Basically because the money that's, a couple of women are the primary wage earners, because their husbands are day workers, day labourers and what have you. .... If they didn't do this, Tony, what would they do? They would have to go for day labour, or be one of these women that carries head-loads of wood, which some of my girls have done. We're talking about the head-load and the other extreme.

The second set of metrics relating to performance is the use of technology to track and monitor the costs, profits and incomes of the production and sales cycles. The key members of the group have been trained to use desktop-based spreadsheets to monitor the financial data as a measure of success.

The artisan pottery SE participant expressed confidence that the organisation is meeting its performance goals again based on two metrics. The first is the *social success* of the financial support to the schoolchildren's education program (their ultimate target). The second is continuous upgrading of the potters' *skills* to meet market demands, thus covering both financial and organisational sustainability. They have a minimal reliance on donations and are confident that the income generated from the sales of pottery products will be sustained. This

is predicated on the skills of the master potter, and the accounting and planning skills of a trustee.

Impact measurement resonates for participants in a different way, as it is seen as relating more to the community than to donors and reflects both short-, medium- and long-term goals and perspectives:

Well, impact is a long-term gain. Right. So, if you do a one-year program, two-year program and if you still want the impact to be then, it is still in a stage you can't expect impact to happen so early, right. So, we call them, you know, we transfer them into three categories: output, outcomes and impact. ... Outcomes is what has changed in the life of your customers. Impact is long term; impact is when the whole community or the whole society ... It will come not just because of us, it will because it is the effort of everybody, how everybody is contributing towards the goal.

Similarly, performance goals themselves are understood in terms of social capital creation, although the connection with the concept of social value creation in an accounting or measurement sense is not made:

One metric which has nothing to do with accounting is, as we said before, the social success of that organisation...I mean, one of the important metrics is to also assess how their academic performance has been. ... For us that's also success criteria, if you wish.

In summary, the struggle for many organisations is to make the bridge between performance understood as the achievement of goals and outcomes, and the accountability aspect that comes from hard measurement:

But what happens is that you cannot identify indicators of that sort because it fluctuates so much, right? And like I told you, like now we have very limited staff. and: So the social enterprise has limited time resources. So one point of view is to say, hey, you know what, the farmer to whom I'm trying to provide service is a better judge of whether I have added value to them or not.

## Core category 'performance' as foundation for theory – A new conceptual framework

In selective coding, the other categories and their subcategories are selected and reconfigured according to their relationship to the core category to form a new integrated conceptual model

or framework as shown in Figure 3. This further validates the choice of core category to the extent that the reconfigured categories can be related to it 'meaningfully and easily' (Holton 2007: 280).

In relation to the NPO sector, the term 'performance' is used variously to mean social impact measurement, accountability measures, outcome measurement and effectiveness evaluation (Morrison 2016; Ebrahim 2010; Moxham 2010; Nicholls 2009; Bell-Rose 2004; Cutt & Murray 2000). Regardless, a recurrent theme is that contextual factors are integral in designing a NPO performance framework (Morrison 2016; Ebrahim & Rangan 2010; Moxham & Boaden 2007). In the new conceptual framework, the other categories from axial coding relate to performance as contextual drivers of performance. The participants' responses can be reclassified as relating to the external, internal organisation, and community related social context.

The theory itself, as explained in the next section, provides an answer to the research question by explaining to managers the causal link between performance in a given context (external, operational, and social) and financial sustainability. As will be seen, this causal link is management itself, specifically their awareness of contextual drivers and their capability to formulate a response.



Figure 3 Core category and relationship to other categories

## From concepts to theory – Grounded theory of financial sustainability

In management research, causality is established through human cognition. That is, 'the mental action or process of acquiring knowledge and understanding through thought, experience, and the senses'<sup>9</sup> which then leads to action (Partington 2000: 92). Management plays the mediating role between stimulus and response within a very particular social, economic, and macro-institutional context. This is known as the Stimulus-Organism-Response (S-O-R) model.

In the theory illustrated in Figure 4 and described below, *performance* is multi-dimensional and relies on the sub-core contextual categories, which provide stimulus and inputs leading to managerial action that bridges from context impacting on performance to strategic decision making for performance and consequently financial sustainability.

In *Phase 1*, stimuli or inputs come from the external, social and operational contexts and, if attended to, will lead to a targeted response (Santos-Alvarez et al. 2012), and if not will result in the continued dormancy of the organisation (Partington 2002). For example, participants' articulation of the impact of donor priorities on the organisation's mission, goals and performance targets emphasises that these priorities are a critical input in formulating an organisational performance strategy to ensure continued funding. Tension arises when donors provide financial resources on the assumption or condition that the recipient organisation will acquiesce to the donors' agenda and objectives, which may conflict with the organisation's mission and identity. The challenge for management in SEs in this situation is to develop a strategy based on performance that targets mission outcomes and attracts appropriate funding sources (Smith et al. 2013).

*Phase 2* is based on managerial cognition, that is 'how managers in organisations interpret both external and internal organisational environments' (Uotila 2015: 221). Managerial cognition is a critical element in formulating goals and strategy based on an analysis of the environment, evaluation of performance, strategy implementation and maintenance of strategic control (Wrona et al. 2013; Kaplan 2011; Narayanan et al. 2011; Walsh 1995). The need for managerial cognition of stimuli/inputs in developing business strategies is implied in comments by the participants. For example, in relation to stakeholder management, building organisational capability, and effective governance. However, they seem to struggle to interpret or translate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>https://www.cambridgecognition.com/blog/entry/what-is-cognition

the inputs into a cohesive strategy other than constantly balancing and re-balancing competing stimuli. The analysis has revealed the three contextual categories as an information framework and this is what the participants need to take on board rather than trying to address individual challenges one by one.



Figure 4 Theory of performance for financial sustainability

*Phase 3* involves the development of a framework for management and staff for making decisions about the actions required to achieve financial and organisational sustainability. The managerial cognition of the environmental stimuli in phase 2 underpins this process. Strategic management concentrates on the relationship between cognitive structures of understanding,

and decision processes for formulating and implementing strategy. Cognitive structures are managerial interpretations of 'environment, strategy, business portfolio, and state of the organisation' (Narayanan et al. 2011: 307). Courtney (2013: 8) uses the term *strategic management* (in lieu of strategic planning) to signify 'the whole process of innovation, strategic analysis, formulation, and implementation' and learning.

Participant comments regarding their organisation's strategy formulation process suggest that, in SMEs, the strategic direction is set by the board of directors, which includes the founders, with the executive management team having responsibility for detailed strategy formulation, implementation and reporting. This is true of both start-up phase and development phase organisations. However, it is not apparent from the interviews that the formulated strategies are an outcome of a strategic management process as suggested by Courtney (2013). In the case of the sampled micro SEs and SHGs, the approach is tactical rather than strategic and focused on day-to-day operations, cash flows and social outcomes. The principal strategy is to maintain the current operating model, without any decision-making framework for meeting future challenges. This will not be sustainable when the external contextual factors shift. In smaller organisations a lack of resources may constrain a strategic approach and in others 'transformational leadership' may even be needed to shift the thinking of small organisations away from a day-to-day operational focus and as a platform for both organisational and financial sustainability (Hu et al. 2014).

Poister (2010) observes that, to respond effectively to the current uncertain environments and progress on the growth path, organisations need to not only think strategically and manage for results but also shift from a focus on measurement to an emphasis on a process of performance management which closely links strategy and performance management. Walsh (2006) links strategy and performance as follows:

Performance = Strategy + Measurement + Change.

The next phase of the theory links the cognitive strategy formulated in the current phase to the core conceptual category – *performance*.

*Phase 4*, management action, is critical to accountability and legitimacy. There is consensus among the interviewed participants, and in the literature on nonprofit accountability that, in a financially constrained economic environment, the execution of the formulated strategy must meet the increasing demands for accountability from multiple stakeholders. The core dimension of an accountability framework (Ebrahim 2010; Ebrahim 2003; Cutt & Murray

2000) is performance (Nicholls 2009). Accountability establishes legitimacy. Huybrechts and Nicholls (2013: 133) define legitimacy as 'the congruence, in multiple stakeholder judgements, of an organisation's perceived actions with their expectations of its performance'. Performance, measures and evaluation can be leveraged by SEs to establish legitimacy with both external and internal stakeholders, and to demonstrate the achievement of the organisation's strategic goals (Luke et al. 2013; Nicholls 2010).

The barriers to impact measurement often include staff's skills and turnover (Barraket & Yousefpour 2013)<sup>10</sup>; complexity of impact measurement and evaluation; time constraints and work commitments; and an organisational culture that is geared more to action than evaluation (Barraket & Yousefpour 2013). This research can add: inflexibility of donors' expectations as contextual factors and challenges shift; the need for continuous realignment in response to these shifts; the insight that measurement on its own is no guarantee that a target will be achieved; the need for consistent performance over time which has benefits in terms of staff retention and external legitimacy; and maintaining congruence between actual performance and the core mission or internal performance and external impact.

Ebrahim and Rangan's (2010) counsel, particularly for small-to-medium SEs, is that:

it is not feasible, or even desirable, for all organisations to develop metrics at all levels on the logic chain. The more important challenge is one of alignment: building systems and structures for measurement that support the achievement of organisational mission, especially the goals that an organisation can reasonably control or influence. We contend that organisational efforts extending beyond this scope are a misallocation of scarce resources. (Ebrahim & Rangan 2010: 4)

To ensure the effective allocation of scare resources in small-to-medium SEs and NPOs, the performance framework must include a feedback process that addresses the variances between the actual and target levels of performance (Walsh 2006).

*Phase 5* establishes the actual measurement process including the feedback loop and realignment of goals, resource allocation, and target outcomes. Monitoring, measuring and reporting on both financial and nonfinancial performance metrics allow an organisation to take corrective actions to remedy the situation before scarce resources are wasted, through an organisational learning process (Argyris 1977). Ebrahim (2005) argues that organisational

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See also Flatau et al. 2015; Hu et al. 2014; Barraket & Anderson 2010; Kong 2008

learning provides the foundation for a broader perception of accountability by focusing on organisational mission.

#### Conclusion

To situate the practical application of this grounded management action theory of performance for financial sustainability derived from the experience of small-to-medium SEs in South Asia, a review of participants' perspectives on performance measurement contextualises the operating environment in which the theory can be applied. This environment is characterised by attributes such as: a lack of time and resources to focus on sustainability; pressure to comply with donor priorities; difficulty in applying rigorous financial management practices and knowing where and how funds are being utilised; and the importance of demonstrating the achievement of mission as an indicator of the proper use of funds.

These participant perspectives reveal that, in these organisations, performance is dictated by funders, boards of directors and requirements of the beneficiaries of the social capital building projects. The approach to performance is based on tactical approaches on how to sustain the organisation, and not on a strategic approach which evaluates all the contextual factors affecting performance. The effectiveness of strategy is linked to ongoing assessment of organisational performance in achieving its strategic goals and objectives and ensuring the sustainability of the organisation. This requires a shift from a focus on measurement to an emphasis on a process of performance management which closely links strategic management and performance management processes, where the strategy defines and reinforces the overall performance, which in turn informs the strategy.

Francois (2015) interprets the financial sustainability of NPOs – unlike for-profits – as being a factor of the organisation's core mission and values, rather than money. Cultures of strategic planning, performance and measurement are identified as indicators of financial sustainability while financial sustainability itself must ultimately empower the organisation to further its mission.

#### REFERENCES

- Alter, S. K. (2003) Social enterprise: A typology of the field contextualised in Latin America. Washington, DC: Inter-American Development Bank .
- Alter, S. K. (2007) *Social Enterprise Typology*. Available at: https://www.globalcube.net/clients/philippson/content/medias/download/SE\_typology.pdf.

Argyris, C. (1977) Double loop learning in organizations. Harvard Business Review, 55(5): 115-125.

- Argyris, C. & Schon, D. (1996) *Organizational Learning II: Theory, method, and practice Volume 2.* Reading MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Asian Development Bank (2009) Overview of civil society organizations: Civil society briefs, India. Available at: https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/28966/csb-ind.pdf.
- Asian Development Bank (2013) Overview of Civil Society Organizations: Civil society briefs, Sri lanka. Available at: https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/31161/csb-srilanka.pdf
- Barraket, J. & Anderson, H. (2010) Developing Strong Social Enterprises: A documentary approach. Brisbane: The Australian Centre for Philanthropy and Nonprofit Studies. Available at: https://eprints.qut.edu.au/39028/1/39028.pdf.
- Barraket, J. & Yousefpour, N. (2013) Evaluation and social impact measurement amongst small to medium social enterprises: Process, purpose and value. *Australian Journal of Public Administration*, 72(4): 447-458.
- Battilana, J. & Lee, M. (2014) Advancing research on hybrid organizing: Insights from the study of social enterprises. *The Academy of Management Annals*, 8(1): 397-441.
- Bell-Rose, S. (2004) Using Performance Metrics to Assess Impact. In S. Oster, C. Massarsky & S. Beinhacker (eds.), *Generation and Sustaining Nonprofit Earned Income: A Guide to Successful Enterprise Strategies*: 269-280. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Best, M. & Kumar, R. (2008) Sustainability failures of rural telecenters: Challenges from the sustainable access in rural India (SARI) project. *Journal of Information and International Development*, 4(4): 31-45.
- Borzaga, C., Depedri, S. & Galera, G. (2012) Interpreting social enterprises. *Revista de Administração da Universidade de São Paulo*, 47(3): 398-409.
- British Council (2016a) *The State of Social Enterprise in Bangladesh*. Available at: https://www.britishcouncil.org/sites/default/files/bc-report-ch2-bangladesh-digital\_0.pdf.
- British Council (2016b) *The State of Social Enterprise in India*. Available at: https://www.britishcouncil.org/sites/default/files/bc-report-ch4-india-digital\_0.pdf.
- Brouard, F., Hebb, T. & Madill, J. (2008) Development of a social enterprise typology in a Canadian context. *Entrepreneurship, Theory & Practice*. Available at: https://carleton.ca/3ci/wp-content/uploads/SETypologyPaper2.pdf.
- Bryant, A. & Charmaz, K. (2007) Grounded Theory Research: Methods and practices. In A. Bryant & K. Charmaz (eds.), *The Sage Handbook of Grounded Theory*: 1-28. Calfornia: SAGE Publications Inc.

- Burkett, I. (2010) *Financing Social Enterprise: Understanding needs and realities, fortitude valley.* Available at: http://www.aph.gov.au/DocumentStore.ashx?id=4e8334e0-ef4c-4fc4-bf96-4e15d1527d3a.
- Burkett, I. (2016) *Sustainable Social Enterprise: What does this really mean?* Available at: http://cdn.socialtraders.com.au/app/uploads/2016/08/Sustainable-Social-Enterprise-Ingrid-Burkett.pdf.
- Charmaz, K. (2006) *Constructing Grounded Theory: A practical guide through qualitative analysis*. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Chilufya, R. & Kerlin, J. A. (2017) Zambia Innate Resource Legacies and Social Enterprise Development: The impact of human agency and socio-spatial context in a rural setting. In J. Kerlin (ed.), *Shaping Social Enterprise: Understanding Institutional Context and Influence*: 217-252. Bingley, UK: Emerald Publishing Limited.
- Corbin, J. & Strauss, A. (1990) Grounded theory research: Procedures, canons and evaluvative criteria. *Qualitative Sociology*, 13(1): 3-21.
- Courtney, R. (2013) Strategic Management in the Third Sector. Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Cutt, J. & Murray, V. (2000) Accountability and Effectiveness Evaluation in Non-profit Organizations. Oxfordshire: Routledge.
- Dacin, M. T., Dacin, P. A. & Tracey, P. (2011) Social entrepreneurship: A critique and future direction. *Organization Science*, 22(5): 1203-1213.
- Defourny, J. & Nyssens, M. (2010) Conceptions of social enterprise and social entrepreneurship in Europe and the United States: Convergences and divergences. *Journal of Social Entrepreneurship*, 1(1): 32-53.
- Department of Census and Statistics (2012) *Census of Population and Housing 2012. Colombo.* Government of Sri Lanka. Available at: http://www.statistics.gov.lk/PopHouSat/CPH2012Visualization/htdocs/index.php?usecase=in dicator&action=Map&indId=10.
- Doherty, B., Haugh, H. & Lyon, F. (2014) Social enterprise as hybrid organizations: A review and research agenda. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 16(4): 417-436.
- Dunne, C. (2011) The place of the literature review in grounded theory research. *International Journal* of Social Research Methodology, 14(2): 111-124.
- Ebrahim, A. (2003) Accountability in practice: Mechanisms for NGOs. *World Development*, 813(829): 31.
- Ebrahim, A. (2005) Accountability myopia: Losing sight of organizational learning. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 34(1): 56-87.
- Ebrahim, A. (2010) *The Many Faces of Nonprofit Accountability*. Harvard Business School Social Enterprise Working Paper 10/069. Available at: http://www.hbs.edu/faculty/Publication%20Files/10-069.pdf.
- Ebrahim, A. & Rangan, K. V. (2010) The limits of Nonprofit Impact: A contingency framework for measuring social performance. Harvard Business School Social Enterprise Initiative Working Paper 10/099. Available at: http://www.hbs.edu/faculty/Publication%20Files/10-099.pdf.
- Fernando, J. L. (2011) *The Political Economy of NGOs: State formation in Sri Lanka and Bangladesh*. London: Pluto Press.

- Fisac, R. & Moreno-Romero, A. (2015) Understanding social enterprise country models: Spain. *Social Enterprise Journal*, 11(2): 156-177.
- Flatau, P., Zaretzky, K., Adams, S., Horton A. & Smith, J. (2015) Measuring Outcomes for Impact in the Community Sector in Western Australia. Perth: Bankwest Foundation Social Impact Series. Available at: http://www.csi.edu.au/media/uploads/BankwestSocialImpactSeries-measuringoutcomes\_aO5S3au.pdf.
- Francois, E. J. (2015) *Financial Sustainability for Nonprofit Organizations*. New York: Springer Publishing LLC.
- Fusion (2017). Available at: http://fusion.lk/social-enterprising-program/.
- Gassman, J., Dolch, N., Kinell, A., Krick, S., Schaffer, R. H., Strom, S. & Costliow, A. (2012) A Three Year Study of the Nonprofit Sector's Response to the Economic Challenges in Six Cities Across the Nation. New York: Centre for Nonprofit Strategy and Management. Available at: http://www.baruch.cuny.edu/mspia/centers-and-institutes/center-for-nonprofit-strategy-andmanagement/documents/GassmanetAl\_AThreeYearStudyoftheNonprofitSectorsResponstothe EconomicChallengesinSixCitiesAcr.pdf.
- Gasson, S. (2004) Rigor in Grounded Theory Research: An interpretive perspective on generating theory from qualitative field studies. In M. Whitman & A. Woszczynski (eds.) *The Handbook of Information Systems Research*: 79-102. London: Idea Group Publishing.
- GIZ (2012) Enablers for Change: A market landscape of the indian social enterprise ecosystem. New Delhi: Deutsche Geselllschaft fur Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ). Available at: https://www.giz.de/en/downloads/giz2012-enablers-for-change-india-en.pdf.
- Glaser, J. & Laudel, G. (2013) Life with and without coding: Two methods for early-stage data analysis in qualitative research aiming at causal explanations. *Qualitative Social Research*, 14(2).
- Glaser, B. & Strauss, A. (1967) *The Discovery of Grounded Theory: Strategies for qualitative research*. New Brunswick: Aldine Transaction.
- Grassl, W. (2012) Business models of social enterprise: A design approach to hybridity. *ACRN Journal* of Entrepreneurship Perspectives, 1(1): 37-60.
- Greatbanks, R. & Manville, G. (2013) Anecdotal performance reporting: Can it provide sufficient confidence for third sector funding bodies? In G. Manville & R. Greatbanks (eds.), *Third Sector Performance: Management and Finance in Not-for-Profit Social Enter*prises: 2192-2429: Gower Publishing Ltd.
- Hasan, S. (2015) Disseminating Asia's third sector research. Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations, 26(4): 1007-1015.
- Heskett, J. L. (2002) Developing a Strategic Service Vision. In J. G. Dees, J. Emerson & P. Economy (eds.), Strategic Tools for Social Entrepreneurs: Enhancing the Performance of Your Enterprising Nonprofit: 3-17. New York: John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Holton, J. A. (2007) The Coding Process and its Challenges. In A. Bryant & K. Charmaz (eds.), *The Sage Handbook of Grounded Theory*: 265-290. Calfornia: SAGE Publications Inc.
- Hu, Q., Kapucu, N. & O'Byrne, L. (2014) Strategic planning for community-based small nonprofit organizations: Implementation, benefits, and challenges. *Journal of Applied Management and Entrepreneurship*, 19(1): 83-101.
- Huggett, J. (2009) *The Challenges Nonprofits Face in the Current Uncertain Economic Environment*. Available at: http://www.huggett.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/NonProfitChallenges.pdf.

- Huybrechts, B. & Nicholls, A. (2013) The role of legitimacy in social enterprise-corporate collaboration. *Social Enterprise Journal*, 9(2): 130-146.
- Kandaiya, M.A. (2018) Social Enterprise and Sustainability in the Nonprofit Sector: A theoretically grounded approach. Available at: <u>https://researchbank.swinburne.edu.au/file/53ab912b-d0ad-4282-80e5-766270eba6aa/1/mahesan\_kandaiya\_thesis.pdf</u>.
- Kaplan, S. (2011) Research in cognition and strategy: Reflections on two decades of progress and a look to the future. *Journal of Management Studies*, 48(3): 665-695.
- Kaplan, M. J. (2013) Growing the Next Generation of Social Entrepreneurs and Start-Ups in New Zealand. Wellington: Fulbright New Zealand. Available at: https://www.fulbright.org.nz/wpcontent/uploads/2013/08/axford2013\_kaplan.pdf.
- Kerlin, J. A. (2009) A Comparison of Social Enterprise Models and Contexts. In J. A. Kerlin, (ed.), Social Enterprise: A Global Comparison: 162-179. Lebanon, NH: Tufts University Press.
- Kerlin, J. A. (2010) A comparative analysis of the global emergence of social enterprise. *Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations*, 21(2): 162-179.
- Kerlin, J. A. (2013) Defining social enterprise across diffrent contexts: A conceptual framework based on institutional factors. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quartely*, 42(1): 84-108.
- Kerlin, J. A. (2017) *Shaping Social Enterprise: Understanding institutional context and influence*. Bingley, UK: Emerald Publishing Limited.
- Kong, E. (2008) The development of strategic management in the non-profit context: Intellectual capital in social service non-profit organizations. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 10(3): 281-299.
- Krishna, V. V. & Krishna, U. (2010) World Social Science Report: Knowledge divides background paper. Social sciences in South Asia. UNESCO: International Social Science Council. Available at: http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0019/001906/190658E.pdf.
- Kumar, R. (2004) e-Choupals: A study on the financial sustainability of village internet centres in rural Madhya Pradesh. *Information Technologies and International Development*, 2(1): 45-73.
- Lamers, M. (2005) Representing poverty, impoverishing representation? A discursive analysis of a NGOs fundraising posters. *Graduate Journal of Social Sciences*, 2(1): 37-74.
- Landsberg, B. (2004) The nonprofit paradox: For-profit business models in the third sector. *International Journal of Not-for-Profit Law*, 6(2). Available at: http://www.icnl.org/research/journal/vol6iss2/special\_7.htm.
- Lecy, J., Schmitz, H. P. & Swedlund, H. (2012) Non-governmental and not-for-Profit organizational effectiveness: A modern synthesis. *Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations*, 23(2): 434-457.
- Lester, M. (2013) Social capital and value creation: A replication of 'the role of intrafirm networks' by Wenpin Tsai and Sumantra Ghoshal. *American Journal of Business and Management*, 2(2): 106-113.
- Luke, B., Barraket, J. & Eversole, R. (2013) Measurement as legitimacy versus legitimacy of measures: Performance evaluation of social enterprise. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 10(3/4): 234-258.

- Luke, B. & Chu, V. (2013) Social enterprise versus social entrepreneurship: An examination of the 'why' and 'how' in pursuing social change. *International Small Business Journal*, 31(7): 764– 784.
- Mair, J., Battilana, J. & Cardenas, J. (2012) Organizing for society: A typology of social entrepreneuring models. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 111(3): 353-373.
- Mason, C. & Barraket, J. (2015) Understanding social enterprise model development through discursive interpretations of social enterprise policymaking in Australia (2007-2013). Social Enterprise Journal, 11(2): 138-155.
- McGhee, G., Marland, G. & Atkinson, J. (2007) Grounded theory research: Literature reviewing and reflexivity. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 60(3): 334-342.
- Mehrotra, S. & Verma, S. (2015) An assessment approach for enhancing the organizational performance of social enterprises in India. *Journal of Entrepreneurship in Emerging Economies*, 7(1): 35-54.
- Mian, N. (2014) NGO laws in Bangladesh: The need to harmonize. *Global Journal of Politics and Law Research*, 2(3): 54-63.
- Monroe-White, T., Kerlin, J. A. & Zook, S. (2015) A quantitative critique of Kerlin's macroinstitutional social enterprise framework. *Social Enterprise Journal*, 11(2): 178-201.
- Morrison, L. D. (2016) Literature Review: Measuring and assessing organizational performance for non-profits, contextually sensitive standards and measures for the non-profit organization. In A. Hinna, L. Gnan & F. Monteduro (eds.), *Governance and Performance in Public and Non-Profit Organizations*: 233-256. Bingley: Emerald Group Publishing Limited.
- Moxham, C. (2010) Help or hindrance? Examining the role of performance measurement in UK nonprofit organizations. *Public Performance & Management Review*, 33(3): 342-354.
- Moxham, C. & Boaden, R. (2007) The impact of performance measurement in the voluntary sector: Identification of contextual and processual factors. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 27(8): 826-845.
- Nair, P. (2011) Evolution of the relationship between state and non-government organisations: A South Asian perspective. *Public Administration and Development*, 31: 252-261.
- Narayanan, V. K., Zane, L. J. & Kemmerer, B. (2011) The cognitive perspective in strategy: An integrative review. *Journal of Management*, 37(1): 305-351.
- Nicholls, A. (2009) Capturing the Performance of the Socially Entrepreneurial Organization (SEO):
   An orginizational legitimacy approach. In J. Robinson, J. Mair & K. Hockerts (eds.), International Perspectives on Social Entrepreneurship: 27-74. Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Nicholls, A. (2010) The legitimacy of social entrepreneurship: Reflexive isomorphism. A preparadigmatic Field. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 34(4): 611-633.
- Partington, D. (2000) Building grounded theories of mangement action. British Journal of Management, 11: 91-102.
- Partington, D. (2002) Grounded Theory. In D. Partington (ed.), *Essentials Skills for Management Research*. London: SAGE Publications Ltd: 136-157.
- Poister, T. H. (2010) The future of strategic planning in the public sector: Linking strategic management and performance. *Public Administration Review*, 70(1): 246-254.

- Ravichandran, N. (2008) Research efforts and orientations. In D. Lewis & N. Ravichandran (eds.), *NGOs and Social Welfare: New Research Approaches*. New Delhi: Rawat Publications: 44-60.
- Salvado, J. C. (2011) Social enterprise models and SPO financial stability: The case of BRAC. *Journal* of Social Entrepreneurship, 2(1): 79-98.
- Santos-Álvarez, M., Garcia-Merino, M. & Vallelado-Gonzalez, E. (2012) Individual perception of different stimuli: Implications for managers. *International Journal of Business Science and Applied Management*, 7(1): 1-14.
- Sarvodaya Shramadana Movement (SSM) (2017) Available at: http://www.sarvodaya.org/.
- Sassmannshausen, S. P. & Volkmann, C. (2013) A Bibliometric Based Review on Social Entrepreneurship and its Establishment as a Field of Research. Available at: http://elpub.bib.uni-

wuppertal.de/edocs/dokumente/fbb/wirtschaftswissenschaft/sdp/sdp13/sdp13003.pdf.

Seel, K. (2006) Boundary Spanning: A grounded theory of sustainability in Canada's nonprofit sector. Available at:

http://www.mtroyal.ca/wcm/groups/public/documents/pdf/npr06\_bound\_thesis.pdf.

- Sidel, M. (2001) Recent research on philanthropy and the nonprofit sector in India and South Asia. *Voluntas: International Iournal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations*, 12(2): 171-180.
- Smith, W. K., Gonin, M. & Besharov, M. L. (2013) Managing social business tensions: A review and research agenda for social enterprise. *Business Ethics Quarterly*, 23(3): 407-442.
- Strauss, A. 1987. Qualitative Analysis for Social Scientists. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Strauss, A. & Corbin, J. (1998) *The Basics of Qualitative Research: Techniques and procedures for developing grounded theory*, 2nd edn. California: SAGE Publications Inc.
- Thompson, J. & Doherty, B. (2006) The diverse world of social enterprise: A collection of social enterprise stories. *International Journal of Social Economics*, *33*(4): 361-375.
- Tsai, W. & Ghoshal, S. (1998) Social capital and value creation: The role of intrafirm networks. *The Academy of Management Journal*, *41*(4): 464-476.
- Twersky, F. & Blair, J. (2002) Performance Information That Really Performs. In J. G. Dees, J. Emerson & P. Economy (eds.), *Strategic Tools for Social Entrepreneurs: Enhancing the Performance of Your Enterprising Nonprofit*: 161-188. New York: John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- United Nations Industrial Development Organization (UNIDO) (2004) Effective Policies for Small Business: A Guide for the policy review process and strategic plans for micro, small, and medium enterprise development. Available at: http://www.unido.org/fileadmin/user\_media/Publications/Pub\_free/Effective\_policies\_for\_s mall\_business.pdf.
- United Nations Statistics Division (2017) *Methodology: Standard country or area codes for statistical use (M49).* Available at: https://unstats.un.org/unsd/methodology/m49/.
- Uotila, T.-P. (2015) Eliciting managerial cognitions: The role of cognition in management research. *Journal of Economics, Business and Management,* 3(2): 221-225.
- Walsh, J. P. (1995) Managerial and organizational cognition: Notes from a trip down memory lane. *Organization Science*, 6(3): 280-321.
- Walsh, P. (2006) Enterprise Performance Management: Activate, influence and learn. In P. Walsh, P. Lok & M. Jones (eds.), *The Measurement and Management of Strategic Change: A Guide to Enterprise Performance Management*: 267-288. Frenchs Forest: Pearson Education Australia.

- Walsh, P., Lok, P. & Jones, M. (2006) Managing Performance. In P. Walsh, P. Lok & M. Jones (eds.), *The Measurement and Management of Strategic Change*: 3-11. Frenchs Forest: Pearsons Education.
- Weeratunge, N. & de Silva, D. (2007) Micro-entrepreneurs and Entrepreneurial Cultures in Sri Lanka. Centre for Poverty Analysis Article Series No. 14-2007. Columbo: Centre for Poverty Analysis
- Weerawardena, J. & Mort, G. S. (2006) Investigating social entrepreneurship: A multidimensional model. *Journal of World Business*, 41(1): 21-35.
- Windasari, N. A., Lin, F. & Chen, H. (2017) The Role of Social Capital on Cocreating Value for Social Enterprises: The service dominant logic perspective. *Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences 2017*. Hawaii. Available at: https://scholarspace.manoa.hawaii.edu/bitstream/10125/41352/1/paper0203.pdf.
- Wrona, T., Ladwig, T. & Gunnesch, M. (2013) Socio-cognitive processes in strategy formation: A conceptual framework. *European Management Journal*, 31(6): 697–705.
- Ziltener, P. & Künzler, D. (2013) Impacts of colonialism: A research survey. *Journal of World Systems Research*, 19(2): 290-311.

#### **ABOUT THE AUTHOR**

MAHESAN KANDAIYA, PhD was the founder and President (2004-2019) of Partners in Micro-development Inc. (PIMD – www.microdevpartners.org), a volunteer based non-government organisation working in the primary education sector in Sri Lanka. He obtained his PhD from Swinburne University of Technology in Melbourne in 2019. This paper is based on his PhD research and sets out the theory that emerged from the research. (Donna Vaughan is acting as correspondent for this article. Email: <u>donna.vaughan@bigpond.com</u>)

### In pursuit of effective charity advertising: Investigating the branding and messaging execution tactics used by charity marketers

Cathy Nguyen, Ehrenberg-Bass Institute, University of South Australia; Margaret Faulkner, Ehrenberg-Bass Institute, University of South Australia

#### Abstract

Charities operate in a highly fragmented environment with many players competing for individuals' support. The limited resources available for campaign development (creative, filming) and execution (media planning, on-air time) means that charity marketers need to use the most effective principles to ensure return on investment. Commercial marketers can use clear guidelines published on how to execute the brand to enhance advertising effectiveness and, more specifically, brand recall and recognition. Whether such guidelines are adhered to by charity marketers is unclear as no known research exists on this topic. In this paper, we draw on well-regarded memory theories and their past applications to commercial brand and messaging execution studies, documenting the evidence of these in the advertising collateral of 40 Australian charities. The results allow us to report on the characteristics of charity advertising and to derive guidelines for the future development and testing of effective charity advertising initiatives.

#### Keywords

charity advertising, branding, call-to-actions, messaging

#### Introduction

Charities are crucial because they work to solve difficult problems and provide services to help the most vulnerable members of society. They do, however, operate in a highly fragmented environment. Currently there are over 55,000 registered charities fighting for the support of
individuals in Australia alone (Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 2018), many of which are considered to be small and all have limited marketing resources. In such a crowded market, it is imperative that marketing communications from charities are effective to achieving the desired outcomes, for example increasing public donations and support.

For commercial brands, advertising is considered an essential part of any marketing strategy. Andrew Ehrenberg (2000: 44) notes how advertising can *'create, reawaken or strengthen awareness'*, increasing the chance of an individual becoming a brand customer (Sharp 2010). Within the advertising academic community, it is generally accepted that advertisements only 'work' if consumers correctly remember the brand being promoted (Kapferer 1995; Romaniuk 2009; Rossiter & Bellman 2005). Memory of the advertised brand is regarded as an important precursor to all other desired brand outcomes: salience, associations, attitudes, knowledge, purchase intentions and ad-likeability (Percy & Rossiter 1992; Franzen 1999) . As Gordon Brown (1994: 16) puts it, *'...if people have noticed the creative content but not taken it in as being about the brand, the attention gained is not much use to the advertiser'*. That is, if the thoughts and feelings evoked by an advertisement are not linked to the brand – the main focus of the ad– the advertising expenditure is wasted!

However, advertisers are constantly competing with consumer inattention and ad avoidance. For instance, research shows that up to 80 % of viewers claim to engage in other activities while viewing TV (Lynch 1999). Other observations of TV viewing behaviour reported that 38 % of ads are not seen due to channel switching, substantially reducing the effectiveness of media purchased (Dix & Phau 2017). Therefore, marketers must ensure that each and every advertising exposure is effective in communicating the brand as well as other relevant information. Research has also supported the value of branding, with laboratory tests on the residual effects of TV advertising suggesting that branded information displayed for at least three seconds increases memorability (Bellman, Schweda & Varan 2010).

Advertising for charities provides a departure from the typical branded advertisement. While the goal for charities is to promote their brand (e.g. The Salvation Army), it is often equally important to raise awareness around a cause (e.g. homelessness, hunger, mental health) or encourage the audience to take action to support the charity/cause (e.g. sign a petition, sponsor a child, volunteer). Through advertising, charity marketers must not only ensure that the charity brand is remembered by an audience, but that the audience also register and remember the key message or action to be undertaken. Both memory of the brand and memory of the message are important in the advertisement's capacity to bring about change for charities. While empirical audits have been undertaken in a variety of industries regarding branding and messaging quality in advertisements (e.g. Romaniuk 2009), branding strategies within advertisements for the non-profit sector are not well understood. This is despite senior, nonprofit directors and consultants considering advertising to be the most effective way to community their brand to different audiences. (Stride & Lee 2007). A possible explanation for the lack of research into this area is that the concept of 'branding' is regarded as being relatively new to the non-profit sector, compared to commercial practice. Consequently, charities are known to be comparatively slow to the adoption of branding practices (Grounds & Harkness 1998). As late as 1996, Tapp reported that charities are only beginning to embrace the notion of branding, with some adopting a professionally designed logo. More recently, Lee, Chan and Prendergast's (2019) interviews with senior managers within non-profit organisations revealed that most recognise the importance of investing in their brand to build awareness, but very few are investing effectively. Despite the importance of advertising as a brand building tool for non-profit firms, the topic remains under researched, as acknowledged by a number of scholars (e.g. Bennett & Sargeant 2005; Sargeant, Hudson & West 2008; Nelson & Vilela 2009; Michel & Rieunier 2012).

Our present paper draws on well documented guidelines outlined within the psychology and marketing literature on advertising memorability, applying this knowledge to a largely underinvestigated charity sector. In order to establish whether effective branding tactics are being utilised by charity marketers, this study documents the various branding techniques used within charity advertising, in the context of television or video advertising. Television advertising is a part of many charity marketers' media toolkits, with Direct Response Television Advertising (DRTV) often used by charities to achieve immediate and measurable responses (Aldrich 2004). Furthermore, we examine how messaging execution techniques, particularly call-to-action messages, are co-presented along with the brand in charity advertisements.

Our work involves analysing the prevalence of branding and messaging execution tactics implemented across 215 advertisements gathered from the largest 40 Australian charities. Along with the research findings, we draw on well-regarded memory theories and their past applications to commercial advertising and brand execution studies, to derive guidelines for the development and testing of effective charity advertisements. The findings from this investigation provides the Australian charity sector with a benchmark of branding and messaging practices in relation to commercial marketing standards, which ultimately will help to ensure that any funding and support received is maximised.

#### **Background & research questions**

#### Branding execution tactics in charity advertising

A brand is a valuable asset as it provides a means for consumers to recognise and specify a particular offering, should they wish to choose it or recommend it to others (Crommelin, Gerber & Terblanche-Smit 2014). Effective branding in advertising ensures that an audience will build mental connections and remember the brand being advertised, rather than only being entertained (Sharp 2013). Given the extremely fragmented nature of the charity sector, it is imperative that audiences do remember the charity brand so that the limited and valuable resources invested into promoting that charity or cause are not wasted. Research by O'Guinn et al. (2008) suggests that a strong brand presence in advertising aids in reinforcing the memory links between the brand and a message.

To execute 'effective branding', direct and indirect branding techniques can be used (Hartnett, Romaniuk & Kennedy 2016). Direct branding techniques refer to when advertisers visually or verbally use the brand name (e.g. 'Cancer Council') and indirect techniques, known as distinctive brand assets (Romaniuk 2018), include presenting other visual or auditory items that are linked to the brand in the consumer's mind (e.g. Cancer Council's yellow daffodil or The Biggest Morning Tea event). Examples of indirect branding techniques include: logos, colours, fonts, taglines, sounds, advertising styles, characters and celebrities.

The body of empirical evidence on branding strategies in charity advertising remains relatively small. Bali and Bélanger (2019) recently quantified the frequency of posts, the content type and media type used by hospital foundations within Facebook ads. They found that 60% of foundations make postings fewer than four times a week, which is less than the standard benchmark used by other organisations on Facebook. While Bali and Bélanger's (2019) aim was to investigate how hospital foundations use Facebook for marketing and branding purposes, they did not document the presence of direct and indirect branding elements within these posts. Looking at online banner advertisements, Nguyen et al. (2018) investigated the impact of charity brands co-presented alongside commercial brands. Their findings indicate that the addition of a charity or commercial brand to a cause-related advertisement reduces an audience's ability to recall the brand/s advertised, but no analysis of branding execution tactics within these co-branded ads was undertaken. Sargeant and West's (2008) study analysed the presence of charitable statuses within advertisements, and found that these were under-emphasised. Bruce (2005) noted benefits would arise if charities were more distinctively

positioned, whereas when charities are indistinct the unbranded or weakly branded, the work of such charities will often be attributed to the market leading brands. Clearly, there is more work needed to understand how charities can optimise branding within their communication efforts.

In commercial marketing, there are some clear guidelines published on how marketers can execute the brand effectively to enhance advertising effectiveness and, more specifically, brand recall and recognition measures (Romaniuk 2009). We now explain the theoretical underpinning and key findings related to three key principles evident for video-based advertising (e.g. TV): frequency, dual-mode branding and early appearance.

- (1) Frequency refers to how many times a brand is present or mentioned in an ad. The average television ad will feature a brand visually 3.4 times and 2.2 times verbally. Romaniuk's review of advertising studies (2009) provides strong evidence (five out of five studies) that increased brand frequency in a TV ad leads to higher memory of both the brand and the ad, across prompted and unprompted recall measures. An artefact of branding frequency is the duration of time a brand is present on screen (i.e. the more times a brand is mentioned or shown, the longer the total duration of branding presence). Research by Crommelin et al. (2014) suggests that individuals are more likely to store the brand in memory if the brand is present for a longer duration within an ad. Such findings are in line with the knowledge on how humans encode, store and retrieve information – our memories are imperfect and require constant refreshing to keep the information easily retrievable (Anderson & Bower 1979; Romaniuk & Sharp 2004). This is linked to the idea that human learning generally happens through repeated experience, where Ebbinghaus (1885) was among the first to formally document the effects of repetition on learning. Zielske's (1959) research later covered the effects of exposure frequency on newspaper ad-awareness and retention. Romaniuk (2009) provides evidence that repetition can also influence memory in a single exposure context, as well as across multiple exposures.
- (2) **Dual mention** refers to using both visual (written name, logo or packaging) and verbal (spoken) modes of branding. Romaniuk's (2009) review of studies (five out of five) shows that branding that is dual-mode results in enhanced ad and brand recall, compared to single-mode tactics. This builds on an established body of work showing that both audio and visual cues provide brands a higher chance of being attended to (Nasco & Bruner 2007, 2008; Tessitore & Geuens 2013; Wang & Muehling 2010).

Because of humans' limited information processing capabilities, attention is split when exposed to stimuli that is both visual and auditory (Eimer 1999). As there is a trade-off between attentional resource allocation across senses, audio-visual stimuli have a higher chance of attention because individuals can attend to the visual information even if they are not processing the audio information, and vice versa (e.g. talking to someone in the room or muting the TV, (Bonnel & Hafter 1998)).

(3) Early appearance occurs when a brand appears at the beginning of an ad, rather than at the end. More specifically, brand introduction refers to the length of time elapsed before any branding element is introduced within an advertisement (Crommelin et al. 2014). Romaniuk's (2009) review revealed that out of eight studies, five show a positive relationship between featuring the brand early and memory of the ad and the brand. Similar findings were also evident in the work of Crommelin et al. (2014), who found that the shorter the amount of time for a brand to appear in advertising, the more the brand was recognised. The effect of early appearance is grounded in the primacy principle of memory and recall – that is information presented first in a sequence (such as an ad), is more easily recalled and attracts more visual attention (Wedel & Pieters 2000) and is more likely to be stored in memory (Li 2010) than that in the middle of the sequence. Note that our focus (and that of Romaniuk 2009) is on primacy as opposed to recency effects, to increase the chances that viewers will still notice the brand even if the advertisement is turned off partway through.

As documented, guidelines to enhance memories for the advertised brand, particularly in a video environment, are based on three principles: (1) showing the brand frequently, (2) using dual (visual and verbal) mentions and (3) showing the brand early in the ad. In other research related to print advertising, the use of indirect branding techniques (Hartnett et al. 2016), and the use of larger-sized brand elements (Pieters & Wedel 2004) have been shown to increase the effectiveness of advertising. Unfortunately, such audits and resulting guidelines do not exist for those operating in the charity marketing field. As such, our first research question aims to shed light on how brand execution tactics are currently used by charity marketers and from this, form an assessment on the effectiveness of TV or video-based advertising branding for the sector.

**RQ1:** What direct and indirect branding techniques do charities use in advertising, and do techniques align with prior literature's recommendations for effective branding?

#### Messaging in charity advertising

Arguably what is equally important to branding is a marketer's ability to communicate a message that ultimately influences some kind of behaviour. This can include taking immediate and/or longer-term action. In this paper, we examine the prevenance of three different aspects related to advertising messaging for charities: Call to Action appeals, linking the charity to the cause and emotional appeals.

#### Call to Action Appeals

Direct petitions, known as a call-to-action (CTA), are typically featured within charity advertisements to encourage or change behaviour (e.g. 'slip slop slap', 'donate to the appeal'). Asking for support is suggested to be the single biggest factor affecting charitable giving (Body & Breeze 2016). A CTA involves a direct ask by the charity for supporters to act and can often be: a donation appeal as per DRTV (Aldrich 2004), selling a good or service, a call for volunteers, lobbying and advocacy, subscribing to a cause, promoting an event or improving awareness of a cause (Lovejoy & Saxton 2012).

In online commercial practices, scholars have found that direct CTAs (e.g. 'buy now') lead to higher rates of purchase conversion (Cotter 2002). Such calls help to solidify the end purchase, unlike other behaviours such as click-throughs where consumers merely place an item in their 'basket' but may not carry through on the purchase (Cotter 2002). Therefore, Cotter (2002) recommends that the proportion of people who respond to a CTA promotion be a key metric that marketers measure.

For the non-profit sector, Parker et al. (2016) and Wenham et al. (2003) agree that advertising and direct CTA's are necessary in the third sector to attract and retain supporters, as well as to facilitate the donation process. Other studies in the charity marketing sector find positive effects to be associated with the presence of CTAs. When included in charity advertisements, CTA's are considered to have a higher chance of eliciting positive donor behaviour than campaigns that do not include them (Persons & Lepkowska-Whites 2010; Filo, Funk & O'Brien 2014). One explanation for this effect is that CTAs not only create a sense of perceived urgency, but provide opportunities to privately comply with requests that can alleviate feelings of guilt or pity (Cialdini & Goldstein 2004). Experiments investigating factors that lead to TV charity appeal pledges finds that emphasising the benefits gained by others outperform benefits gained by the individual when donating, with direct calls to help others particularly important (Fisher, Vandenbosch & Antia 2008).

Experimental research has also shown that feelings of guilt are increased when ads portray donations being given by others less fortunate than the viewer, as this enhances controllability of taking action perceptions (Chang 2014). To successfully undertake a behaviour, an individual needs to have confidence in being able to perform the particular behaviour and that action will result in a desired outcome (Parkinson, Russell-Bennett & Previte 2018). Hence, increasing the perception of ease of taking action is another factor contributing to the effectiveness of CTAs. Wenham et al. (2003) highlight 'ease of use' as required for best practice in website design, with their research finding that CTAs that allow people to donate funds online are a common and necessary feature within environmental charity websites. Unfortunately, the same investigation has not been done more broadly for all charities and within other modes of advertising such as video. There is little known on how widespread the use of CTA's is, nor whether existing CTA asks are direct enough to actually elicit a response. As such, we ask the following question:

#### RQ2: How prevalent are Call to Action messages within charity advertisements?

#### Linking the charity to its cause

In commercial marketing, an important aspect of messaging involves communicating the product category that a brand belongs in, or characteristics related to said category (e.g. that IKEA sells good value furniture and homeware, Sunkist is a refreshing soft drink). Typically, branding execution and effectiveness has been the focus for marketers as it helps viewers to delineate between a given brand and other brands in the same category. However early work by Durgee and Stuart (1987) concluded that efforts are best spent on communicating the best qualities relevant to a product category.

For the charity sector, the equivalent to a 'product category' would be the cause to which a given charity serves (e.g. raising awareness around domestic violence or pancreatic cancer research). If the emphasis in advertising is on the cause, this messaging can be used to increase awareness of the sector or issue; and if the emphasis is on the charity itself, an ad is used to highlight the need to support this brand specifically. In some cases, the presence of the cause serves the purpose of educating new supporters on the sector that a charity operates in (e.g. MOSH operates in mental health aid for the youth).

The Associative Network Theories (Collins & Quillian 1969; Anderson & Bower 1973) provides a basis for understanding the cognitive advantages of linking a charity to its cause in advertising. The theories conceptualise human memory as a complex network of nodes, each representing a point in the memory structure. Nodes can denote any item or concept (e.g. a node can be a charity, a cause, an event or an action), and can be connected to each other by associative links (Krishnan 1996). In a charity context, the promotion of the charity brand alongside the cause should increase the chance of activating the brand in memory leading to the occurrence of linked behaviours due to the triggering of connected nodes.

In practice, charities may choose to work together, combining their resources to increase the likelihood of the cause being thought of. This approach has benefited unpopular causes, such as mental health (Body & Breeze 2016). However in a competitive context, charity marketers may prefer to promote the charity brand over the cause, rather than building or refreshing links in memory to both nodes. Similarly, building associations with the cause but not the specific charity misses the opportunity to strengthen the brand's identity, which can later pose problems in attracting resources (Amujo & Laninhun 2013). Ideally, charity advertisements will promote and signal a link between both the charity and its cause, strengthening the association between the two in the minds of the audience, in line with the memory theories related to Associative Networks.

Currently, there is no record of whether promotion of the charity or cause is more prominent within charity advertising. Therefore, we also document the prevalence of advertisements that document the charity brand, the cause, and both.

#### **RQ3:** How prevalent is both the charity brand and cause in charity advertising?

#### Emotional appeals in messaging

Emotional appeals in advertising have long been a popular method of gaining an audience's attention (Holbrook & Batra 1987). Emotion also influences the depth of information processing (Bradley & Lang 2007). More specifically, emotions are found to trump cognition (Zajonc 1980) and acts as the gatekeeper for decision making (Damasio 1994; LeDoux 1995). As such, it is widely accepted that emotional responses to advertising can enhance information retrieval from memory (Du Plessis & Hollis 2002; Ehrenberg et al. 2002). For this reason, advertisements that feature a charity often aim to elicit a strong emotional response, such as

empathy (Schlinger 1979; Aaker & Stayman 1990; Keller 2003). Emotions also play an important role in anticipation of undertaking a given behaviour. For example, in a study on breastfeeding, emotions were shown to play a vital role in intentions and behaviour (Parkinson et al. 2018). Hence, marketers often opt to make emotive advertisements, particularly where complex social behaviours are concerned, and have a choice on whether to evoke negative or positive emotional responses.

Existing research has focused heavily on positive and negative framing within charity advertising. Chang & Lee (2010) considered the importance of message framing within charity advertisements on encouraging donations, finding that negative messages are more effective when congruent with negative presentation elements. This differed from research undertaken by Nelson-Field et al. (2013) which found that although message valence is less important than a highly arousing ad in eliciting donations, generally positive messages are more effective than negative messages. Similarly, industry research conducted by Murphy and Muderrisoglu (2017) report that emotional messaging and positively framed messages aids cut-through, while other scholars have shown that guilt appeals encourage more consumers to donate to crowdfunding initiatives (Chen et al. 2016) and charities alike (Hibbert et al. 2007; Chen, Thomas & Kohli 2016).

The consensus is that emotions are important for advertising process and messaging, regardless of whether the message is positively or negatively framed. However, it is unclear the whether the majority of charity advertisements do in fact feature an emotionally-geared message, and what direction this falls in (i.e. positive or negative). Therefore, our final research question is as follows:

**RQ4:** What proportion of charity advertisements contain positive or negative framed messaging?

### Methodology

Australia's 40 largest charities were identified and the composition of their video advertisements was analysed, providing us with a range of causes to examine (see Appendix for full list of charities included). The Australian Charities and Not-for-profit Commission (ACNC) database (<u>https://www.acnc.gov.au/</u>) confirmed that all were registered Australian charities that received donations from individuals in 2015. Based on their 2015 revenue, all

were of a sufficient size to engage in advertising, 25 were classified as 'massive' by ACNC, 12 as 'large' and three as 'medium' sized charities. A desktop review of social media activity in 2017 showed all charities operated on Facebook and Twitter, with 35 also having Instagram accounts. Ads were collected in January, August and September of 2017 through a range of online sources including social media (Facebook, Instagram, Twitter), official charity websites, and through the online search engine Google. The resulting collection of ads ensured a broad range of advertising formats were covered.

The video advertisements were organised into subcategories due to the pricing differences associated with different ad-lengths; 30-second advertisements are 60-80 % more expensive than 15-seconds advertisements (Newstead & Romaniuk 2010). In total, 215 video advertisements were collected, made up of: 15-second (n=39); 30-second (n=132); and >45-seconds (n=44) ads. The longest video advertisement was 67 seconds. Three independent coders analysed the variables of interest: branding execution, presence of CTA, emphasis on the charity and cause, and message valence. Content analysis was deemed the most appropriate method for categorising the data as it provides *"scientific, quantitative and generalisable description of communication content"* (Kassarjian 1977: 10). Consequently, content analysis has been used by many researchers for quantifying information within charity advertisements (e.g. Bali & Bélanger 2019; Huhmann & Brotherton 1997), as well as public service announcements (e.g. Mink et al. 2010; Clayton, Cavanagh & Hettche 2012).

To evaluate the complete suite of branding tactics implemented by charities, both direct and indirect branding techniques were analysed. Direct techniques included visual and verbal brand mentions (i.e. where the words "The Red Cross" is shown or can be heard), as well as the timing of the first mention and total frequency of mentions (as per the method used by Romaniuk 2009). The indirect branding elements analysed included the logo well as any other distinctive brand elements that could signal the brand in the mind of viewers (e.g. distinct colours, taglines, jingles, as outlined by Hartnett et al. 2016). Where a logo was evident within an advertisement, coders also recorded the timing and frequency of mentions and also its size (expressed as a percentage of the screen area), as well as whether the logo appeared in a static or dynamic (moving) format.

With regards to messaging, CTA's were only considered to be present if a direct action was outlined. For example, an ad explaining the symptoms of heart disease with the charity's website shown at the end has no CTA as no direct request is presented. However, the same ad with the message, *'Visit our website to check your symptoms*' does contain a CTA as a direct

action is encouraged. Additionally, it was also noted if the CTA was static (i.e. present on screen for the majority of the ad). The timing of CTA's within an ad was recorded in line with ad length. Also coded was whether the CTA was audio, visual or dual in order to consider if timing has any correlation to what is presented at one particular point.

Message emphasis was recorded in order to consider the overarching purpose of the ad. If the charity was not mentioned until the end and acted only as a vehicle for donations, the message emphasis was recorded as the cause. Likewise, if the focus was on a specific campaign for a charity (e.g. 'Million Paws Walk') or if it was clear that supporting a specific charity was the goal, the message emphasis would be on the charity itself.

Coders also took note of the overarching commentary and imagery depicted on screen alongside the key message; being either positive (e.g. the outcome of donating) or negative (e.g. the consequence of not donating), both positive and negative (e.g. before and after donations), or neither positive nor negative (e.g. if the emphasis was deemed more neutral such as education around a given cause).

The presence of multiple coders helped reduce any systematic and interpretation errors that a single coder may have had. As more than one coder was used, it was essential that consistency was checked across all coders to ensure inter-coder reliability (Neuman, 2011). In order to assess the consistency between coders, coders were given the same subset of advertisements and asked to code these independently. The coefficient of reliability, which is the level of inter-coder agreement during this quality control process was, on average, 86 %. While there is no accepted standard for the level of inter-coder reliability in charity advertising research, similar levels of agreement have been reported for past studies in the non-profit and public service announcement space (e.g. Clayton et al. 2012). Where necessary, ads were viewed a third time by both coders and 100 % agreement was eventually reached. This was primarily concerning the interpretation of the emotions evoked by the ad or whether the purpose was to build links to both the cause and the charity or to one only.

#### Results

Overall, our results for RQ1 show that the advertisements belonging to Australian Charities follow a similar format to commercial brands. We find that visual branding was most prevalent and occurred almost three times per execution, more than double the rate of verbal branding (see Table 1, which presents the mean frequencies of brand mentions). Surprisingly, longer ad

durations only slightly increased the frequency of any brand mention. With regards to indirect branding, logos were the most utilised distinctive brand element followed by colour, font, tagline, characters, and celebrities. In terms of logo size, most occupied less than 25% of the total screen space within ads. In addition, static logo use in videos more than doubled non-static logo use. These results suggest that branding within charity advertisements are less frequent compared to that for commercial brands (where the average number of times a brand is shown or spoken is 5.5, according to Romaniuk's review in 2009).

Verbal and dual mentions slightly decreased from 30 to >45 second ads. Even with increased duration, half of advertisements in the >45-second category had no verbal mentions. Almost half (45%) of videos included visual and verbal brand mentions simultaneously, but dualmentions occurred at a lower frequency than visual or verbal only. We find that the proportion of dual-mode branding within charity advertising is half that found for commercial brands (i.e. 90 % of TV advertising contained dual-mode branding in Romaniuk's 2009 research).

Table 1: Average Brand mentions in charity video advertising (times)

	Branding by Ad-length			Brandin	Messaging
	15s	30s	>45s	gAve.	%
	n=39	n=13	<i>n</i> =44	<i>n</i> =215	<i>n</i> =215
		2			
Visual mode	2.18	2.71	2.71	2.53	25
Verbal mode	0.85	1.15	1.13	1.04	9
Dual mode	0.59	0.62	0.47	0.56	66

were generally made in the last third of an ad, for example 31% of ads withheld a verbal mention of the brand until the very end (compared with 20% in the first third). The proportion of charities that introduced the brand early is significantly lower than that reported in Romaniuk's research (2009), where 59% of ads featured a brand in the first one-third of the ad.

Table 2: CTAs in charity video advertising (times)

	<b>CTAs</b> <b>Ave. %</b> <i>n</i> =215
None	14
One	72
Two	12
Three	2

mentions

In relation to RQ2, the majority of ads featured at least one CTA (86%, see Table 2). Ads without a CTA were more likely to have the cause as its main emphasis (60%) compared with those with one CTA (24%). Of the ads with no CTA, 68% attempted to purely educate and 32% were still seeking support, just indirectly (e.g. showing the benefits of giving support without a direct ask). Two-thirds of CTA's were presented both visually and verbally. Only 3% of the time was the CTA static, with the vast majority of CTA's presented at the end of the ad (82%).

In response to RQ3, the majority of the advertising emphasis was on the charity itself (41%), with a further 28% being on the cause only and 30% emphasising both charity and the cause (Table 3). In addition to this, 85% of the time the creative *was* related to the charity or cause. Table 3 also reports findings for RQ4, where two-thirds of charity ads contained a positively-valanced message at some point in time. Around one in five charity ads required more complex processing, containing both positive and negative message framing.

	%.
	<i>n</i> =215
Emphasis on charity	89
Emphasis on cause	59
Emphasis on both charity/cause	65
Emphasis on neither	1
charity/cause	
Positive	44
Neutral	24
Negative	13
Both Positive & Negative	19

Table 3: Promotion of the Cause & Emotional Appeals

#### Conclusion, implications & future research

Overall, our evaluation shows that while charities are following the effective branding tactics recommended in the literature, the level at which these are being implemented is lower than the benchmark recorded for commercial brands (as per Romaniuk, 2009). More specifically, charities are not utilising verbal brand mentions, resulting in fewer opportunities to simultaneously show and say the brand; which has been identified an effective technique to aid brand recall compared to purely visual or verbal mentions (Hartnett et al. 2016). A longer

advertising duration does not increase dual mentions, suggesting that charities are not maximising their branding opportunity with increased screen time. In addition, few charities introduce the brand within the first third of the advertisement, going against the literature that suggests brand mentions should be introduced early (Crommelin et al. 2014; Romaniuk 2009).

The prevalence of indirect branding techniques was evident, with logos and colour being the most utilised distinctive brand elements within charity advertising. This aligns with Gaillard, Romaniuk and Sharp's (2005) findings that consumers have the most brand associations related to symbols and colours. The majority of logos in the advertisements occupied less than 25% of total screen space and, therefore, charities may want to introduce larger logo sizes to gain more attention from the viewer without negatively affecting attention to other elements (Pieters & Wedel 2004). Further, the use of static logos was more common than non-static use; the dominant use of static branding mirrors findings for commercial brand use of logos in both television commercials and online banner ads (Guido et al. 2016). Whilst logos with movement are suggested as being more beneficial than static versions, more research is needed on how animated branding is processed and its response effects (Guido et al. 2016). There is an opportunity for further research incorporating the movement of brand elements within an ad to investigate if this helps or hinders the processing of the brand.

Around one third of ads emphasise both the cause and the charity. As charity brands often compete with other non-profit organisations for support, strengthening memory links to the charity is needed to improve the likelihood that the specific charity advertised will be recalled. However, when examining the presence of two brands, including pairing of charities with commercial brands (Nguyen 2018), results show that the brand most aligned with the ad's creative context is the one more likely to be retrieved. Further research is needed to examine scenarios where both the cause and the charity are congruent with the contextual setting of an ad. Branding execution may be even more important in such scenarios, as the brand can act as the anchoring point for information specific to the cause or CTA behaviour.

Positive CTA content, whether purely positive or both positive and negative accounts for twothirds of all ads. As the literature disagrees on whether negative (Chang & Lee 2010) or positive (Nelson-Field et al. 2013; Murphy & Muderrisoglu 2017) message framing is most effective, further research is needed on the consequences of valence within charity advertisements in terms of encouraging donation levels. Further, we know memory is dynamic, with memories reconstructed depending on the context of retrieval, and that brands are only important to individuals for the fractional moments people interact with them (Gordon 2006). Therefore, further research is needed to investigate if multiple CTAs might cause interference and distraction rather than increasing the likelihood of an individual taking action.

The framework developed in this study could be compared with the results of charity campaigns to analyse brand presentation and determine what is successful. The literature agrees that further study should be undertaken into the consequences of advertising execution on donation levels (Parsons & Lepkowska-White 2010; Nelson-Field et al. 2013; Chen et al. 2016). Therefore, the question becomes: when charities follow the strategy presented by the literature, are they more likely to be successful? Or, does the current literature need an overhaul in terms of the suggestions posed versus real-world results?

Further replication and extension of this research is needed to answer such questions and to also overcome several known limitations of the study. Video advertising located via online sites for 40 Australian charities formed the basis of the study. Whilst this provided 215 distinct ads for review, it is only a sub-set of all charity advertising and reflects the techniques available in 2017. Replication with advertising from other countries and times, as well an examination into how different sized charities perform in effective branding and messaging tactics will help to document more wide-spread patterns in charity advertising. Extension to also cover other media formats and how campaign elements work together will also be helpful to develop guidelines for integrated communication campaigns.

In summary, this study provides a benchmark for charity marketers to guide branding execution tactics within advertising collateral. Our findings demonstrate that there is some room for improvement when it comes to increasing the effectiveness of advertising for charities, particularly in the domain of branding execution. Given the increasing costs associated with advertising and the limited resources of most charities, this research highlights the need for charities to review their branding tactics for more effective outcomes. If charity marketers succeed in creating advertising that makes it easy for supporters to know and remember which brand is advertised, then the subsequent appeal and CTA will be more effective in the long run.

## Acknowledgements

We would like to acknowledge and thank Stephanie Cruse and Maria Zafar, who were vacation scholarship students that assisted with the data codling and data analysis of this research study.

#### REFERENCES

- Aaker, D. A. & Stayman, D. M. (1990) Measuring audience perceptions of commercials and relating them to ad impact. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 30(4): 7-17.
- Aldrich, T. (2004) Do-it-yourself DRTV: A practical guide to making direct response television advertising work for charities. *International Journal of Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Marketing*, 9(2): 135-144. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/nvsm.240.</u>
- Amujo, C. & Laninhun, B. (2013) Organisational brand identity management: A critical asset for sustainable competitive advantage by non-profits. *Third Sector Review*, 19(1): 97.
- Anderson, J. R. & Bower, G. H. (1973) *Human Associative Memory*. Washington, DC: Hemisphere Publishing Corporation.
- Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission (2018) FAQs. Available at: <u>http://australiancharities.acnc.gov.au/about/faq/.</u>
- Bali, S. & Bélanger, C. H. (2019) Exploring the use of Facebook as a marketing and branding tool by hospital foundations. *International Journal of Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Marketing*, 24(2): 1-10. doi:10.1002/nvsm.1641.
- Bellman, S., Schweda, A. & Varan, D. (2010) The residual impact of avoided television advertising. *Journal of Advertising*, 39(1): 67-82.
- Bennett, R. & Sargeant, A. (2005) The nonprofit marketing landscape: Guest editors' introduction to a special section. *Journal of Business Research*, 58(6): 797-805.
- Body, A. & Breeze, B. (2016) What are 'unpopular causes' and how can they achieve fundraising success? *International Journal of Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Marketing*, 21(1): 57-70. doi:10.1002/nvsm.1547.
- Bonnel, A. & Hafter, E. R. (1998) Divided attention of brands placed within a film. *International Journal of Advertising*, 15(2): 140-151.
- Bradley, M. M. & Lang, P. J. (2007) Emotion and Motivation. In J. T. Cacioppo, L. G. Tassinary & G. Berntson (eds.), *Handbook of Psychophysiology*, 2nd edn: 581-607. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Brown, G. (1994) The awareness problem: Attention and memory effects from TV and magazine advertising. *Admap*: 15-19.
- Bruce, I. (2005) *Charity Marketing: Meeting need through customer focus*, 3rd edn, London: ICSA Publishing Limited.
- Chang, C. (2014) Guilt regulation: The relative effects of altruistic versus egoistic appeals for charity advertising. *Journal of Advertising*, 43(3): 211-227. doi:10.1080/00913367.2013.853632.
- Chang, C. T. & Lee, Y. K. (2010) Effects of message framing, vividness congruency and statistical framing on responses to charity advertising. *International Journal of Advertising*, 29(2): 195-220. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.2501/S0265048710201129.</u>
- Chen, S., Thomas, S. & Kohli, C. (2016) What really makes a promotional campaign succeed on a crowdfunding platform? *Journal of Advertising Research*, 56(1): 81-94. doi:10.2501/JAR-2016-002.
- Cialdini, R. B. & Goldstein, N. J. (2004) Social influence: Compliance and conformity. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 55(1): 591-621. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.55.090902.142015.

- Clayton, M. J., Cavanagh, K. V. & Hettche, M. (2012) Institutional branding: A content analysis of public service announcements from American universities. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, 22(2): 182-205. doi:10.1080/08841241.2012.737869.
- Collins, A. M. & Quillian, M. R. (1969) Retrieval time from semantic memory. *Journal of Verbal Learning and Verbal Behavior*, 8(2): 240-247.
- Cotter, S. (2002) Taking the measure of e-marketing success. *Journal of Business Strategy*, 23(2): 30-37.
- Crommelin, T., Gerber, C. & Terblanche-Smit, M. (2014) Brand recognition in television advertising: The influence of brand presence and brand introduction. *Professional Accountant*, 14(1): 1-8. doi:10.4102/ac.v14i1.182.
- Damasio, A. (1994) *Descartes' error: Emotion, reason, and the human brain*. New York: Putnam.
- Dix, S. R. & Phau, I. (2017) Predictors of commercial zapping during live prime-time television. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 57(1): 15-27. doi:10.2501/JAR-2017-010.
- Du Plessis, E. & Hollis, N. (2002) Low involvement processing: Is it HIP enough? Admap, 430.
- Durgee, J. F. & Stuart, R. W. (1987) Advertising symbols and brand names that best represent key product meanings. *The Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 4(3): 15-24. doi:10.1108/eb008200.
- Ehrenberg, A. (2000) Repetitive advertising and the consumer. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 40(6): 39-48.
- Ehrenberg, A., Barnard, N., Kennedy, R. & Bloom, H. (2002) *Brand advertising as creative publicity: Bringing theory into line with practice*. South Australia: Institute for Marketing Science.
- Eimer, M. (1999) Can attention be directed to opposite locations in different modalities? An ERP study. *Clinical neurophysiology*, 110(7): 1252-1259.
- Filo, K., Funk, D. C. & O'Brien, D. (2014) An empirical investigation of the role of camaraderie, cause, competency, and participation motives in the development of attachment to a charity sport event. *Managing Leisure*, 19(4): 245-262. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/13606719.2014.885715.
- Fisher, R. J., Vandenbosch, M. & Antia, K. D. (2008) An empathy-helping perspective on consumers' responses to fund-raising appeals. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 35(3): 519-531.
- Franzen, G. (1999) Brands & advertising: How Advertising Effectiveness Influences Brand Equity. Oxfordshire, UK: Admap Publications.
- Gaillard, E., Romaniuk, J. & Sharp, A. (2005) *Exploring Consumer Perceptions of Visual Distinctiveness*. Western Australia: ANZMAC.
- Gordon, W. (2006) What do consumers do emotionally with advertising? *Journal of Advertising Research*, 46(1): 2-10.
- Grounds, J. & Harkness, J. (1998) Developing a brand from within: Involving employees and volunteers when developing a new brand position. *International Journal of Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Marketing*, *3*(2): 179-184. doi:10.1002/nvsm.6090030210.

- Guido, G., Pichierri, M., Nataraajan, R. & Pino, G. (2016) Animated logos in mobile marketing communications: The roles of logo movement directions and trajectories. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(12): 6048-6057. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.06.003.
- Hartnett, N., Romaniuk, J. & Kennedy, R. (2016) Comparing direct and indirect branding in advertising. *Australasian Marketing Journal*, 24(1): 20-28. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ausmj.2015.12.002.</u>
- Hibbert, S., Smith, A., Davies, A. & Ireland, F. (2007) Guilt appeals: Persuasion knowledge and charitable giving. *Psychology & Marketing*, 24(8): 723-742. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.20181.
- Holbrook, M. B. & Batra, R. (1987) Assessing the role of emotions as mediators of consumer responses to advertising. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 14(3): 404-420.
- Huhmann, B. A. & Brotherton, T. P. (1997) A content analysis of guilt appeals in popular magazine advertisements. *Journal of Advertising*, 26(2): 35-45. doi:10.1080/00913367.1997.10673521.
- Kapferer, J. N. (1995) Brand confusion: Empirical study of a legal concept. *Psychology & Marketing*, 12(6): 551-568.
- Kassarjian, H. H. (1977) Content analysis in consumer research. Journal of Consumer Research, 4(1): 8-18.
- Keller, K. L. (2003) Brand synthesis: The multidimensionality of brand knowledge. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 29(4): 595-601.
- Krishnan, H. S. (1996) Characteristics of memory associations: A consumer-based brand equity perspective. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 13(4): 389-405.
- LeDoux, J. (1995) Emotion: Clues from the brain. Annual Review of Psychology, 46: 209-235.
- Lee, M. W. Y., Chan, A. K. K. & Prendergast, G. (2019) When marketing dare not speak its name: Understanding market orientation in Chinese NGOs. *Journal of Nonprofit & Public Sector Marketing*: 1-26. doi:10.1080/10495142.2019.1589628.
- Li, C. (2010) Primacy effect or recency effect? A long-term memory test of Super Bowl commercials. *Journal of Consumer Behaviour*, 9(1): 32-44.
- Lovejoy, K. & Saxton, G. D. (2012) Information, community, and action: How nonprofit organizations use social media. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 17(3): 337-353. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1083-6101.2012.01576.x.</u>
- Lynch, K. (1999) The influence of viewing quality on ad effectiveness. Admap.
- Michel, G. & Rieunier, S. (2012) Nonprofit brand image and typicality influences on charitable giving. *Journal of Business Research*, 65: 701-707.
- Mink, M., Evans, A., Moore, C. G., Calderon, K. S. & Deger, S. (2010) Nutritional imbalance endorsed by televised food advertisements. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 110(6): 904-910. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2010.03.020.
- Murphy, C. & Muderrisoglu, S. (2017) An emotional journey: How charity brands can cut through the noise. NFPSynergy.
- Nasco, S. A. & Bruner, G. C. (2007) Perceptions and recall of advertising content presented on mobile handled devices. *Journal of Interactive Advertising*, 7(2): 51-62.
- Nasco, S. A. & Bruner, G. C. (2008) Comparing consumer responses to advertising and nonadvertising mobile communications. *Psychology & Marketing*, 25(8): 821-837.

- Nelson, M. R. & Vilela, A. M. (2009) "Doing good" with advertising: Building awareness, branding, and generating revenue for social causes and non-profit organisations. *American Academy of Advertising Conference*, Cincinnati, Ohio: American Academy of Advertising.
- Nelson-Field, K., Riebe, E. & Newstead, K. (2013) The emotions that drive viral video. *Australasian Marketing Journal*, 21(4): 205-211.
- Neuman, W. (2011) *Social Research Methods: Qualitative and quantitative approaches*, 7th Edn, Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Newstead, K. & Romaniuk, J. (2010) Cost per second: The relative effectiveness of 15- and 30-second television advertisements. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 50(1): 68-76. doi:10.2501/s0021849910091191.
- Nguyen, C. (2018) Does a second brand aid advertising impact? Admap: 1-6.
- O'Guinn, T., Allen, C. & Semenik, R. J. (2008) *Advertising and integrated brand promotion*. Victoria: South-Western Publisher.
- Parker, H. D., Wachter, K., Sloan, H. & Ghomi, V. (2016) Viral marketing in the nonprofit sector: Crafting messages that create awareness and call an audience to action. *Marketing Management Journal*, 26(2): 101-116.
- Parkinson, J., Russell-Bennett, R. & Previte, J. (2018) Challenging the planned behavior approach in social marketing: Emotion and experience matter. *European Journal of Marketing*, 52(3-4): 837-865. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1108/EJM-05-2016-0309.</u>
- Parsons, A. L. & Lepkowska-White, E. (2010) Website references in print advertising: An analysis of calls to action. *Journal of Internet Commerce*, 9(3/4): 151-163. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15332861.2010.526487.</u>
- Percy, L. & Rossiter, J. R. (1992) A model of brand awareness and brand attitude advertising strategies. *Psychology and Marketing*, 9(4): 263-274.
- Pieters, R. & Wedel, M. (2004) Attention capture and transfer in advertising: Brand, pictorial, and text-size effects. *Journal of Marketing*, 68(2): 36-50.
- Romaniuk, J. (2009) The efficacy of brand-execution tactics in TV advertising, brand placements and internet advertising. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 49(2): 143-150.
- Romaniuk, J. (2018) Building Distinctive Brand Assets. Victoria: Oxford University Press.
- Rossiter, J. R. & Bellman, S. (2005) *Marketing Communications: Theory and applications*. Frenches Forest: Pearson Education.
- Sargeant, A., Hudson, J. & West, D. (2008) Conceptualizing brand values in the charity sector: The relationship between sector, cause and organization. *The Service Industries Journal*, 28(5): 615-632.
- Schlinger, M. J. (1979) A profile of responses to commercials. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 19(2): 37-48.
- Sharp, B. (2010) How brands grow. In B. Sharp (Ed.), *How Brands Grow*: 16-27. South Melbourne: Oxford University Press.
- Sharp, B. (2013) Marketing: Theory, evidence, practice. Melbourne: Oxford University Press.
- Stride, H. & Lee, S. (2007) No Logo? No way: Branding in the non-profit sector. Journal of Marketing Management, 23(1-2): 107-122.
- Tapp, A. (1996) Charity brands: A qualitative study of current practice. *Journal of Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Marketing*, 1(4): 327-336.

- Tessitore, T. & Geuens, M. (2013) PP for 'product placement'or 'puzzled public'? The effectiveness of symbols as warnings of product placement and the moderating role of brand recall. *International Journal of Advertising*, 32(3): 419-442.
- Wang, A. & Muehling, D. D. (2010) The effects of audio-visual and visual-only cues on consumers' responses to co-branded advertising. *Journal of Marketing Communications*, 16(5): 307-324.
- Wedel, M. & Pieters, R. (2000) Eye fixations on advertisements and memory for brands: A model and findings. *Marketing Science*, 19(4): 297-312. Available at: <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/193263.</u>
- Wenham, K., Stephens, D. & Hardy, R. (2003) The marketing effectiveness of UK environmental charity websites compared to best practice. *International Journal of Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Marketing*, 8(3): 213-223. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/nvsm.214.
- Zajonc, R. B. (1980) Feeling and thinking: Preferences need no inferences. *American Psychologist*, 35(2): 151-175.
- Zielske, H. A. (1959) The remembering and forgetting of advertising. *Journal of Marketing*, 1: 239-243.

#### **ABOUT THE AUTHORS**

DR. CATHY NGUYEN is a Postdoctoral Research Fellow at the University of South Australia's Business School and a Senior Marketing Scientist at the Ehrenberg-Bass Institute. Cathy's research focus is on advertising effectiveness and branding. Her interests also include cause-related/charity marketing, co-branding, and word of mouth behaviour and measurement. Cathy's research has been published in peer-reviewed journals including Marketing Letters, International Journal of Market Research and Australasian Journal of Marketing. She has presented the Institute's work to industry and academic audiences throughout Australia, Asia, Europe and North America. Email: cathy.nguyen@marketingscience.info

DR. MARGARET FAULKNER is a Senior Marketing Scientist at the Ehrenberg-Bass Institute for Marketing Science, University of South Australia. Her work has been accepted for publication in the Nonprofit & Voluntary Sector Quarterly, Journal of Forecasting & Social Change, Marketing Letters, Journal of Nonprofit and Public Sector Marketing, Journal of Product & Brand Management, International Journal of Market Research and the Australasian Marketing Journal. Email: margaret.faulkner@marketingscience.info

# **APPENDIX:**

Charity Name
Amnesty International
Animal Welfare League
Australia United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees
Beyond Blue
Cancer Council
CanTeen
CARE Australia
Cerebal Palsy Alliance
Compassion Australia
Dementia Australia (formerly Alzheimer's Australia)
Dry July
Guide Dogs Australia
Kidney Health Australia
Lifeline
Make-A-Wish Australia
McGrath Foundation
Médecins Sans Frontières Australia   Doctors Without Borders
Movember
Oxfam
OzHarvest
Plan International Australia
Red Cross
Redkite
Ronald McDonald House Charity
Royal Flying Doctors Service
RSPCA
Salvation Army
Save the Children
Smith Family
St Vincent de Paul Society / Vinnies
Starlight Foundation
Stroke Foundation
The Fred Hollows Foundation
The Heart Foundation
UNICEF
Variety
Vision Australia
Wilderness Society
World Vision
World Wildlife Fund

Table 4: List of charities included in the analysis

# Social enterprises in the European Union and the Italian 2017 Social Enterprises Reform Act: A legal framework for other jurisdictions?

Alceste Santuari, Associate Professor, Department of Sociology and Business Law, University of Bologna

# Abstract

In Europe, social enterprises have gained unprecedented attention over the last two decades. As to the European Union, Directives and Social Funds Programmes have provided an enabling legal framework that has helped social enterprises to grow, especially as providers of welfare services. Many Member States of the EU have passed statutes providing for the legal features and the role of social enterprises, especially in the delivery of welfare services. As a member state of the European Union and hence pursuant to EU law, the Republic of Italy passed the 2017 Social Enterprises Reform Act. This includes some innovative provisions of social enterprises that may be of some interest to other jurisdictions.

# Keywords

Social enterprise; EU law; Italy; regulation; health and social care services; public authorities; social impact assessment

# Introduction

Social enterprises are hybrid organisations that combine social aims and private legal organisation (Haigh & Hoffman 2012). Social enterprises pursue public interest through the carrying out of economic activities on a steady and permanent basis (Ridley-Duff 2008; Petrella & Battesti 2014).

Social enterprises usually accomplish their social goals by delivering services of general interest (SGIs), including health and social care services (Roy et al. 2017), and integrated care services (Ham & Curry 2011; Ham 2019). These services are mostly delivered to local communities,

either as an alternative or as a complement to mainstream public provision, thus making a significant contribution to the overall health system (WHO 2019).

Social enterprises may also support the employment of people with disability through "Work Integration Social Enterprises" (WISEs) (Borzaga & Defourny 2001; Spear 2002; Davister et al. 2004; Vidal 2007; Gidron 2014; Anastasiadis & Mayr 2010; Anastasiadis 2016; Anastasiadis & Lang 2016;).

Since social enterprises pursue the public interest, regulation of their activities is expected to be effectively promoted (Orbach 2012; McGregor-Lowndes 2016; McGregor-Lowndes 2018; Stefanelli 2019). In this context, a set of principles specific to social enterprises (Garton 2018) has shaped the relevant legal framework, their organisational pattern as well as their relationships with public authorities worldwide (Kendall & Knapp 1993; Dunn 2000; Archambault 2015; Morris & Morgan 2017).

In Europe, the regulation of social enterprises is the direct consequence of a two-fold supporting legal framework that combines EU law and Member States' powers. On the one hand, the European Union has adopted both cross-border financial programmes and Directives to enhance the growth of social enterprises. Whereas the former has supported best practice in social enterprise to be spread across Europe, the latter has set out the EU legal environment for social enterprises. On the other hand, not only have Member States incorporated those Directives into their own legal systems, they have also autonomously enacted specific statutes to promote the development of social enterprises (Nicholls 2010), since Member States retain their own regulatory power over private organisations, including social enterprises, among others.

Against this background, the Italian 2017 Social Enterprises Reform Act is thus the outcome of the independent will of the Italian Parliament to revise and improve the legal regulation of social enterprises and of the commitment of Member States to comply with EU law.

This article endeavours to understand how both EU law and Italian regulation have shaped the organisation, the legal features and the role of social enterprises. Although the article will briefly refer to some differences between social enterprises and other non-profit organisations, it does not deal with the comparison between social enterprises and commercial for-profits competing in the market.

In detail, the article consists of seven sections. Section two sets out the role and the features of social enterprises. Section three analyses how social enterprises and their specific legal features have been recognised in Europe. Section four contains a brief analysis of how the role of the

non-distribution constraint in social enterprises is carried out. Section five identifies the links between the regulation of social enterprises and the powers of the European Union. Section six is concerned with the Italian Act that has reformed social enterprises. Finally, Section seven includes some concluding remarks.

### Social enterprises in Europe: Legal definition and features

In most European jurisdictions, social enterprises are legally recognised as business-driven organisations or entrepreneurial non-profit organisations pursuing social goals (Dart 2004; Leff 2018). This legal recognition is the effect of a special EU legal framework that has been elaborated along four key points (Lavišius 2016). The first point refers to the organisational features of social enterprises. The second relates to the legal definition of social enterprises and the necessary link between the entrepreneurial activities carried out and the pursuit of social goals that social enterprises must demonstrate (European Commission 2016). The third point deals with the legal notion of Services of General Interest (SGIs), which constitute a specific role for social enterprises in their provision. The fourth point of the EU legal framework is concerned with the recognition that municipalities and local health authorities are empowered to entrust public functions and tasks to social enterprises (Nicholls 2010; Macaulay et al. 2018).

As far as the first point is concerned, social enterprises are defined by a productive, entrepreneurial and market-oriented behaviour directed to mandating social good prioritization (Brakman-Reiser & Dean 2018). In this perspective, social enterprises also have a high propensity to innovate in the supply of integrated care services in areas such as the types of services provided, the target groups (often the more marginalised) benefiting and the organisation of the service provision itself (high attention to active policies and to the empowerment of users) (Metallo et al. 2016). In this respect, social enterprises show a particular attention to the creation of new jobs, especially for people with disability and the long-term unemployed. Moreover, social enterprises pay a great deal of attention to the local dimension of their activity and are therefore strongly linked with well-defined communities and understand their needs. Social enterprises are also defined by a high degree of financial autonomy deriving from their capacity to sell goods and services to the market.

Finally, social enterprises are characterised by a multi-stakeholder arrangement and by democratic governance: they consist of different categories of members, such as workers,

volunteers and service users, and their membership is based on the "one head, one vote" principle.

As to the second aspect, social enterprises fall under the legal category of small and medium enterprises (SMEs) (EU 2008 Small Business Act; European Commission 2013; European Economic and Social Committee 2016). This legal definition allows for social enterprises to be considered as operators in the social economy whose main objective is to have a social impact on local communities rather than making a profit for the benefit of their owners/shareholders (European Commission 2011). Local communities may be directly involved in the decision-making process regarding the production and provision of health and social care services. The community dimension of social enterprises, and the fact that they use their profits primarily to achieve social objectives, make these organisations particularly suitable to create new, inclusive employment programmes, to fight against poverty and social exclusion (Fonseca et al. 2018) and to promote social cohesion (Midiri 2017). Embedding the stakeholder dimension helps create close relationships with communities (Haigh & Hoffman 2012) and an overall supporting ecosystem (Carnini-Pulino, Maiolini & Venturi 2019).

The abovementioned goals fall under the EU legal definition of SGIs (European Commission 2004; 2011), which identify the third aspect that the EU legal framework has set out. SGIs are services that national governments and local authorities identify as benefitting the community at large and to ensure the realisation of individuals' fundamental rights, such as the right to health. These are to be easily accessible, affordable and guarantee an adequate level of user/patient protection (European Parliament 2016).

According to Article 14 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, which provides for the distribution of powers between the European Union and the Member States, Member States are responsible for outlining the legal and organisational framework for SGIs. Because the organisation and delivery of integrated care services fall under Member States' powers, Member States' legal systems have created a favourable legal environment within which social enterprises are preferred to deliver SGIs especially due to their legal and organisational features (Pirvu & Clipici 2016).

# Social enterprises and the role of the non-distribution constraint

When compared to traditional non-profit organisations, social enterprises are characterised by a more relaxed non-profit distribution constraint in the mind of the community. Notably, the non-distribution constraint binds traditional non-profit organisations not to share any profit among their directors, members or beneficiaries. Accordingly, the non-distribution constraint has traditionally provided assurance to donors, investors and other stakeholders about the pursuit of public interest thus increasing their reliability and reputation (Salamon & Anheier 1997, Mori 2018).

Yet over the last two decades, the non-distribution constraint has progressively faded away as the most important feature of non-profit organisations. These have increasingly been identified either with their social aim or their capacity for integrating persons with disability into economic and social participation. One of the reasons for the decreasing importance of the profit non-distribution constraint may be related to the organisation of welfare systems, in which the role of non-profit organisations and of governments significantly vary.

In the US, the role of private, non-profit organisations has been historically promoted (Salamon 1999), and reflects a long-standing American pattern of individualism. This approach has implied a minor role of government in ensuring social welfare protections and in the provision of welfare services (Salamon & Anheier 1997).

By contrast, in Europe, public authorities both organised and directly provided health and social care services for a long time. It is only with the 1970s crisis of traditional welfare state regimes that non-profit organisations started to gain an independent status. Accordingly, they have begun to take up different legal forms to provide health and social care services, either autonomously or in partnership with public authorities.

The different role of the government in the organisation and supply of health care services has affected the legal evolution of not-for-profit organisations and, consequently, of the non-distribution constraint. In the U.S. non-profits have been largely incorporated under the legal form of charitable foundations and corporations, which are defined by a stringent non-distribution constraint (Horwitz 2003; Hirth 1997). This has allowed them to be granted the tax-exempt status (Brody 1998) and thus to develop in many fields of community services, especially in the health care sector. However, even in the U.S. the progressive

commercialisation of many non-profit activities (Fox 2015; Langland-Orban et al. 2015; Giannelli 2016), along with a stronger emphasis on the purpose pursued, have ended up seeing a questioning of the actual capacity of the non-distribution constraint to satisfactorily differentiate between non-profit organisations and for-profits (Frank & Salkever 1994; Hansmann 1995). In recent years, closer analysis of the non-profit phenomenon has revealed that at least two other aspects distinguishing these organisations need to be considered, namely, their active role in delivering SGIs and the birth of new organisational forms. In the U.S. too, not only have some legislatures blurred commercial and charitable activities by permitting for-profit corporations to "pursue a social or environmental mission" (Reiser 2011; Brakman-Galle 2013; Fox 2015; Fici 2015; Murray 2015; Maier et al. 2016), there are also statutes that legally recognise the specific form of social enterprises where these organisations have significantly developed (Kerlin 2006; Defourny & Nyssens 2010).

In Europe, on the contrary, associations and co-operative societies have traditionally developed legal forms that are less grounded on the non-distribution constraint than on other organisational characteristics, such as democratic governance and multi-stakeholder membership, as is the case with social enterprises. The European legal framework concerning social enterprises proves that the loosening of the non-distribution constraint does not prevent SGIs being carried out, as long as the social and community mission of the organisation is clearly stated and pursued. This explains why social enterprises are recognised as organisations that pursue public interest by carrying out innovative health and community services on an entrepreneurial basis (Brakman-Reiser & Dean 2018).

In Australia, too, the non-distribution constraint represents one of the distinguishing features of charities (Charities Act 2013): it couples the pursuit of charitable purposes and of public benefit (McGregor-Lowndes 2016). This amounts to an obligation on the part of charities to use any profit made to further the aims or purposes of the organisation, which are supervised by a national regulatory agency (Murray 2014). Social enterprises have also significantly developed and they perform a wide set of activities and services, creating opportunities for community participation, among others (Barraket 2016). As in Europe, and in Italy particularly, the services that social enterprises carry out include projects and actions generating jobs and employment pathways for those most disadvantaged in the labour market (Barraket et al. 2017).

# Social enterprises and EU law: SGIs, the internal market rule and public procurement

The fourth aspect of EU enabling legal framework for social enterprises relates to the relationship between social enterprises and public authorities. This aspect deserves particular attention and understanding because it is genuinely European.

According to EU law, any economic activity is potentially subject to competition rules and public procurement law. Accordingly, health and social care services too might have an economic consideration. Yet the very same EU legal framework allows for some exceptions to competition rule, especially when services and activities are carried out to achieve public interest, like in the case of SGIs (Sauter 2012).

These services, which include health and social care services as well as the work of integration services, pursue a social mission that makes them fall out of the province of competition law (EU Directive 163/2006; Baeyens & Goffin 2013).

This exclusion implies that these services are neither subject to privatisation, liberalisation nor deregulation policies in the same way other services are. However, not only is public interest taken into account by EU law to justify the exception to market rules, the EU legal framework and many national legal systems are also aware that public procurement procedures must be consistent with public interest (Van de Gronden & Szyszczak 2014; Reynaers 2014; Marique & Van Garsse 2018).

In this perspective, Directive 2014/14/EU relating to public contracts has provided for a specific recognition of the peculiar features of SGIs. These allow national contracting authorities to reserve the provision of integrated care services to social enterprises, which then fall outside EU competition rules (Addicott 2011; Doherty et al. 2014; Grieco et al. 2015; European Commission 2015; 2013; Ramus & Vaccaro 2017). According to article 77, para. 2 of Directive 2014/14/EU social enterprises are regarded as organisations that comply with the following requirements (Ferroni 2018):

- a) their objective is the pursuit of a public service mission linked to the delivery of social, health and cultural services;
- b) their profits are reinvested with a view to achieving the organisation's objective. Where profits are distributed or redistributed, this should be based on participatory considerations;

c) their structures of management or ownership are based on employee ownership or participatory principles, or require the active participation of employees, users or stakeholders.

To ensure a minimum degree of competition, Directive 2014/24/EU provides that the selected social enterprise must not have been awarded a contract for the services concerned by the contracting authority within the previous three years. Furthermore, the maximum duration of the contract cannot be longer than three years. The combination of these two last provisions risk endangering the delivery of integrated services especially in the case of users/patients who need steady-basis care programmes.

In the light of the above, Member States are required to award public contracts according to the most economically advantageous tender (EU Directive 2014/24). This criterion implies a significant emphasis on service quality as well as on social and environmental clauses. These clauses may vary from the use of environment-friendly materials to the obligation on the part of the awarded organisation to keep a number of the incumbent employees. All of these criteria are considered to be consistent with the pursuit of public interest, which public authorities may decide to delegate via public procurement tenders.

Added to the provision of integrated care services, Directive 2014/24/EU also supports social enterprises carrying out work-integration projects for disadvantaged people by reserving to them the delivery of public contracts implying the development of sheltered workshops programmes.

This EU enabling legal framework has increasingly encouraged public authorities to involve social enterprises in supplying SGIs, either through outsourcing or by entering public-private partnerships (PPPs) with them (Auby 2010; EU Directive 2014/24; Ludlow 2014; Peterson et al. 2015).

# The legal recognition of social enterprises in Italy: The 2017 Social Enterprises Reform Act

The Italian non-profit sector (as of October 2017, there were 16,918 social cooperatives, 1,874 social enterprises and 11,940 market-oriented non-profit organisations: Venturi 2017) long awaited a comprehensive reform. In particular, Italian non-profits called for a legal framework allowing them to be more upfront in organising, managing and delivering SGIs. The 1942 Civil

Code, which partly still encompasses a number of legal provisions concerning foundations and associations, does not expressly allow these non-profit entities to carry out economic activities or deliver welfare services (Santuari 2018).

The legislative response to this demand came with the passing of the 2017 Social Enterprises Reform Act that resulted from the comprehensive 2016 Third Sector Organisations Reform Act. The 2017 Act provides for non-profit organisations to pursue social aims, such as the delivery of welfare and community services among others, by carrying out steady and clear-cut economic activities.

The 2017 Act sets out a clear legal framework by which both companies and associations/foundations can be incorporated under the legal form of social enterprises to pursue a social mission while performing a wide range of activities of general interest. These include healthcare and social services, work-integration for disadvantaged people, social housing, social tourism, services for migrants, social campaigning and international cooperation, among others. Social enterprises are requested to implement a democratic and multi-stakeholder governance model as well as to disclose a social balance-sheet and to be willing to undertake a social impact assessment. Moreover, social enterprises cannot either distribute any profit or, alternatively, can only distribute it to a very limited extent.

Pursuant to EU law, the 2017 Social Enterprises Reform Act intends to empower and, accordingly, to entrust social enterprises with the accomplishment of all those activities that may have a significant impact on local communities (European Commission 2011). In this regard, not only may public authorities involve social enterprises in the co-provision of SGIs, social enterprises may also be requested to take part in commissioning public interventions. It is noteworthy that commissioning is usually a unique responsibility of public bodies, thus leaving to non-profit organisations the role of contracted-out providers. By contrast, the possibility for social enterprises to be engaged in the co-programming function enables them to contribute to the definition of the health and social needs. In this perspective, through coprovision, social enterprises and public authorities jointly decide the services to deliver, the actual ways of supplying them, as well as the financial resources needed. The combination mix of co-programming and co-provision of welfare services allows public authorities to engage social enterprises in legal and administrative procedures whereby they can perform innovative and experimental activities and projects. Within the EU law framework, the 2017 Act empowers local health authorities to directly invite social enterprises operating and rooted in a given area to enter public-private partnerships or to be entrusted with a public benefit function, mainly

through licensing. In this respect, article 55, para. 3 of the 2017 Third Sector Organisations Code provides licensing as the preferred legal solution for the selection of social enterprises since it allows for a better assessment of quality and skills, along with the capacity of social enterprises to estimate their own investments in the health and social care sectors.

The intention of the 2017 Act is to secure the engagement of social enterprises provided that they are capable of proving a democratic governance model. This implies that all the different stakeholders are involved in a democratic decision-making process. The 2017 Act refers to comanagement and to the multi-stakeholder dimension of social enterprises as essential features of their legal status (Adams & Deakin 2017). Accordingly, a social enterprise by-law must provide for the direct engagement of workers, users, financiers, volunteers, private companies and public authorities. All these categories of stakeholders are to be heard, consulted and called upon to take part in the decision-making process, especially when the decisions affect work conditions and the quality of the services supplied (Fici 2018; Gori 2018). Needless to say, the implementation of this model, which has no comparison with other enterprises except for social co-operatives, is no easy task. In the delivery of SGIs, for example, workers may seek pay increases, whereas users'/patients' families may by contrast aim to reduce the costs of services, which could have a negative impact on workers' wages.

Furthermore, the Act under consideration requires social enterprises to subject their activities, projects and programmes to a social impact assessment system. This measures how and what kind of social outcomes social enterprises generate for local communities. In this respect, social enterprises are called upon to prove that their activities produce and distribute both economic and social value; efficiency alone is no longer sufficient to build competitiveness and sustainability (Carnini-Pulino, Maiolini & Venturi 2019).

The 2017 Social Enterprises Reform Act provides that public authorities implement social impact assessment systems to engage social enterprises in the delivery of SGIs, given their complexity, durability and economic relevance.

Finally, the 2017 Act includes a significant innovation which consists of the possibility for social enterprises to distribute profits among their shareholders up to a limited cap. Such a provision warrants that a partial distribution of profits can be consistent with meeting the general interest and may represent an effective driver to attract private investors to support the public purposes of social enterprises (Fici 2016). Together with the legal recognition of a

relaxed non-distribution constraint, the 2017 Act also provides for a "no-tax" area for any profit that is re-invested in the organisation's activities and a 30% return on investors' revenue.

Overall, the 2017 Social Enterprises Reform Act strikes a balance between two rights that are enshrined in the Italian Constitution and which are usually interpreted as being opposed to each other. On the one hand, Article 2 sets out the solidarity character of the Italian welfare state, namely, the obligation on the part of both public bodies and agencies and non-profit organisations to remove any obstacle that might prevent citizens/users from accessing equitable and affordable social and healthcare services. On the other hand, the 2017 Social Enterprises Reform Act recognises freedom of private enterprises, which is included in Article 41 of the Italian Constitution. In particular, the 2017 Act provides that private enterprises can also be engaged to pursue the public interest. Due to their social mission and internal organisation, social enterprises contribute to the social achievement that Article 2 provides for.

This reconciliation between economic drivers and public interest within a legal form enables social enterprises to represent an adequate legal solution in which entrepreneurial risks couple with actions, projects and activities that are aimed at strengthening and enforcing individuals' social and health rights (Balduzzi 2012; Belletti 2014). In accomplishing this purpose, social enterprises, especially thanks to their economic nature, are apt to be partners of local health authorities, which can contract out services to them or enter steady partnership agreements with them. In this regard, it is noteworthy that the 2017 Social Enterprises Reform Act provides that the entrepreneurial nature of social enterprises is preserved and guarded even if they include public authorities and private companies as members. In fact, these stakeholders can neither take over social enterprises, nor have control over them. This represents a remarkable legal provision because it allows the build-up of steady partnerships within the same legal form without hampering the genuine nature of social enterprises.

## Some concluding remarks

This article endeavoured to demonstrate that the 2017 Social Enterprises Reform Act represents a piece of legislation that, firstly, allows local health authorities to discriminate between different organisational and governance models to select the most appropriate one to comply with their public obligations. Secondly, the 2017 Act empowers public authorities to develop innovative tender arrangements and procurement procedures. These can be simultaneously fully respectful of the non-profit form and of the social aims that these organisations are called upon

to accomplish. Thirdly, the 2017 Act makes social enterprises subject to an overall system of social impact assessment. Fourthly, it enlarges the sphere of activities that only social enterprises are entitled to carry out in pursuing the public interest, thus offering legal and organisational models with which to match citizens' social and health needs. Lastly, the Act helps to depict a legal pattern that allows for the growth of "relationship independence", which is aimed at ascertaining equal relationships between different public and private interests within a plural society.

Overall, the 2017 Act favours the development of social enterprises and nudges their performances as economic and social operators. In this respect, the 2017 Social Enterprises Reform Act definitely marks an important step on the progressive legal recognition of the role and functions of entrepreneurial non-profit organisations sharing with public authorities the responsibility to accomplish social and community goals.

In the light of the aforementioned provisions, it is reasonable to question whether the 2017 Social Enterprises Reform Act constitutes a benchmark for other jurisdictions? The answer is in the affirmative for at least three distinct reasons. The first is to be identified with freedom of choice: namely that all non-profit organisations and companies can adopt the social enterprise model. On the one hand, this is an incentive for those non-profit organisations that "feel" ready to switch over to something more entrepreneurial. Although not all non-profit organisations may be ready or be willing to adopt the social enterprise form, which often requires a move from volunteer-based structures to running some economic risks, this freedom of choice might be an effective driver for many traditional non-profits to scale up, strengthen and improve their activities, thus contributing to improve local welfare systems.

On the other hand, commercial companies that decide that their ultimate aim is not to make a profit or, if any, only to a limited extent, might decide to take on the social enterprise form to blend a structured and organised legal model to the pursuit of the public interest.

The second reason is in supporting public authorities to overcome red tape procedures and sometimes false competitions to engage in legal and administrative techniques whereby they can properly assess and evaluate the contribution of social enterprises. This does not have to amount to a breach of their obligations of transparency and accountability.

The third reason deals with social impact assessment. This might turn out to be a powerful tool in the hands of both public authorities and of the various stakeholders. They will be capable of measuring the actual benefits and outcomes that social enterprise activities produce for local communities. Such a measuring system is also expected to overcome the strict and often disproportionate public procurement procedures. The social impact assessment system may actually help contracting authorities in evaluating effectiveness, sustainability and efficiency, which usually cannot be assessed through the ordinary legal provisions included in public tenders.

Finally, the 2017 Act may stand a closer comparison with different jurisdictions that share almost the same characteristics of this specific kind of non-profit organisation (Fici 2016).

\* This article partly builds on an earlier version presented at the Social Business Academia Conference on 7th November 2018 in Wolfsburg (Germany). I wish to thank my colleagues Professors Federica Bandini and Professor Giuseppe Torluccio of the Yunus Social Business Centre at the University of Bologna for inviting me to draft this article. I am also in debt to Professor Gianluca Fiorentini of the University of Bologna, Professor Markus Frischhut of the Management Centre Innsbruck, Professor Matthew Harding of the University of Melbourne, Professor Dana Brakman Reiser of the Brooklyn Law School and Professor André Den Exter of the Erasmus University Rotterdam for their inspiring comments. The usual disclaimer applies.

#### REFERENCES

- Adams, Z. & Deakin, S. (2017) Enterprise Form, Participation, and Performance in Mutuals And Co-Operatives. In J. Michie, J. Blasi & C. Borzaga (eds.), *The Oxford Handbook* of Mutual, Co-operative, and Co-owned business, Chapter 12. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Addicott, R. (2011) Social Enterprise in Health Care. London: The King's Fund
- Anastasiadis, M. (2016) Work integration social enterprises in Austria: Characteristics, evolution and perspectives. *Nonprofit Policy Forum*, 7(4): 541-547.
- Anastasiadis, M. & Lang, R. (2016) Social Enterprise In Austria: A Contextual Approach to Understand an Ambiguous Concept. ICSEM Working Paper No. 26.
- Anastasiadis M. & Mayr, A. (2010) Ecologically Oriented Work Integration Social Enterprises: Inventory of organizations in Austria that act socially, economically and ecologically sustainably. Graz: University of Graz.
- Archambault, E. (2015) France: A late-comer to government-nonprofit partnership. *Voluntas*: *International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations*, 26(6): 2283-2310.
- Auby, J. B. (2010) Contracting Out and 'Public Values': A theoretical and comparative approach. In P. Lindseth & S. Rose-Ackerman (eds.), *Comparative Administrative Law*. Ashgate.

- Baeyens, A. & Goffin, T. (2013) Federation of private rest homes of Belgium ASBL v. Common Community Commission of Brussels (C-57/12). *European Journal of Health Law*, 20.
- Balduzzi, R. (2012) Essential Levels and Available Resources: Healthcare as a paradigm. In C.
  Bottari, F. A. Roversi-Monaco (eds.), *The Protection Of Health Between User Guarantees And Budget Needs*. Maggioli: Rimini
- Barraket, J., Douglas, H., Eversole, R., Mason, C., McNeill, J. & Morgan, B. (2017) Classifying social enterprise models. *Australia Social Enterprise Journal*, 13(4): 345-361.
- Barraket, J. (2016) The state of social enterprises in Australia. *Third Sector Review*, 22(2): 71-79.
- Belletti, M. (2014) Essential Levels of Performance to the Test of the Coordination of Public Finance: In Search of the Lost "Equalization". In M. Sesta (ed.), *The Provision Of Medical Services Between The Right To Health, The Principle Of Self-Determination And Optimal Management Of Health Resources*. Maggioli: Rimini.
- Borzaga, C. & Defourny, J. (2001) The Emergence of Social Enterprise. London: Routledge.
- Brackman-Reiser, D. & Dean, S. A. (2018) *Social Enterprise Law*. Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Brackman-Reiser, D. (2011) Benefit corporations: A sustainable form of organization? *Wake Forest Law Review*, 46: 591-625.
- Brody, E. (1998) Of sovereignty and subsidy: Conceptualizing the charity tax exemption. *Journal of Corporation Law*, 23(4): 585-629
- Carnini-Pulino S., Maiolini R. & Venturi P. (2019) Social entrepreneurship policy: Evidences from the Italian reform. *Foresight and STI Governance*, 13(3): 77-88.
- Dart, R. (2004) Being "business-like" in a nonprofit organization: A grounded and inductive typology. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 33(2): 290-310.
- Davister, C., Defourny, J. & Gregoire, O. (2004) Work integration social enterprises in the European Union: An Overview of Existing Models. EMES. European Research Network Working Paper No. 4.
- Defourny, J. & Nyssens, M. (2010) Conceptions of social enterprise and social entrepreneurship in Europe and the United States: Convergences and divergences. *Journal of Social Entrepreneurship*, 1(1): 32-53.
- Doherty, B., Haugh H. & Lyon, F. (2014) Social enterprises as hybrid organizations: A review and research agenda. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 16: 417–436
- Dunn, A. (2000) The Voluntary Sector, the State and the Law. Oxford: Hart Publishing.
- European Commission (2011) Communication on the Social Business Initiative. Available at: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/internal\_market/social\_business/docs/COM2011\_682</u>. [Accessed 27th January 2019]
- Ferroni, M. V. (2018) Reliance on third sector entities and the Code of Public Contracts: The actuality of the law. *Nomos*, 2.
- Fici, A. (2015) Functions and models of social enterprise discipline in a comparative perspective. *Jus Civile*, 9: 475.
- Fici, A. (2016) Functions and Models of Social Enterprise Discipline In A Comparative Perspective. In A. Fici (ed.), Law of the Social Economy: Italian and European Theories, Trends and Perspectives. Naples.
- Fici, A. (2018) The new discipline of social enterprise in the perspective of its various stakeholders. *The Social Enterprise*, 11.
- Fonseca, X., Lukosch S. & Brazier F. (2018) Social cohesion revisited: A new definition and how to characterize it. *Innovation: The European Journal of Social Science Research*, 1: 1469-8412.
- Fox, D. M. (2015) Policy commercializing nonprofits in health: The history of a paradox from the 19th century to the ACA. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 93 (1): 180.
- Frank, R. G. & Salkever, D. S. (1994) Nonprofit organisations in the health sector. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 8(4): 129-144.
- Galera, G. (2017) Social solidarity co-operatives. An international perspective. In J. Michie, J.
  Blasi & C. Borzaga (eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Mutual, Co-operative, and Co-owned business, Chapter 12*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Garton, J. (2018) Principles of regulation of not-for-profits. In M. Harding (ed.), *Research Handbook on Not-for-profit Law*. London: Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Giannelli, N. (2016) Health systems in the United States, Germany, United Kingdom: Market, redistribution and reciprocity. *Administer*, 149.
- Gidron, B. (2014) Market-oriented social enterprises employing people with disabilities: A participants' perspective. *Journal of Social Entrepreneurship*, 5 (1).
- Gori, L. (2018) From social enterprise to "social enterprises": The problematic plurality of regulatory models of social enterprise in the reform of the third sector, XII Scientific Dialogue on Social Enterprises. Trento, Italy, 25 May. Trento: 9-10.
- Grieco, C., Michelini, L., Michelini, G. & Iasevoli, G. (2015) Measuring value creation in social enterprises: A cluster analysis of social impact assessment models. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 44(6): 1173-1193.
- Haigh, N. & Hoffman A. J. (2012) Hybrid organizations: The next chapter of sustainable business. *Organizational Dynamics*, 41: 126-134.
- Ham, C. (2018) Making sense of integrated care systems, integrated care partnerships and accountable care organisations in the NHS in England. London: King's Fund.
- Ham, C, & Curry, N. (2011) Integrated care. What is it? Does it work? What does it mean for the NHS? London: The King's Fund.
- Hansmann, H. B. (1980) The role of nonprofit enterprise. Yale Law Journal, 89.
- Hazenberg, R. K. & Hall, K. (2013) Public service spin-outs in the UK: Towards a theoretical understanding of the spin-out process, 4th EMES European Research Network International Research Conference on Social Enterprise, University of Liege, Belgium, 01-04 July.
- Hirth, R. (1997) Competition between for-profit and nonprofit health care providers: Can it help to achieve social goals? *Medical Care Research and Review*, 1: 414-438.
- Horwitz, J. R. (2003) Why we need the independent sector: The behaviour, law, and ethics of not-for-profit hospitals. *UCLA Law Review*, 50(6): 1346.

- Langland-Orban, B., Large, J. T., Sear, A. M., Zhang, H. & Zhang, N. (2015) Operating profitability of for-profit and not-for-profit Florida community hospital during Medicare policy changes 2000 to 2010. *The Journal of Health Care Organization*, *Provision, and Financing*, 1: 1-7.
- Leff, B. M. (2018) The Boundary Between Not-For-Profits and Business Sectors: Social Enterprise and Hybrid Models. In M. Harding (ed.), *Research Handbook on Not-forprofit Law*: 171-188. London: Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Lavišius, T. (2016) Social enterprises: Does the legal form matter? *Social Transformations in Contemporary Society*, 1(4): 132-141.
- Ludlow, A. (2014) The public procurement rules in action. *The Cambridge Yearbook of European Legal Studies*, 19.
- Kendall, J. & Knapp, M. (1993) *Defining the Nonprofit Sector: The United Kingdom*. Johns Hopkins Comparative Nonprofit Sector Project Working Paper No. 5.
- Kerlin, J. A. (2006) Social enterprise in the United States and Europe: Understanding and learning from the differences Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations, 17: 246.
- Macaulay, B., Mazzei, M., Roy, M. J., Teasdale, S. & Donaldson, C. (2018) Differentiating the effect of social enterprise activities on health. *Social Science and Medicine*, 200: 211-217.
- Marique, Y. & Van Garsse, S. (2018) Public private partnerships: Innovation in administrative law required? Comparison lessons from public contracts. *European Public Law*, 24 (Special issue)
- McGregor-Lowndes, M. (2016) Lawyers, reforms and regulation in the Australian third sector. *Third Sector Review*, 22(2): 33-44.
- McGregor-Lowndes, M. (2018) An Overview of the Not-For-Profit Sector. In M. Harding (ed), *Research Handbook on Not-For-Profit Law.* London: Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Metallo, G., Cuomo, M. T., Tortora, D. & Galvin, M. (2016) Innovation networks and social enterprises: A social network analysis of the third sector in Italy. *Rivista Piccola Impresa*, 3: 47.
- Midiri, F. (2017) Local public services with no economic interest between national legislator and European jurisprudence. *Federalismi*, 11.
- Mori, P. A. (2018) Non-profits and the Profit Non-Distribution Constraint with Selfish Entrepreneurial Motivations. Eurikse Working Paper No. 100-18.
- Morris, D. & Morgan, G. G. (2017) Strengthening charity regulation in England and Wales? The Charities (Protection and Social Investment) Act 2016 and the impact of academic witnesses. *Voluntary Sector Review*, 8(1): 89-106.
- Murray, H. (2015) Corporate Forms of Social Enterprise: Comparing the state statutes. Available at: www.ssrn.com.
- Murray, I. (2014) The Australian charities and not-for-profits commission: Reform or unreform? *Charity Law and Practice Review*: 151-171.
- Nicholls, A. (2010) Institutionalizing social entrepreneurship in regulatory space: Reporting and disclosure by community interest companies. *Accounting, Organizations and Society*, 35(4): 394-415.
- Orbach, B. (2012) What is regulation? Yale Journal on Regulation, 30: 1-2.

- Peterson, O. H., Houlberg, K. & Christensen, L. R. (2015) Contracting out local services: A tale of technical and social services. *Public Administration Review*, 567.
- Petrella, F. & Richez-Battesti, N. (2014) Social entrepreneur, social entrepreneurship and social enterprise: Semantics and controversies. *Journal of Innovation Economics and Management*, 2(14).
- Pirvu, D. & Clipici, E. (2016) Social enterprises and the EU's public procurement market. Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations, 27: 1611-1637.
- Ramus, T. & Vaccaro, A. (2017) Stakeholders matter: How social enterprises address mission drift. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 143(2): 307–322.
- Reynaers, A. M. (2014) Public values in public-private partnerships. *Public Administration Review*, 42.
- Ridley, R. & Duff, R. (2008) Social enterprise as a socially rational business. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behaviour and Research*, 14(5): 291-312.
- Salamon, L. M. & Anheier, H. K (1997) Defining the Nonprofit Sector: A Cross-

national Analysis. Manchester: Manchester University Press.

- Salamon, L. M. (1999) America's Nonprofit Sector. A rimer. 2nd edn. The Foundation Center.
- Santuari, A. (2018) Non-profit Organizations and Forms of Partnership With Public Bodies in the Reform of the Third Sector. Bononia: Bononia University Press.
- Sauter, W. (2012) *The Impact of EU Competition Law on National Healthcare Systems*. Tilburg Law School Legal Studies Research Paper Series No. 12-1.
- Spear, R. (2002) National Profiles of Work Integration Social Enterprises: United Kingdom. EMES European Research Network.
- Stefanelli, M. A. (2019) Administrative burdens and small business: A public administration for small business. *Federalismi*, 3: 1-13.
- Van De Gronden, J. & Szyszczak, E. (2014) Introducing competition principles into health care through EU law and policy: A case study of the Netherlands. *Medical Law Review*, 22(2): 238-254.
- Venturi, P. (2017) *Potential Value of Social Enterprise: Social Impact Agenda for Italy*. Rome: University of Rome.
- Vidal, I. (2007) Social enterprise and social inclusion: Social enterprises in the sphere of work integration. *International Journal of Public Administration*, 28: 807-825.
- World Health Organisation (WHO) (2019) Regional Office for Europe, Economic and Social Benefits of Health Systems Report 2019. NY: World Health Organisation.

### **ABOUT THE AUTHOR**

ALCESTE SANTUARI is Associate Professor of Law & Economics at the University of Bologna (Italy). He lectures in Non Profit Law, International Law & Health, Public-Partnership Law and Business Law. He has written a significant number of books and articles, including

international and comparative ones, relating to nonprofit organisations, social enterprises, health and social services systems, with special reference to the relationships between nonprofit organisations and public authorities. He serves on several supervisory committees of both public and nonprofit organisations operating in the health care sector. He is a member of the European Health Law Association. He serves as Secretary-General of the European Association of Patients of Thermal Centres. Email: alceste.santuari@unibo.it

# Measuring and accounting for outcomes in Australian human services charities

Sarah Adams, Australian National University

Lydia Kilcullen, UWA Business School, University of Western Australia

Zoe Callis, Centre for Social Impact, UWA Business School, University of Western Australia

Paul Flatau, Centre for Social Impact, UWA Business School, University of Western Australia

# Abstract

In this paper, we investigate the practices of outcomes measurement and outcomes reporting among charities in the Australian human services sector. Motivated by a succession of regulations around the world that promote outcomes-based reporting and decision-making, we investigate, in the case of human services charities: (1) the users of outcomes measurement; (2) the purpose of outcomes measurement; (3) the readiness to measure outcomes; and, (4) the public reporting on outcomes. Our analysis draws on a survey of human services charities in Western Australia. We show that outcomes reporting is driven by identity and upwards accountability rather than downwards accountability, particularly among small charities. While measuring outcomes was common in our sample, especially among large organisations, these outcomes are not often publicly reported. We suggest that practical barriers may be impeding progress on improving outcomes reporting, raising issues about reporting quality. These findings raise important questions about the role and implications of standardisation for outcomes measurement and reporting, which may help to inform future regulatory efforts.

## Keywords

Accounting standards, outcomes measurement, performance assessment, outcomes reporting, human services charities

### Introduction

There is growing pressure from funders, regulators and beneficiaries on charities to demonstrate how their efforts 'make a difference' to those they serve, and to prove that their actions are both effective, and efficient (Martin et al. 2010; Wimbush 2011; MacIndoe & Barman 2012; Flatau et al. 2015). One approach to addressing this pressure is by introducing or expanding upon outcomes measurement, which can be used by organisations to better understand the impact of their operations and to improve effectiveness and cost-efficiency (Houchin & Nicholson 2002; Sowa et al. 2004). There is an emerging international literature pointing to an increased use of outcomes measurement in the charity sector (Hall al. 2003; Carman & Fredericks 2010; LeRoux & Wright 2010; Mayhew 2012; Harlock 2013; Ebrahim & Rangan 2014; Benjamin et al. 2018).

We seek to contribute to this literature by addressing an important gap; namely, the external reporting and public disclosure of outcomes measurement by charities. Our study is prompted, in part, by movements by regulatory agencies and accounting standard-setting bodies around the world to promote an outcomes-based approach to funding and managing not-for-profit organisations. In the UK, the Public Service (Social Value) Act (2012) requires commissioners to consider social value alongside value-for-money when making procurement decisions. The US Government Performance and Results Modernization Act (2010) requires agencies to define and make decisions using outcomes-based measures linked to their goals and objectives. In New Zealand, new charity reporting requirements were introduced by the External Reporting Board in 2015 that compel some not-for-profits to disclose 'performance reports' to maintain their charitable registration. Each of these developments places new demands on not-for-profit organisations to provide information about their performance beyond the limits of financial statements. They also reflect broader efforts by government agencies to encourage or formalise outcomes-based modes of managing and measuring the performance of not-for-profit organisations. As much of the extant literature concentrates on patterns of outcomes measurement in voluntary settings, our study explores outcomes reporting as it moves toward standardisation and formalisation.

In particular, using a survey we gather evidence on outcomes measurement and outcomes reporting among human services charities in Western Australia (WA). In the WA context, our interest was prompted by the 2011 *Delivering Community Services in Partnership (DCSP) Policy* adopted by the WA government, which (in part) sought to link funding of community

services by government with measured outcomes instead of measures of activity or outputs. In addition, our study was also motivated by the *Exposure Draft 270 Reporting Service Performance Information (ED270)* by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB 2015) which sought to formalise an accounting standard on extended reporting about 'service performance objectives' among not-for-profit organisations. We identify that outcomes are one type of reporting information that could be disclosed publicly under this new standard. In this study, we match our survey data with information from the national charities register (the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profit Commission), and publicly reported information by the human services charities.

We use this data to respond to four questions. First, who are the main users of outcomes measurement information provided by human services charities? Second, what are the purposes and reasons driving human services charities to undertake outcomes measurement? These research questions are motivated by previous literature which has shown that there are multiple users of outcomes information, and that different users are associated with different patterns in outcomes measurement practices (Barman & MacIndoe 2012). Third, we ask what is the status in terms of human services charities readiness and capacity for measuring and reporting on their outcomes? Finally, we ask whether human services charities are reporting on their outcomes, and, if so, to what extent and through what medium is reporting occurring?

Our findings provide evidence that calls into question assumptions about the user of outcomes measurement information, and identifies systematic barriers that impede the ability of human services charities to measure outcomes. This provides valuable evidence to policy makers as they continue efforts to encourage and formalise this new form of reporting. Our study also contributes to the broader academic scholarship of charities by extending research on outcomes measurement into how, why, and to what extent outcomes are measured and subsequently reported in this sector.

### Background

External financial reporting in Australia is predominately guided by accounting standards developed by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) which adopts a transactionneutral approach to accounting standard-setting<sup>1</sup> and which generally requires private not-forprofit entities to apply the standards if they are 'reporting entities' as determined by the existence of external users of the entity's financial report (Carey et al. 2014). These reporting entities face more onerous financial reporting requirements than their counterparts<sup>2</sup> (Gilchrist & Simnett 2019).

In this context, in 2015, the AASB released Exposure Draft standard *ED270* proposing that private and public not-for-profit reporting entities present a range of service performance information about the efficiency and effectiveness of their activities in achieving their objectives. We are concerned here with the impact of the proposed standard on private not-for-profit entities. The AASB justified the proposed standard by claiming that "many existing disclosures focussed on financial aspects of performance, whereas non-financial aspects of private not-for-profit entities are often important to users", and that there is a risk that "information specific to private not-for-profit entities and needed by users was not being disclosed" (AASB 2015: 8).

*ED270* draws heavily from a 'recommended practice guideline' developed by the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board *RPG3: Reporting Service Performance Information* (IPSASB 2015). Following public consultation, the AASB is currently considering feedback and re-drafting the standard.

However, this exposure draft is of note as it represents an effort by the traditional accounting standard setter to formalise extended reporting beyond basic financial statements for not-for-profit entities (Gilchrist & Simnett 2019). It proposes that not-for-profit entities report on their objectives (referred to as 'service performance objectives'), and input, output and outcome data on the performance a not-for-profit seeks to achieve. That is, it is proposed that (in part) not-for-profit organisations publicly disclose the outcomes they wish to influence and their success in doing so through indicators of outcomes, efficiency and effectiveness.

### **Prior literature**

#### Users of and purposes for outcomes measurement

Financial accounting has developed around the principle that the primary user of financial reports is the capital provider and that the purpose of these reports is to provide relevant and reliable performance information about the financial performance of an entity (Zeff 2013). However, the public benefit purpose of charities has required a reimagining of the role of reporting in this context (Laughlin 2008; Ryan et al. 2014). In particular, it has been noted that

it is hard to clearly identify who the users of measurement and reporting in the charitable sector are, and what their informational needs may be (Gilchrist & Simnett 2019).

Instead, the reporting practices of charities tends to be conceptualised through the lens of accountability, which focuses on the reciprocity of relationships between an organisation and other parties in a social context. These relationships can, and do, vary in character and, therefore, the consideration of what is appropriate behaviour between these parties can also be different (Gray al. 2014). Each of these relationships has a moral dimension governed by the nature of that relationship, the actions expected by parties to the relationship and the context in which the relationship exists. This forms what Dillard (2007) describes as 'an ethic of accountability'.

One element of the ethic of accountability is the requirement to offer accounts which "explain oneself, to articulate one's intentions and aspirations, to offer detailed explanations of one's actions" (Gray et al. 2014: 267). This is the essence of accountability. Reporting represents a formal way that organisations may discharge this accountability to different stakeholders.

Several key accountability relationships have been highlighted in the previous literature with respect to the reporting practices of charities. Firstly, *upward accountability* (or patron accountability) suggests charities are primarily accountable to those who provide necessary resources required to be sustainable; this perspective implies that the primary user of accounts include donors, funders and regulators (Unerman & O'Dwyer 2010). The informational needs and preferences of funders have been shown to shape the outcomes measurement practices of charities in a variety of settings (Barman & MacIndoe 2012, Connolly & Hyndman 2013).

Previous studies have also shown that charities also undertake reporting and performance assessment practices because of *downwards accountability* – organisations are accountable for ensuring funds are spent effectively and towards societal improvement; implying that the primary user of reports is the beneficiary or communities in which organisations operate (Bagnoli & Megali 2011; Benjamin 2012). Unerman and O'Dwyer (2010) suggest that organisations responding to both upwards and downwards stakeholders are engaged in holistic accountability.

Third, *identity accountability* refers to values-based accountability about the purpose and activities of a charity (Ebrahim 2005, Unerman & O'Dwyer 2006, 2010). The user identity is less clear, but may be considered to be internal to the organisation and include those charged

with the responsibility to deliver an organisation's social mission or purpose such as internal staff and the board.

Previous literature has tended to emphasise the role of reporting as a function of upwards accountability, particularly towards large funders and donors. As most not-for-profits are reliant on external funding for their ongoing survival, the needs and wants of external funders have been shown to shape reporting including non-financial performance measurement practices such as outcomes measurement (MacIndoe & Barman 2012; Connolly & Hyndman 2013; AbouAssi 2014). The notion of the funder being the primary user of charity financial reporting remains dominant, despite calls for more attention to be placed on how reporting can be made more inclusive of other user needs, including downward accountabilities such as beneficiaries (Rasche & Esser 2006; Benjamin 2012).

Interestingly, the AASB *ED270* conceptualises the users of service performance reporting as "those stakeholders who cannot typically demand the information from the entity [including] resource providers such as taxpayers or donors and recipients of the goods and/or services provided" (AASB 2015: 31). Therefore, according to this standard, the primary user of the proposed new reporting will be those with downwards accountability, and small private funders (i.e. taxpayers and small donors) who are not able to demand reports individually.

Therefore, there are a variety of potential user groups of outcomes measurement information, with the proposed standard targeting users that have not been strongly linked to outcomes measurement in previous literature. We seek to empirically examine the concept of the user in the context of outcomes and the purposes surrounding outcomes measurement with the following research questions:

**Research Question 1 (RQ1):** What are the main purposes and users of outcomes measurement and reporting according to human services charities?

**Research Question 2 (RQ2):** What are the main purposes of outcomes measurement and reporting according to human services charities?

Readiness to report on outcomes measurement

We also explore the extent to which outcomes are understood, measured, and, publicly reported by human services charities. This is important as the preface to *ED270* suggests that "[nonfinancial] information... needed by users <u>was not being disclosed</u>". We investigate if this information is available: if it is being disclosed, or if it is not being prepared at all. This is an important contribution to an *ex ante* proposed standard like *ED270* – where there is limited evidence about the nature of current practice.

In a survey-based study of charities, Barman and MacIndoe (2012) examine this by exploring the unevenness of outcomes measurement through the lens of new institutionalism. They find that the adoption of outcomes measurement is driven by isomorphic pressures such as promulgation by key actors (consistent with resource dependency). However, they also find that organisations with capacity and specialised knowledge are better able to respond to these isomorphic pressures. This points to the importance of internal resourcing and capacity with respect to the practice of outcomes measurement, echoing the broad literature expressing concerns over resource limitations (Lecy & Searing 2014).

The existing literature also suggests that outcomes measurement can be challenging and complex for many organisations. Indeed, there has been rapid growth in the variety of tools, guides and methodologies to support outcomes measurement practice. Previous research has shown that this landscape of tools can be difficult to navigate due to diversity (Liket & Maas 2013). Cordery and Sinclair (2013) suggest that this is because different tools employ different measurement techniques while Willems et al. (2014) conceptualise these differences as a series of different judgements or 'trade-offs'. Others suggest this variation is driven by fundamentally different needs and philosophical positions about the value and role of evaluation and measurement in organisations (Hall 2012).

This is a significant issue as the accounting literature has well-established the importance of *quality* of information (Lambert et al. 2007). With such variation in practice, it is difficult to develop meaningful understanding of what quality may be in the context of outcomes measurement (Liket & Maas 2013). It is hard to ascertain the significance of these theories and challenges in the Australian context prior to standardisation because of the distinct lack of empirical data, despite the policy interest and possible future standardisation (Flatau et al. 2015). To contribute to the literature in these areas, and explore the foundations of practice in Australia prior to standardisation (if it occurs), we investigate the following research questions:

**Research Question 3 (RQ3):** Are outcomes being measured by human services charities, and what may be holding back the measurement of outcomes?

**Research Question 4 (RQ4):** Are measured outcomes being reported by human services charities? And if so, how are they being reported and to what extent?

### **Research methodology**

#### Research approach

To investigate our four research questions, we survey outcomes measurement practices among human services charities in WA and evaluate the extent to which outcomes are reported in publicly available documents by the responding organisations. We selected a survey approach as there is no extant data on the nature of outcomes measurement in this context, and a survey approach allows us to explore multiple dimensions of this practice. This is particularly important in the human services context, and in a geographically disperse location like WA, where diversity and fragmentation of organisations can mean organisations are easily excluded from face-to-face participatory methods. We supplement this data with publicly reported data from each organisation and data collected by the ACNC.

WA is a useful site to explore outcomes measurement because of a policy context conducive to outcomes measurement. In 2011, WA adopted the *Delivering Community Services in Partnership (DCSP) Policy*, which represented a whole-of-government approach to rebalancing the relationship between the public and not-for-profit sectors. One element of this policy is to promote the use of outcomes measurement in WA generally (Government of Western Australia 2011).

#### Sample

Our population was identified using the Australian Charities Register developed by the ACNC. This register collates data submitted via an Annual Information Statement (AIS) from each registered charity (ACNC 2016a). We collected the most recent data available at the time of undertaking the study, namely, data from 2013/14 that was reported in 2015. Ethics approval for the study was granted by the University of Western Australia Human Research Ethics Committee RA/4/1/7233.

To identify human services charities from the broader population of charities, we also filter by their self-declared 'main activity' listed on their AIS In developing our sample of human services charities, we follow the approach adopted by the Australian Council of Social Service (2014). They include organisations with main activities in the areas of: aged care activities; civic and advocacy; economic social and community development; emergency relief; employment and training; housing activities; income support and maintenance; international

activities; law and legal services; mental health and crisis intervention; other education; other health service delivery; and social services.

As the format for dissemination of the survey was email, we collected a contact email for each organisation. We supplemented missing data with manual search on each Australian Business Number (ABN) located on the ACNC 'Find a Charity' website (ACNC 2016b). Following this process, organisations with no email address were removed; organisations that were excluded from the public register were also not included. This yielded a potential population of 2,117 organisations. Our approach ensured that as many organisations as possible within our defined scope were given the opportunity to complete the survey.

Each of these human services charities were sent an email with the online survey link to be completed; the survey was open from December 2015 – April 2016. Follow up reminder emails were sent and follow-up phone calls were made using public information to encourage organisations to complete, or to follow-up on email bounce-backs.

A total of 407 surveys were started. However, 234 did not fully complete the survey, thus we received a total of 173 completed surveys from a total of 2,117 targeted organisations, yielding a survey completion rate of 8.2%. Four respondents were removed as we could not match the information to the ACNC register information, leaving a sample of 169 as the basis for all subsequent analysis. In the context of the diverse nature of charities, the survey completion rate of 8.2% is a reasonable response rate as a majority of Australian charities are considered economically insignificant as they have very low annual turnover and employ no staff (Productivity Commission 2010, Cortis et al. 2016). These resource-limited organisations may not have the capacity to spend time completing a survey.

Table 1, below, provides some basic descriptive information on the profile of our survey respondents compared with the corresponding annual data on charities provided by the ACNC. Our sample achieves coverage across the different sizes and areas of activities of our desired population. In Table 1 we split our organisations according to the small, medium and large categories used by the ACNC in 2016. This shows that 37.9% of organisations in our sample are considered small (with turnover under \$250,000 p.a.), underrepresenting the relative proportion of these organisations in Australia (at 67.0%). A further 21.3% are medium-sized with turnover of \$250,000 - \$1 million compared to the national percentage of 15.8%. Large organisations are over-represented in our sample, with 40.8% of our sample with annual

income over \$1 million, whereas the national value is 17.2%. This overall skew towards large organisations can be explained by the resource-limitations of small not-for-profit organisations.

Table 1. Respondent profile.

	Sample		Australia*
	n	%	%
Annual Turnover			
Small: annual income under \$250,000	64	37.9	67.0
Medium: annual income \$250,000 - \$1 million	36	21.3	15.8
Large: annual income over \$1 million	69	40.8	17.2
Main area of Activity			
Aged care activities	14	8.3	6.9
Civic and advocacy activities	10	5.9	3.5
Economic, social and community development	16	9.5	13.2
Emergency relief	21	12.4	8.4
Employment and training	10	5.9	3.0
Housing activities	10	5.9	4.6
Income support and maintenance	2	1.2	1.1
International activities	1	0.6	2.7
Law and legal activities	5	3.0	1.1
Mental health and crisis intervention	9	5.3	3.3
Social services	21	12.4	20.2
Other education	23	13.6	20.5
Other health service delivery	27	16.0	11.3
Total sample	169		

\*Data drawn from the corresponding annual data from the ACNC provided in Powell et al. (2017)

#### Survey development

Survey topics included organisational practices in outcomes measurement; views on outcomes measurement in the sector; barriers and challenges to outcomes measurement; reporting on outcomes; users and reasons for reporting; and demographic information including size, financial information, organisational age, staff levels, activities, nature of reporting entity, and

organisational information. We drew directly from the content of *ED270* for some questions and formulated our response fields for many descriptive characteristics from the demographic information used across the sector. Finally, to ensure the relevance of topic areas with little coverage in prior literature (i.e., barriers to practice in Australia) we also drew from a series of four roundtable discussions with 31 key stakeholders to discuss current practice and barriers for human services charities (these results were analysed qualitatively). These discussions included participants from community organisations (13 participants); peak bodies (7 participants); and state government (9 participants). Further, we pilot tested the survey with two peak bodies prior to dissemination.

In terms of research questions one and two (RQ1 and RQ2) we included in the survey the following questions:

#### Who are the users of information on your organisation's outcomes?

Respondents were asked to select for each user identified one option from: "NOT a user", "A CURRENT user", and "A POTENTIAL user". The list of identified users included options such as "Our front-line staff", "Our clients and/or beneficiaries", "Our Board", "Funders (i.e. grants and donors)", "Government" and "The General Public".

How important to your organisation's WA operations are the following reasons for using outcomes measurement?

For each identified reason, respondents were asked to select one of "Not at all important", "Somewhat Important", "Important", "Very Important", "Extremely Important". The list of reasons included options such as "For external reporting", "To meet funder needs", and "For internal decision-making and resource allocation". The survey also included questions relating to the extent of their outcomes measurement and the barriers to outcomes measurement which were relevant to RQ3.

#### Reporting data

For each respondent organisation, we also manually collected information on their public reporting practices. We collected all publicly available documents from the 2014/15 financial year including their AIS, financial statements, annual report, newsletters and webpage information. We sourced this information from the ACNC website, the organisations' websites, and the office of the registrar of Indigenous corporations (ORIC). From this data, we hand-coded the types of information that is disclosed by each human services charity – including

financial information, outputs and outcomes. The way that this information was disclosed was also collected in five categories: (1) the ACNC regulator report; (2) Annual Report; (3) Financial Report; (4) Webpage; (5) Newsletter. We then cross-referenced organisations that claimed to measure outcomes in the survey against those that publicly reported these outcomes according to our analysis. To examine the key determinants of whether organisations reported their outcomes in the public arena, a binary logistic regression analysis was conducted for those that had a website (n=137). The dependent variable was equal to 1 if the organisation reported their outcomes in the public arena; zero otherwise.

### Findings

#### RQ1 and RQ2: Users and Purpose of Outcomes Measurement

To answer these research questions, we firstly investigate views of respondents as to the current and potential users of outcomes information. Table 2 below, summarises the responses to this question. In this table, we also classify each user as internal or external, indicate if they are specifically identified as a user by *ED270* and rank them according to the percentage of the sample that deemed the user 'not a user'.

Our results show that human services charities prioritise different user groups. Five of the user groups are identified as a user by the majority (i.e. 50% or more) of the sample as current users – including our board (82.2%), our managers, senior managers and executives (81.7%), funders<sup>3</sup> (68.6%), government (60.9%) and our front-line staff and employees (58.0%). The importance of this group of users across the sample shows the significance of both identity accountability (represented by internal users such as the board and staff) and also upwards accountability (represented by funders and government), suggesting that these human services charities strongly experience these two forms of accountability which can be discharged by the transfer of information about outcomes.

Table 2. Users of outcomes information.

		Can	All (n=169)		
	Directio	command private	Not a	Curren t User	Potenti al User
User	n	information	user (%)	(%)	(%)
Our board	Internal	Yes	10.7	82.2	7.1
Our managers, senior managers and executives	Internal	Yes	12.4	81.7	5.9
Funders (i.e. grants and contracts)	External	Yes	21.3	68.6	10.1
Government	External	Yes	23.1	60.9	16.0
Our front-line staff and employees	Internal	No	30.2	58.0	11.8
Our members	Internal	Yes	40.2	43.2	16.6
*Our clients and/ or beneficiaries	External	No	43.2	29.6	27.2
Regulators	External	Yes	44.4	44.4	11.2
Our volunteers	Internal	No	45.0	37.9	17.2
Peak bodies	External	No /Yes	48.5	25.4	26.0
Other community organisations	External	No	49.1	24.9	26.0
Sponsors	External	Yes	56.2	23.7	20.1
*The general public	External	No	56.2	17.2	26.6
Large, individual donors	External	Yes	58.6	19.5	21.9
*Small donors (i.e. public fundraising)	External	No	61.5	16.6	21.9

\*identified as specific user in ED270

Also of note in Table 2 is that the three user groups targeted by *ED270* were far less likely to be identified as current users of outcomes information, including clients/beneficiaries (29.6%), the general public (17.2%) and small donors (16.6%). One possible explanation for this finding is that human services charities do not see the provision of outcomes information as an important mechanism by which to discharge downwards accountability.

Given these user groups are a significant focus for the impending standard, we investigate this data further by breaking down the results by size. Table 3, below, compares the results for these three questions by size of annual turnover. This shows that large organisations tend to classify clients as a current or potential user statistically significantly<sup>4</sup> more often than smaller organisations. That is, 65.6% of small organisations deem them 'not a user', compared with 27.5% of large organisations. Similar results are seen among the other two users identified in the standard – small donors and the general public – with small organisations more likely to identify them as 'not a user'. Together, these results show that while downwards

accountabilities were less likely drive the identification of as users of outcomes information by human services charities, this effect is more pronounced among smaller organisations.

Moreover, Table 3 also shows that large human services charities are more likely to rate these three user groups as 'potential users' than smaller organisations. For example, 40.6% of large organisations classified 'our clients and beneficiaries' as 'potential users', compared with smaller organisations, of whom only 12.5% considered them 'potential users'. Together with the earlier results, this shows that smaller organisations are more likely to consider these three user groups as 'not a user', but are also less likely to consider them as 'potential users'. Overall, this provides evidence to suggest that users associated with downwards accountability are less likely to be considered users of outcomes information, but that this result is particularly strong for smaller human services charities while large organisations see these as potential users.

	Small (<\$2 (n=64)	250,000	<b>p.a.</b> )		um (\$2: million 6)	· ·	Large millio (n=69	n	\$1 p.a.)	Potential User
		Cur	Pote		Cur	Pote		Cur	Pote	Pot
		r- ent	n- tial	Not a	r- ent	n- tial	Not a	r- ent	n- tial	ant
	Not a user	User	User	user	User	User	user	User	User	Significant
	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	Sig
Our clients and/ or										*
beneficiaries	65.6	21.9	12.5	33.3	38.9	27.8	27.5	31.9	40.6	
Small donors (i.e. public										*
fundraising)	70.3	20.3	9.4	52.8	16.7	30.6	58.0	13.0	29.0	-
The general public	70.3	20.3	9.4	50.0	19.4	30.6	46.4	13.0	40.6	*

Table 3: Users identified in ED270.

We further investigate the issue of the user of outcomes measurement information by asking human services charities about the purposes of measuring outcomes. Our findings across the full sample are presented below in Table 4. This table shows that the top three reasons for measuring outcomes are 'improving services and programs', 'planning and strategy', and 'internal decision-making and resource allocation'. These are all internal uses of this information, which align well with identity accountability where outcomes measurement is used as a way to improve performance and achieve better performance against mission. At the same time, however, an internal accountability such as improving services and programs can be viewed as a proxy for achieving better outcomes for the final beneficiaries of programs.

The two reasons linked to external accountabilities in this question – namely 'external reporting', and 'to meet funder needs' – were less important overall than the internal reasons related to identity accountability. Even less important were those reasons linked with individual staff accountabilities, with the reasons of 'internal reporting', 'motivating front-line staff' and 'for staff appraisal' rated overall as the least important. This suggests that identity accountabilities are currently a more important motivator for measuring outcomes than external reporting, and provide further support for our earlier conclusion.

	Importan (n=169)	ce			%
Orientation	Not at all	Somewhat	Important	Very	Extremely
Internal	8.9	4.1	17.2	26.6	43.2
Internal	10.1	8.3	23.1	28.4	30.2
and Internal	11.2	11.8	21.9	30.2	24.9
External	19.5	8.3	14.8	20.7	36.7
External	20.1	8.9	15.4	18.9	36.7
Internal	14.8	13.6	26.6	26.0	18.9
Internal	20.7	12.4	34.3	17.2	15.4
Internal	25.4	21.3	31.4	14.2	7.7
	Internal Internal and Internal External Internal Internal	InternalNot at allInternal8.9Internal10.1andInternal11.2External19.5Internal20.1Internal14.8Internal20.7	OrientationNot at allSomewhatInternal8.94.1Internal10.18.3andInternal11.211.8External19.58.3External20.18.9Internal14.813.6Internal20.712.4	Not at allSomewhatImportantInternal8.94.117.2Internal10.18.323.1andInternal11.211.821.9External19.58.314.8External20.18.915.4Internal14.813.626.6Internal20.712.434.3	Not at allSomewhatImportantVeryInternal8.94.117.226.6Internal10.18.323.128.4andInternal11.211.821.930.2External19.58.314.820.7External20.18.915.418.9Internal14.813.626.626.0Internal20.712.434.317.2

Table 4. Reasons for measuring outcomes.

We further explore the notion of the user through the concept of the reporting entity by asking "Is your organisation a reporting entity? (select Yes if there are external users that rely on your financial statements to make decisions, and don't have access to other reporting channels)". This is a useful addition to our analysis as it provides a third mechanism by which to explore whether there is demand for information on the human services charities (whether they have external users that require information). Less than half (40.8%) of our sample classified themselves as reporting entities, suggesting there were external users of information about their

organisation. Smaller organisations are significantly less likely to characterise themselves as a reporting entity than large organisations: 62.5% of the smaller organisations in our sample do not consider themselves as reporting entities, compared with 28.2% of large and 36.1% of medium sized organisations. This supports earlier findings about the external user that suggests that smaller human services charities are less likely to identify external users of information about their organisation (see Table 3).

#### **RQ3:** Measuring Outcomes

We approach RQ3 with data from three different survey questions that explore the readiness for outcomes measurement from different perspectives. First, we ask our respondents to describe the extent of their outcomes measurement; we supplement this with a subjective question about views on measurement of outcomes in the sector more generally. Finally, we investigate the barriers to further outcomes measurement. To assess the readiness of organisations for reporting on outcomes measurement, human services charities were asked to indicate how extensive their current outcomes measurement activities were. The results of this question are presented below in Table 5.

	Size			
	Small (	%) Medium (%)	Large (%)	Total (%)
We measure outcomes for	( <b>n=64</b> )	( <b>n=36</b> )	( <b>n=69</b> )	( <i>n=169</i> )
all activities	14.1	30.6	21.7	35(20.7%)
most activities	17.2	25.0	42.0	49(29.0%)
about half of activities	6.3	19.4	18.8	24(14.2%)
a small proportion of activities	4.7	11.1	5.8	11(6.5%)
none of our activities	57.8	13.9	11.6	50(29.6%)

Table 5. Extent of outcomes measurement

Most organisations reported undertaking outcomes measurement in some way, with only 29.6% of organisations not measuring outcomes for any of their activities while 20.7% claim to measure outcomes for all of their activities and 29.0% report measuring outcomes for 'most' of their activities.

Table 5 also shows that size is significantly<sup>5</sup> associated with the extent of outcomes measurement. Over half of the smaller organisations (57.8%) do not measure outcomes for any

of their activities; this is a far higher proportion that the relevant values for the medium (13.9%) and large (11.6%) organisations. Further, large organisations are more likely to measure outcomes more extensively, with 63.7% of large organisations claiming that they measure outcomes for 'all' (21.7%) or 'most' (42.0%) of their activities.

We further investigate the extent of outcomes measurement by presenting findings on four subjective questions probing views on outcomes measurement across the sector. These questions are scored on a five-point Likert scale (strongly disagree = 1, strongly agree = 5). Overall, there is a high level of confidence in how well their organisation understands its outcomes with 28.4% strongly agreeing, and 41.4% agreeing with the statement "our organisation understands its outcomes well". Interestingly, organisations believe they understand their outcomes significantly more (M = 3.88, SD = 0.94) than the community sector understands its own outcomes (M = 2.90, SD = 0.89); t(168) = 13.65, p <.001.

It was also found that, at both the organisational level and the sector level, the quality of measurement is perceived to be problematic. While 69.8% of the sample agree that they understand their outcomes (with 28.4% strongly agree and 41.4% agree), only 49.6% of those organisations that measure outcomes (n = 119) believe they do so well. This message is also carried over into responses on outcomes measurement in the sector generally. Those who reported measuring outcomes, on average, believe they do so better (M = 3.43, SD = 1.02) than the community sector in general (M = 2.70, SD = 0.86); t(118) = 8.00, p <.001. Overall, only 13.1% of the sample believe the community sector measures its outcomes well.

We further explore this issue by studying what is holding human services charities back from doing more outcomes measurement. To do this, we ask two sets of questions about the significance of a series of internal (i.e. organisational) barriers to outcomes measurement and the significance of broader (i.e. sector-level) barriers (Table 6).

	Full sam	)	
Significance to organisation	Not a barrier (%)	A small barrier (%)	A big barrier (%)
Internal barriers	`, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		
Lack of funding or access to resources	8.9	27.8	63.3
Lack of staff skills and capacity	18.3	42.0	39.6
Lack of established methodology or tool	28.4	36.7	34.9

Table 6. Internal barriers

	Full sample (n=169)		
Significance to organisation	Not a barrier (%)	A small barrier (%)	A big barrier (%)
Support and enlistment of all staff	34.9	45.6	19.5
Client, service and funder diversity	35.5	38.5	26.0
Participation of clients/ beneficiaries	39.6	36.1	24.3
Lack of interest or support from board/ senior management	68.6	20.1	11.2
Sector barriers			
Fragmentation of funding, accountability and outcomes	8.9	34.9	56.2
Lack of access to quality data	10.1	32.5	57.4
Measuring long-term change in the short term	11.2	30.8	58.0
Lack of guidance or standards on measurement	14.8	37.3	47.9
Inconsistent language and terminology	17.2	45.0	37.9
Participation by smaller organisations	24.9	46.7	28.4
Not safe to report or disclose negative outcomes or poor results	26.6	41.4	32.0
Growing importance of individualised funding mechanisms	27.8	43.2	29.0

According to the findings in Table 6, the biggest barriers for outcomes measurement are those of internal resourcing, capacity and skills. Specifically, the lack of funding or access to resources is identified as a big barrier by 63.3% of our sample. Two more themes also relate to the capacity of the organisation to measure outcomes including 39.6% who consider a lack of staff skills and capacity as a big barrier for their organisation. Taken together, these two top barriers show the challenges of the limited resources facing community sector not-for-profit organisations.

Table 6 also explores the relative importance of a range of 'sector' barriers. The most important barrier is a systemic, structural one: the fragmentation of funding, accountability, and outcomes sought in the not-for-profit sector where 56.2% of the sample identify this as a big barrier and 34.9% identify as a small barrier. Of similar significance to this sample are a range of barriers that may be interpreted as relating to the immaturity of the broader outcomes measurement

ecosystem. This includes the 57.4% of respondents that consider the lack of access to quality data as a big barrier, measuring long-term change in the short-term (a big barrier for 58.0% of the sample) and the lack of guidance or standards on measurement (identified by 47.9% of the sample as a big barrier).

#### **RQ4:** Reporting Outcomes

We next extend our study into the public reporting of outcomes measurement among human services charities. As evident from Table 7, 51.5% of the organisations publicly reported some form of outputs or outcomes (44.4% and 34.3%, respectively). The most common vehicle for reporting outputs was the annual report (33.7%), while for outcomes it was the organisation's website (19.5%). Both quantitative and qualitative forms of outcomes were reported, including case studies (9.5%), testimonials (18.9%), client feedback and outcomes statistics (13.6%). Over half of large organisations (50.7%) reported outcomes or outputs compared with only 14.1% of smaller organisations. Interestingly, not all organisations that had publicly reported outcomes identified that they measured outcomes. Of those organisations that claimed to measure outcomes, only 39.5% publicly reported these outcomes according to our analysis (Table 8). Stated alternatively, the majority of respondents who measure outcomes do not publicly report these outcomes (60.5%; at least in the channels we identified). This may suggest that there is some information on outcomes being prepared by not-for-profits in our sample that is not being publicly disclosed, providing some support for the ED270 conclusions. Further, the concept of outcomes measurement appears to not be well understood by some not-for-profit entities, as 22% of organisations that had responded that they did not measure outcomes, did in fact publicly report them.

	Size				
	Small	Mediu	Large	Total	
	(%)	m (%)	(%)	(%)	
	( <b>n=64</b> )	(n=36)	( <b>n=69</b> )	(n=169)	
Outputs publicly reported in:					
ACNC Annual Information Statement	12.5	13.9	15.9	14.2	
Annual Report***	6.3	44.4	53.6	33.7	

Table 7. Extent of outcomes reporting

	Size			
	Small	Mediu	Large	Total
	(%)	m (%)	(%)	(%)
	( <b>n=64</b> )	(n=36)	(n=69)	(n=169)
Financial Report	1.6	2.8	7.2	4.1
Webpage	10.9	11.1	17.4	13.6
Newsletter	3.1	2.8	8.7	5.3
Publicly reports outputs***	18.8	50.0	65.2	44.4
Outcomes publicly reported in:				
ACNC Annual Information Statement	0.0	2.8	0.0	0.6
Annual Report***	1.6	16.7	33.3	17.8
Financial Report***	0.0	0.0	1.4	0.6
Webpage*	9.4	25.0	26.1	19.5
Newsletter	3.1	5.6	4.3	4.1
Publicly reports outcomes***	14.1	38.9	50.7	34.3

Note: \*p<.05, \*\*\*p<.001

Table 8. Outcomes measurement and reporting

	Measures Out (full sample n	
	Yes	No
Publicly reports outputs	62(52.1%)	13(26.0%)
Does not publicly report outputs	57(47.9%)	37(74.0%)
Publicly reports outcomes	47(39.5%)	11(22.0%)
Does not publicly report outcomes	72(60.5%)	39(78.0%)

	Measures Out	tcomes*	
	(full sample n=169)		
	Yes	No	
Publicly reports outputs or outcomes	71(59.7%)	16(32.0%)	
Does not publicly report outputs or outcomes	48(40.3%)	34(68.0%)	

\*Survey question: Does your organisation measure outcomes in its WA operations?

To predict whether organisations reported their outcomes in the public arena, a binary logistic regression analysis was conducted for those organisations that had a website (n=137). Predictors of the model were self-reported variables including whether the organisation: identified their clients/beneficiaries, small donors (i.e., public fundraising), and/or the general public to be current users of their outcomes; operated in the Perth metropolitan area; operated nationally; and the extent to which they considered outcomes measurement to be important for external reporting. Organisation size was also used as a predictor, based on whether they were classified as large organisations by the ACNC. A test of the full model against a constant-only model was statistically significant, indicating that the predictors as a set reliably distinguished between organisations that publicly report on their outcomes and those that do not ( $\chi^2 = 26.27$ , p < .001 with df = 7).

Nagelkerke's R<sup>2</sup> of .234 indicated a moderate relationship between prediction and grouping. The model predicted 75.2% of cases (84.8% of those that did not publicly report outcomes and 62.1% of those that did publicly report outcomes). The Wald criterion indicated that operating in the Perth metropolitan area, identifying small donors as current users, and large organisation size made significant contribution to the model. Organisations that operated in the Perth metropolitan area were 3.3 times more likely to publicly report outcomes than those that operated elsewhere in WA. Additionally, large organisations were 2.5 times more likely to publicly report their outcomes. Further, organisations that identified small donors contributing via public fundraising campaigns as current users of their outcomes were 4.4 times more likely to have outcomes that were publicly available.

Variable	В	SE B	p	β
Considers outcomes measurement to be important for external				
reporting	0.24	0.13	.065	1.27
Operates in Perth Metropolitan Area	1.18	0.48	.014*	3.27
Operates Nationally	-0.18	0.54	.743	0.84
Classified as Large by the ACNC	0.93	0.40	.021*	2.53
Identified clients and/ or beneficiaries as users of outcomes measurement	0.53	0.44	.222	1.70
Identified small donors (i.e. public fundraising) as users of outcomes measurement	1.47	0.55	.007**	4.36
Identified the general public as users of outcomes measurement	-0.57	0.58	.331	0.57
Constant	-3.12	0.38		0.04

Table 9. Summary of logistic regression analysis for variables predicting whether organisations publicly reported outcomes

Note: \**p* < .05, \*\**p* < .01, \*\*\**p* < .001

### **Discussion and conclusion**

Prompted by a wave of prospective regulation emerging in recent years, this study seeks to further investigate outcomes measurement among charities, and how these measures are reported on publicly. Drawing from survey data and publicly collected reporting on a sample of human services charities in WA, we focused our study on four key issues: (1) the users and (2) purposes of outcomes information by human services charities; (3) if and how these organisations are measuring their outcomes; and (4) the extent of public reporting of outcomes by these organisations.

Our first two focal areas were the users and purposes of outcomes measurement according to human services charities. Our findings showed that human services charities mainly identify internal decision-makers (board and management) and powerful external resource providers (funders and government) as the primary users of information on their outcomes. Small donors contributing via public fundraising campaigns, the general public and clients/beneficiaries were less likely to be considered users of this information. Further corroborating this, the most commonly identified reasons for outcomes measurement were internal in orientation such as improving services and programs, planning and strategy, and internal decision-making and meeting funder needs was slightly less important. Using the reporting entity concept, we also found that nearly 60% of our sample do not believe there are external users of information of their human services charity.

Our findings also suggest that organisational size is an important variable in understanding the users of outcomes measurement. Small organisations were less likely across all the different measures to identify external users of information on their outcomes, or to identify groups like small donors, the general public and clients/beneficiaries as users.

Using an accountability lens, these findings do suggest that internal, or identity, accountability appears to be the dominant driver of outcomes measurement and reporting among the respondents. Internal users, and their requests for outcomes measurement were most strongly identified as shaping outcomes reporting among this sample of not-for-profits. Consistent with prior literature, the second most dominant form of accountability was upwards accountability, towards funders and governments which control access to resources. This finding emphasises the dominance of upwards accountability with respect to performance measurement practices (e.g. Connolly & Hyndman 2013). However, our results also suggest that within human services charities, internal accountabilities are perceived to be more important with respect to outcomes measurement than upwards accountability. Overall, downwards accountabilities were considered less significant in driving outcomes measurement practices. Large organisations, however, were more likely to see potential users in groups associated with downwards accountability, with smaller organisations much less commonly identifying small donors, beneficiaries and the general public as users of their reports on outcomes.

It is these groups associated with downwards accountability that are identified in *ED270*. This finding could be interpreted in two ways. Firstly, it could signal a mismatch between the objectives of standard setters and the reality of information demands on human services

charities. That is, focusing a standard on the needs of these user groups is inappropriate given this data suggests that these users are not considered by human services charities to be users of outcomes information, and the benefits to these users of a new standard may not outweigh the costs to human services charities of its implementation. It may also be that other accountability mechanisms and engagement are considered more apt for these types of user groups, and that formalised outcomes measurement and reporting may be less useful to these types of users.

An alternative interpretation is that while human services charities are fundamentally concerned with users such as beneficiaries (making a difference in their lives), they do not completely appreciate the demand for information from these user groups. That is, there is unmet demand by these downward accountability user groups, but that human services charities fail to recognise its potency. In this context, the creation of a standard may be necessary to correct this misperception on the part of human services charities. Either way, these findings do suggest that further investigation and evidence is required to ascertain the real information demands of these user groups and whether formalised outcomes measurement and reporting is an appropriate vehicle to meet their needs.

The third focal area of our research was the prevalence of outcomes measurement among our sample of respondents. We found that most organisations undertake some form of outcomes measurement, with large organisations more likely to measure outcomes. This does suggest that WA human services charities are indeed responding to the mounting pressure to perform outcomes measurement. However, we also document concerns about the quality of outcomes measurement, which has implications in the context of meeting the demands of users. In particular, resource constraints and capacity and skills limitations are seen to be considerable barriers to outcomes measurement, alongside the fragmentation of funding, outcomes and accountability in the sector. Given our study was conducted 5-6 years after the adoption of the *DCSP* policy (introduced in 2011), this does point to the practical implications and challenges associated with encouraging organisations towards outcomes measurement. Therefore, our findings echo those of Gilchrist (2016), who suggested that the shift from outputs to outcomes measures as a result of the *DCSP* policy created increased contracting costs and administrative burdens on funded organisations.

The fourth focal are of this study is the readiness of human services charities to report on their outcomes. We found that a sizeable proportion of our sample (60.5%) measure outcomes but do not report on them. Large organisations appear to measure and report outcomes more commonly, and more extensively, than smaller organisations. This is likely because large

organisations have greater capacity for outcomes measurement and reporting. In addition to organisation size, operating in the Perth metropolitan area and identifying small donors as users of outcomes measures also increased the likelihood that the organisation publicly reports on their outcomes. This is not surprising, as those who identify small donors through public fundraising as current users of outcomes should be making these outcomes publicly available for them to do so.

Taken together, these findings do provide some support for the assertion contained in *ED270* that there is information available in organisations which is not being publicly reported human services charities. Our study results also document clear concerns about practical challenges to undertaking outcomes measurement, such as resourcing issues (financial resources and internal staff capacity) and practical issues like accessing data, and a lack of standards and guidance. These concerns may underpin the low levels of confidence in the quality of outcomes understanding and measurement across the sector.

These results may suggest that outcomes measurement and reporting is emergent and developing across the Australian charitable sector. Serious practical constraints may impede the quality of this measurement. The role of a formal standard in this context (as opposed to allowing natural growth and development of this practice) is uncertain. Moreover, the impact of a standard mandating outcomes reporting in this context is an open question: is a standard mandating reporting a necessary prompt to improve the overall practice of outcomes measurement? Or, is such a standard premature given the underdeveloped nature of the practice among human services charities and concerns over the quality of the information being generated?

In conclusion, our findings show a mixed picture with respect to outcomes reporting for human services charities. We show that outcomes reporting is driven by identity and upwards accountability, and that downwards accountabilities were less important human services charities. Most human services charities in WA are undertaking some form of outcomes measurement, particularly large organisations. However, this measurement is often not publicly reported. We suggest that practical barriers to measurement may be impeding progress on improving the quality of outcomes measurement. Our findings may help to inform future regulatory efforts both in Australia and throughout the world as regulators grapple with the role and implications of a standard for outcomes measurement and the content and intended audience of outcomes reporting.

Finally, our study is subject to some limitations that provide useful opportunities for further research. Firstly, we concentrate on WA human services charities as a research site, expanding the scope of research may begin to uncover the nature of outcomes measurement and reporting across a more diverse charity landscape or more broadly across not-for-profit organisations. Our study is also subject to the limitation of being based only on the perceptions of the human services charities completing the survey. Further studies could extend these findings by considering the views of other stakeholders in the sector, particularly users. The implications of reporting in the emerging quasi-market settings such as those formed as part of the institution of the National Disability Insurance Scheme may also shed light on how reporting implications of charities continues to evolve. Finally, findings around the reporting of outcomes were limited to those that were publicly available online, which excluded any other avenues human services charities may have used to report on their outcomes.

#### NOTES

- 1. Sector neutrality, also known as 'transaction neutrality' in Australia, means that all accounting standards developed by the AASB should apply to all organisations. Sector neutrality is a long-standing principle of the AASB; justification for this is that the substance of economic transactions is the same, regardless of the type of organisations that are engaged in the transaction (Stevenson 2005)
- 2. Specifically, reporting entities must prepare more detailed 'general purpose financial accounts', while non-reporting entities prepare shorter and less complex 'special purpose financial statements'. *ED270* is an example of the translation of this financial reporting concept into the area of non-financial reporting (such as the reporting of not-for-profit outcomes), wherein the proposed standard mandates that all reporting entities must be compliant with the new service performance reporting requirements.
- 3. Interestingly, the sample drew a clear delineation between funders (grants and contracts) and large, individual donors who were considered a current user by only 19.5% of the sample.
- 4. We tested this in two ways. Firstly, using Welch's F statistic with Games-Howell tests between groups (at the p<0.05 confidence level). We also condensed the two larger sample size groups together (i.e., contrasting Small vs Medium/Large) and tested using Chi-square at the p<0.05 confidence level. We undertook this additional test as the medium sample group was smaller than the others and cell sizes were small in some cases.
- 5. These results are significant at the p < 0.05 level using the tests outlined above.

### Acknowledgements

This study is one part of a research programme undertaken with the support of Bankwest Foundation. We thank the participants of a research workshop at University of Western Australia, and at the APIRA Conference 2016 for their feedback and comments on the paper. We also acknowledge that Lydia Kilcullen provided consulting services in 2010 and 2011 to the AASB during the early stages of the Service Performance Reporting Project.

### REFERENCES

- AbouAssi, K. (2014) Testing resource dependency as a motivator for NGO self-regulation: Suggestive evidence from the global south. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 44(6): 1255-1273.
- Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) (2015) AASB Exposure Draft ED 270: Reporting service performance information. Available at: <u>http://www.aasb.gov.au/admin/file/content105/c9/ACCED270\_08-15.pdf</u> (accessed 28 January 2018).
- Australian Charities and Not For Profit Commission (ACNC). (2016b) Background to the Not-<br/>for-profitSector.Availableat:https://www.acnc.gov.au/ACNC/About\_ACNC/Research/Background\_nonprofit/ACN<br/>C/Edu/nonprofit\_background.aspx?hkey=e88db8f0-3e48-4408-ab99-c2acb6ef8a1d<br/>(accessed 28 January 2018).
- Australian Charities and Not-For-Profit Commission (ACNC). (2016a) *Find a Charity on the ACNC Register*. Available at: <u>https://www.acnc.gov.au/ACNC/FindCharity/QuickSearch/ACNC/OnlineProcessors/O</u> <u>nline\_register/Search\_the\_Register.aspx?noleft=1</u> (accessed 28 January 2018).
- Australian Charities and Not For Profit Commission (ACNC) (2019) Australian Charities Report 2017. Available at: <u>https://www.acnc.gov.au/tools/reports/australian-charities-report-2017</u> (accessed 13 September 2019).
- Australian Council for Social Services (2014) *Australian Community Sector Survey*. Available at: <u>http://www.acoss.org.au/images/uploads/ACSS2014\_final.pdf</u> (accessed 28 January 2018).
- Bagnoli, L. & Megali, C. (2011) Measuring performance in social enterprises. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 40(1): 149-165.
- Barman, E. & MacIndoe, H. (2012) Institutional pressures and organizational capacity: The case of outcome measurement. *Sociological Foru`m*, 27(1): 70-93.
- Benjamin, L. M., Voida, A. & Bopp, C. (2018) Policy fields, Data systems and the performance of nonprofit human service organizations. *Human Service Organizations: Management, Leadership & Governance*, 42(2): 185-204.
- Benjamin, L. M. (2012) The potential of outcome measurement for strengthening nonprofits' accountability to beneficiaries. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 42(6): 1224-1244.

- Carey, P., Potter, B. & Tanewski, G. (2014) Application of the reporting entity concept in Australia. Abacus-a Journal of Accounting Finance and Business Studies, 50(4): 460-489.
- Carman, J. G. & Fredericks, K. A. (2010) Evaluation capacity and nonprofit organizations: Is the glass half-empty or half-full? *American Journal of Evaluation*, 31(1): 84-104.
- Connolly, C. & Hyndman, N. (2013) Towards charity accountability: Narrowing the gap between provision and needs? *Public Management Review*, 15(7): 945-968.
- Cordery, C. & Sinclair, R. (2013) Measuring performance in the third sector. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 10(3/4): 196-212.
- Cortis, N., Young, A., Powell, A., Reeve, R., Simnett, R., Ho, K., & Ramia, I. (2016) *Australian Charities Report 2015.* Sydney: Centre for Social Impact.
- Dillard, J. (2007) Legitimating the social accounting project: An Ethic of Accountability. In J. Unerman, J. Bebbington & B. O'Dwyer (eds.), *Sustainability Accounting and Accountability*: 37-54. London: Routledge.
- Ebrahim, A. (2005) Accountability myopia: Losing sight of organizational learning. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 34(1): 56-87.
- Ebrahim, A. & Rangan, V. K. (2014) What impact? A framework for measuring the scale and scope of social performance. *California Management Review* 56(3): 118-141.
- Flatau, P., Zaretzky, K., Adams, S., Horton, A. & Smith, J. (2015) Measuring outcomes for impact in the community sector in Western Australia. Available at: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/318851740\_Measuring\_Outcomes\_for\_Impa\_ ct\_in\_the\_Community\_Sector\_in\_Western\_Australia</u> (accessed 28 January 2018).
- Gilchrist, D. J. (2016) Partnerships Between Government and the Third Sector at a Subnational Level: The experience of an Australian subnational government. In J. R. Butcher & D. J. Gilchrist (eds.), *The Three Sector Solution*: 61-78. Canberra: ANU Press.
- Gilchrist, D. J. & Simnett, R. (2019) Research horizons for public and private not-for-profit sector reporting: Moving the bar in the right direction. *Accounting and Finance*, 59: 59-85.
- Government of Western Australia (2011) *Delivering Community Services in Partnership Policy.* Perth: Department of Finance.
- Gray, R., Brennan, A. & Malpas, J. (2014) New accounts: Towards a reframing of social accounting. *Accounting Forum*, 38(4): 258-273.
- Hall, M. (2012) Evaluation logics in the third sector. Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations, 25(2): 307-336.

- Hall, M. H., Phillips, S. D., Meillat, C. & Pickering, D. (2003) Assessing Performance: Evaluation Practices & Perspectives in Canada's Voluntary Sector. Toronto, Ottawa: Carleton University.
- Harlock, J. (2013) Impact Measurement Practice in the UK Third Sector: A Review of Emerging Evidence: Working Paper No. 106. Birmingham, UK: University of Birmingham.
- Houchin, S. & Nicholson, H. J. (2002) Holding ourselves accountable: Managing by outcomes in Girls Incorporated. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 31(2): 271-277.
- International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB) (2015) *Recommended Practice Guideline (RPG) 3: Reporting Service Performance Information.* Available at: <u>https://www.ifac.org/publications-resources/recommended-practice-guideline-3</u> (accessed 11 February 2018).
- Lambert, R., Leuz, C. & Verrecchia, R. E. (2007) Accounting information, disclosure, and the cost of capital. *Journal of Accounting Research*, 45(2): 385-420.
- Laughlin, R. (2008) A conceptual framework for accounting for public-benefit entities. *Public Money & Management*, 28(4): 247-254.
- Lecy, J. D. & Searing, E. A. M. (2014) Anatomy of the nonprofit starvation cycle: An analysis of falling overhead ratios in the nonprofit sector. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 44(3): 539-563.
- LeRoux, K. & Wright, N. S. (2010) Does performance measurement improve strategic decision making? Findings from a national survey of nonprofit social service agencies. *Nonprofit* and Voluntary Sector Quarterly, 39(4): 571-587.
- Liket, K. C. & Maas, K. (2013) Nonprofit organizational effectiveness: Analysis of best practices. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 44(2): 268-296.
- MacIndoe, H. & Barman, E. (2012) How organizational stakeholders shape performance measurement in nonprofits: Exploring a multidimensional measure. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 42(4): 716-738.
- Martin, S., Downe, J., Grace, C. & Nutley, S. (2010) Validity, utilization and evidence-based policy: The development and impact of performance improvement regimes in local public services. *Evaluation*, 16(1): 31-42.
- Mayhew, F. (2012) Aligning for Impact: The influence of the funder–fundee relationship on evaluation utilization. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 23(2): 193-217.
- Productivity Commission (2010) Contribution of the Not-for-Profit Sector: Productivity Commission Research Report. Melbourne: Productivity Commission.

- Powell, A., Cortis, N., Ramia, I. & Marjolin, A. (2017) Australian Charities Report 2016. NSW: University of New South Wales.
- Rasche, A. & Esser, D. E. (2006) From stakeholder management to stakeholder accountability. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 65(3): 251-267.
- Ryan, C., Mack, J., Tooley, S. & Irvine, H. (2014) Do not-for-profits need their own conceptual framework? *Financial Accountability and Management*, 30(4): 383-402.
- Sowa, J. E., Selden, S. C., & Sandfort, J. R. (2004) No longer unmeasurable? A multidimensional integrated model of nonprofit organizational effectiveness. *Nonprofit* and Voluntary Sector Quarterly, 33(4): 711–728.
- Stevenson, K. M. (2005). Public Consultation. The future governance of the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB). Melbourne: Australian Accounting Standards Board.
- Unerman, J. & O'Dwyer, B., (2006) Theorising accountability for NGO advocacy. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, 19(3): 349–376.
- Unerman, J. & O'Dwyer, B. (2010) NGO accountability and sustainability issues in the changing global environment. *Public Management Review*, 12(4): 475-486.
- Willems, J., Boenigk, S. & Jegers, M. (2014) Seven trade-offs in measuring nonprofit performance and effectiveness. *Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations*, 25(6): 1648-1670.
- Wimbush, E. (2011) Implementing an outcomes approach to public management and accountability in the UK: Are we learning the lessons? *Public Money & Management*, 31(3): 211-218.
- Zeff, S. A. (2013) The objectives of financial reporting: A historical survey and analysis. *Accounting and Business Research*, 43(4): 262-327.

### **ABOUT THE AUTHORS**

SARAH ADAMS is a lecturer at the Australian National University. Her research is interdisciplinary, and focuses on studying the measurement and accounting for non-financial performance by diverse organisations, including charities, social enterprises, cooperatives and mutuals. Email: <a href="mailto:sarah.adams@anu.edu.au">sarah.adams@anu.edu.au</a>

LYDIA KILCULLEN is a Director at FRED Consulting. Her research interests include studying the determinants, measures and indicators of liveability and wellbeing within local government communities. Her work includes strategy development and operationalisation, the design of

non-financial performance measures, and the design and implementation of governance frameworks and systems. Email: <u>lydia@welcometofred.com.au</u>

ZOE CALLIS is a Research Officer at the Centre for Social Impact at the University of Western Australia. Her work at CSI UWA has spanned capacity building for outcomes measurement in not-for-profit organisations, the measurement of socioeconomic outcomes at the sub-regional level, and evaluations of programs aimed at addressing chronic homelessness and youth unemployment. Email: <u>Zoe.Callis@uwa.edu.au</u>

PAUL FLATAU is the Director of the Centre for Social Impact at the University of Western Australia. Much of the Paul's recent work is in the field of outcomes measurement and impact evaluation particularly in the not-for-profit sector. His research interests cover a number of fields including housing and homelessness, unemployment, poverty and entrenched disadvantage. <u>Paul.Flatau@uwa.edu.au</u>
# Charity hoarding in a COVID-19 time of need: The role of activitybased regulation

Ian Murray, University of Western Australia Law School

# Abstract

The COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the urgent need for charities to expend their 'rainy day funds' now, rather than hoarding for the future. For charities lucky enough to have endowments or material investments, such as universities, philanthropic foundations and some schools and hospitals, the collapse in many investment markets and in current income may nevertheless generate reluctance to realise and utilise investments. This article examines the role of activity-based regulation in encouraging charities to spend now, when it is needed.

# **Keywords**

Charity law; charities; accumulation; reserves; activities; regulation

# Introduction

Arguably, COVID-19 represents the greatest health and economic crisis since the Great Depression. If ever there were a time for charities to dip into their 'rainy day funds' of accumulated reserves, now is it. Yet, as with the Global Financial Crisis of 2008 (Fishman 2014: 205; Halperin 2011), some charities, especially universities and philanthropic foundations, seem to be wrestling with whether to expend accumulated assets or instead cancel projects and reduce operating budgets (Johnson et al. 2020; Hanmer 2020; The Economist 2020; Rooney & Bergdoll 2020; compare Bell & Dubb 2020).

Many Australian charities do hold material reserves, though it should be emphasised that asset levels vary significantly. In 2018, charity sector net assets amounted to \$222 billion, with most of these assets held by education providers, hospitals and aged care providers, religious organisations and housing providers (ACNC 2020). Data from several years earlier also indicates that over 21.5 percent of charities had net assets exceeding 5 years' expenditure and that 4.5 percent of charities not only had 5 years' expenditure worth of assets, but were growing those net assets at more than 10 percent per year (Cortis et al. 2016: 77-80). Philanthropic intermediaries, such as grant-making foundations, are prominent in this regard, with 85 percent of these charities having net assets exceeding 5 years' expenditure and around 59 percent increasing their net assets annually. That is consistent with the anecdotal evidence about licensed trustee companies discussed later in this article and with taxation data for public and private ancillary fund intermediaries, despite the application of minimum annual distribution requirements (Australian Taxation Office 2018).

This article investigates the role of activity-based regulation in tempering hoarding by charities, including other charities which have the potential to accumulate, such as private schools and hospitals (O'Neil & Hatch 2017; Eales 2017). Perpetuities rules, tax requirements and governance duties also impact on charity accumulation. For example, duties to act upon genuine consideration and to act in the best interests of a charity's purpose(s) may apply to excessive hoarding, while duties to use powers for proper purposes may be relevant to matters such as accumulating assets to enhance charity prestige or to increase fees due to charity controllers. Minimum annual distribution requirements that apply to deductible gift recipients in the form of public or private ancillary funds also restrict rates of accumulation by requiring some expenditure<sup>i</sup>, though there is some evidence that, once in place, such rules tend to cap actual distribution rates at about the mandated rate (Deep & Frumkin 2005: 19-21). However, these restraints have been explored elsewhere (Murray 2014; 2015; 2017; 2020) and are largely found wanting, other than at the extreme of very material accumulation and limited current expenditure.

This article instead focuses on the accumulation rules that attach to certain charity activities. The first part considers regulation based on fundraising activities, with the second part of this article then analysing government funding. That is because fundraising or the receipt of government grants can result in requirements as to timely expenditure or claw-back of unspent funds. Following this, the article investigates charities undertaking highly regulated services, looking at the delivery of education in the third part of the article and the provision of health services in the fourth part. The regulation of licensed trustee company services (e.g. in respect of philanthropic foundations) is then examined in the fifth part of this article.

# Fundraising

While social distancing restrictions and the economic impact of COVID-19 have caused fundraising headwinds for charities, the pandemic has also spurred others to make donations (The Economist 2020; Cassidy 2020). The recent Australian bushfire appeals demonstrate the potential for controversy over (alleged) hoarding of such donations (Kidd 2020). Yet, fundraising activities result in duties and regulatory oversight at the federal, state and local government levels that go some way to addressing such concerns over hoarding. These include public fundraising requirements under the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth) (*Corporations Act*); prohibitions on misleading or deceptive conduct under the *Australian Consumer Law*; local government permits for carrying out activities in public spaces; and state-based licensing and regulation of charitable collections (Productivity Commission (Cth) 2010: 135-136).

It is the state and territory regulation of charitable collections that is typically most significant for charities, and it reflects material divergence in approaches (Treasury (Cth) 2012: 3, 8; Senate Standing Committee on Economics 2008: 95-96). Indeed, the Northern Territory does not have laws regulating charitable collections and other jurisdictions exempt certain entities from some requirements. However, in the context of accumulation, three broad matters are relevant and are discussed below: the risk that deferral through hoarding amounts to use of funds raised for an alternate purpose, public interest and dormant funds curbs on hoarding, and charity reporting.

Before moving to these three matters, there has been recent impetus to repeal state and territory fundraising legislation. Recent reviews of the *Australian Consumer Law* and of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission (ACNC) have recommended that the *Australian Consumer Law*'s application to charitable fundraising be clarified and that consideration be given to whether it should be amended to expressly deal with such fundraising (CAANZ 2017: 6-7, 75-76; McClure et al. 2018: 96-103). However, the government's decision not to support this proposal (Seselja 2020: 19) means that the discussion in this part remains pertinent.

#### Deferral may amount to use for an alternate purpose

The manner in which fundraising occurs may suggest a time-limited purpose and, hence, restrictions on accumulation. For instance, an appeal for funds to assist the victims of a bushfire or those made temporarily unemployed by COVID-19 would necessitate a time-limited purpose, whereas an appeal to contribute to the general funds of a charity might not indicate any time limit on the provision of benefits. Seeking donations before the money is truly needed, simply to increase a charity's prestige and that of its controllers might also amount to using donated funds for a purpose different to the stated objective for which donations have been obtained. The governance duties applying to charity controllers regulate the latter example in that the charity controllers appear to be exercising their powers for an improper purpose. However, governance duties do not adequately address a situation where fundraising occurs for a time-limited objective, such as responding to COVID-19, but where a charity then retains the funds for its general purposes.<sup>ii</sup>

Fundraising obligations can fill in some gaps for the time-limited purpose example. First, if a donor makes a conditional donation, it may give rise to obligations under the general law principles of contract or trust.<sup>iii</sup> Those obligations might require the distribution of the donated funds and income within a certain time, as is the case for Warren Buffett's donations to the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (Buffett 2006). Where private law obligations do not arise (for instance, because donors merely express a non-binding wish) or where donor enforcement is muted, state and territory fundraising legislation is relevant, though universities are typically exempt. If donations are invested and the income accumulated, there may be some scope for regulators in New South Wales, the Australian Capital Territory and Tasmania to argue that donations have been 'used'<sup>iv</sup> or 'applied'<sup>v</sup> for a purpose other than the purpose for which they were obtained, thus enlivening regulatory enforcement powers such as the appointment of an administrator (*Collections for Charities Act 2001* (Tas) s. 16; *Charitable Collections Act 2003* (ACT) s. 52; *Charitable Fundraising Act 1991* (NSW) s. 33(2)).

Of course, terms such as 'apply' or 'use' can potentially encompass accumulation (compare '*FCT v Word Investments Ltd*' (2008) 236 CLR 204: [37]; '*IRC v Helen Slater Charitable Trust*' (1982) Ch. 49), a matter contemplated by the New South Wales and Australian Capital Territory legislation (*Charitable Fundraising Act 1991* (NSW) s. 21(1); *Charitable Collections Act 2003* (ACT) s. 46. The New South Wales provision is representative:

Money received in the course of a fundraising appeal which is not immediately required to be applied to the purposes or objects of the appeal may be invested only in a manner for the time being authorised by law for the investment of trust funds.

The outcome will likely depend upon the nature of the fundraising appeal and the extent to which it emphasises a time-limited purpose. Charities registered with the ACNC are also exempt from most aspects of the licensing regime in the Australian Capital Territory (*Charitable Collections Act 2003* (ACT) s. 14(2)).<sup>vi</sup>

Although slightly differently worded, the Western Australian and Victorian provisions and, potentially, the South Australian provisions apply in similar circumstances. The Western Australian commissioner may revoke a collections licence, including as a result of a recommendation by an advisory committee on the ground that funds have been 'substantially applied otherwise than for affording the relief for which the money or goods were collected' (*Charitable Collections Act 1946* (WA) ss. 8, 13(2)(a).<sup>vii</sup> In Victoria, the court can stop an appeal, or the director can deregister a charity, if the appeal is not 'conducted or administered in good faith for the purposes stated to those from whom money was, is being, or will be, sought' (*Fundraising Act 1998* (Vic) ss. 33A(c)(ii), 34A(1)(b).<sup>viii</sup> Further, the court can order the distribution of assets if the appeal assets 'are not being applied for the purposes stated to the people from whom the assets were obtained' (*Fundraising Act 1998* (Vic) s. 36(1)(b)). In South Australia, the ground is that donations have been 'misapplied' (*Collections for Charitable Purposes Act 1939* (SA) ss. 6(7)(a), 12(4)(a).

The text of the above provisions does not make a distinction between a donor imposing a legal condition and a donor merely expressing a non-binding wish. Nor would such a distinction promote the consumer protection purpose of the fundraising legislation. Accordingly, the provisions should apply even in the case of non-binding wishes. Further, in relation to consumer protection, the *Australian Consumer Law* and some state fundraising legislation may also indirectly restrict accumulation by regulating fundraising that is misleading or deceptive due to statements to donors that imply less accumulation than ultimately occurs.<sup>ix</sup>

# Public interest and dormant funds – Curbs on hoarding

Some of the fundraising legislation enables access to enforcement provisions in a broader range of circumstances. The provisions apply if there is 'mismanagement'<sup>x</sup> or 'maladministration',<sup>xi</sup>

which can be thought of as a failure of governance duties. The provisions also apply on public interest-focused grounds. For instance, in New South Wales and Victoria, that it is in the 'public interest' - to the satisfaction of a minister (NSW), an administrative officer or the court (Vic) - to appoint an administrator, to stop a fundraising appeal or stop a person fundraising *(Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 (NSW)* s. 33(2); *Fundraising Act 1998* (Vic) ss. 33A(c)(iv), 33A(e), 34(1)(c)). A fundraising licence or authority can also be revoked in other jurisdictions on public interest grounds (*Collections Act 1966* (Qld) s. 22(1)(b)), or in 'other circumstances' or for 'other reason[s]' (*Collections for Charitable Purposes Act 1939* (SA) ss. 6(7)(d), 12(4)(c); *Charitable Collections Act 1946* (WA) s. 13(1)(e)), which are likely to capture public interest considerations. As the public interest ground goes beyond mere failure to comply with governance duties, it provides an additional curb on hoarding.

In considering when it might be in the public interest, some legislation refers expressly to whether the fundraising expenses exceed a reasonable proportion of the funds raised (Fundraising Act 1998 (Vic) s. 6B). However, public interest tests typically permit broad recourse to a range of policy matters (for instance, see 'O'Sullivan v Farrer' (1989) 168 CLR 210: 216). Relevant matters might include the consumer protection/public trust and confidence goal of fundraising legislation (for instance, see Treasury 2012 (Cth): 5-6), which would clearly be relevant to misleading or deceptive conduct or to a failure of charity controller duties. The objective of fundraising efficiency is also likely to be relevant (for instance, see Treasury 2012 (Cth): 6). This objective arguably extends to allocation efficiency (Treasury 2012 (Cth): 5-6), such that if a charity is collecting and accumulating more than it needs, efficiency may favour fundraising by other charities that are spending on more pressing needs – such as COVID-19 relief - where expenditure might have a larger impact. In addition, public interest grounds may also permit recourse to charity law's objectives. One such objective is to incentivise the production of goods for the benefit of the public in pursuing charitable purposes (Murray 2015: 546; Dal Pont 2017: 2.6, 3.1-3.2). This objective suggests some benefits should be produced before too distant a time and so might also be relevant where there is large scale, long-term accumulation. While the Victorian provisions focus more narrowly on stopping fundraising, the New South Wales ground for appointing an administrator could thus have a real impact on accumulation.

The *Dormant Funds Act 1942* (NSW) is also directed toward ensuring the 'effective use' of charitable funds (Martin 1942: 347). Although the legislation likely only applies to trusts (Dal Pont 2017: 16.17), it potentially enables the Commissioner for Dormant Funds to force the use

of donated, collected or acquired property where, amongst other grounds, 'for at least the immediately preceding 6 years, the trustees have not used the fund genuinely for the purposes for which it was donated, collected or otherwise acquired', or 'it is not practicable to use the fund for those purposes', or 'it is unlikely that those purposes will be achieved within a reasonable time' (*Dormant Funds Act 1942* (NSW) s. 5A(1)). The legislation explicitly countenances that the mere retention of assets or income does not amount to a lack of genuine use.

Thus, a lack of 'genuine use' is likely to require some failure on the part of charity controllers in exercising their discretionary powers, such as a failure to consider exercising a power. If so, this ground is unlikely to apply in circumstances beyond breach of the governance duties of charity controllers. The associations incorporation legislation in most jurisdictions also contains dormancy grounds for winding up an incorporated association, which appear even narrower. The grounds apply if an association 'has suspended its operations, or has in effect been dormant, for a whole year or more', <sup>xii</sup> or 'suspends its operations for a whole year', <sup>xiii</sup> or is 'defunct'. <sup>xiv</sup> They could potentially apply where accumulation occurs because charity controllers have ceased making decisions (*Johnson v Commissioner of Consumer Affairs* (NT) [2009] NTSC 4, 50).

The 'practicable' ground likely overlaps with the 'impracticable' ground for a cy-près scheme, being a mechanism by which a charity's purposes can be varied. While cy-près principles need not be strictly followed by the Commissioner (Dormant Funds Act 1942 (NSW) s. 18), they provide some guidance. The common law 'impracticable' ground permits variation where it is or has become 'practically impossible' to pursue a charitable purpose (*Re Weir Hospital* [1910] 2 Ch 124: 140). There is some breadth in the notion of practical impossibility, including situations where, 'due to the lapse of time and change of circumstances, it is no longer possible beneficially to apply the property in the exact way that the donors directed it to be applied' (Parker v Moseley [1965] VR 580: 583). Likewise, particular conditions of charitable gifts have been characterised as impracticable where they materially undermine the charitable purpose (Dal Pont 2017: 15.23-15.25; Mulheron 2006: 101-102), including accumulation conditions in some instances (Epstein [1984] VR 577: Re Stillman Estate (2003) 68 OR (3d) 777; Re Fenton Estate (2014) BCSC 39). South Australia and Queensland also permit collected funds to be appropriated to, or have their use directed to, another charitable purpose in circumstances which mirror cy-près grounds, although extending also to where it has become 'inexpedient' to carry out the purpose (Charitable Funds Act 1958 (Qld) s. 5; Collections for *Charitable Purposes Act 1939* (SA) s. 16). 'Inexpedient' means that the original charitable purposes have 'become unsuitable, inadvisable or inapt',<sup>xv</sup> which can arise due to changed social and economic conditions (such as a pandemic) and changes in public policy,<sup>xvi</sup> though inexpedience will not inevitably result from such changes (*Re McElroy Trust* [2003] 2 NZLR 289). Inexpediency might, for instance, arise because the rate of accumulation is resulting in only nominal benefits for a class of potential beneficiaries, such as the present generation (see, eg, *Re Lepton's Charity* [1972] Ch 276).

The reasonable time ground under the *Dormant Funds Act 1942* (NSW) likely covers cy-près impracticability circumstances (eg *Wallis v Solicitor-General (NZ)* [1903] AC 173). However, it is broader in that there is no need to show that due to time and changed circumstances, the property can no longer be beneficially applied as directed in pursuit of the charitable purposes. The focus is on how long it will take to achieve the charitable purposes. Accumulation that is so significant that there is no material pursuit of charitable purposes for the benefit of current generations would likely fall within this ground. However, this is unlikely to be common.

# Reporting

Reporting is a key monitoring mechanism. To the extent disclosed to donors and the broader public, reporting also permits donor enforcement of restrictions and the application of market mechanisms to curb accumulation in excess of that implied by the fundraising purpose.<sup>xvii</sup> For charities that must be registered to carry out fundraising activities, states and territories typically require a level of financial reporting, although some impose this under the registration licence conditions, rather than in the regulatory legislation itself (Treasury (Cth) 2011: 43).<sup>xviii</sup> Some jurisdictions have removed this requirement for charities that are registered with and report to the ACNC,<sup>xix</sup> though reporting then occurs to the ACNC. To the extent that charities raise finance by issuing investment instruments (rather than merely seeking donations) such as debentures or interests in managed investment schemes, financial reporting obligations may also exist at the federal level (for example, see ASIC 2016).<sup>xx</sup>

## **Government funding**

Based on financial information provided by charities registered with the ACNC, government grants to such registered charities amounted to \$74 billion in 2018, amounting to 47 percent of

total revenue (ACNC 2020). Contractual obligations under government funding contracts for the delivery of services or under grants can also be viewed as a form of regulation (Productivity Commission 2010 (Cth): 115; Garton 2009: 214-17). These obligations can, and often do, involve extensive reporting requirements, of a financial, organisational, performance-based and activity-based nature (for example, see, Treasury (Cth) 2011: 46; Ernst & Young 2014: 22), although their scope differs between government agencies, as well as depending on the nature of the particular program. Government grants for an entity's general purposes, rather than for the provision of specified services, can also entail substantive financial and nonfinancial reporting.

As an indication of the manner in which obligations may be imposed, the Commonwealth Grants Rules and Guidelines set out requirements for the Commonwealth to follow in making grants and that potentially apply to contracts to fund the delivery of particular services, as well as general purpose grants (Department of Finance 2017: 2.3-2.4). The Guidelines do not mandate the claw-back of surplus funds, although principles of achieving value with relevant money and focusing on the achievement of outcomes clearly indicate that the efficient use of funds to achieve outcomes is to be promoted and monitored (Department of Finance 2017: 3.5, 10.1-11.5). However, the template grant agreements developed by the Commonwealth Department of Finance to help implement the Guidelines do include claw-back clauses. For instance:

If any of the Grant has been spent other than in accordance with this Agreement or any amount of the Grant is additional to the requirements of the Activity, the Grantee agrees to repay that amount to the Commonwealth unless agreed otherwise (Department of Finance 2018a: sch. 1 cl. 10.1; Department of Finance 2018b: sch. 1 cl. 11.1).

The template agreements also provide an optional clause relating to the purchase of assets with grant funds, since assets will remain with the grantee at the end of the grant period. The optional clause includes a requirement to obtain Commonwealth approval for the purchase of assets over a threshold and mandates that assets be used for the purposes of the approved activities (Department of Finance 2018a: G7; Department of Finance 2019: cl. CB.5). This has the potential to restrain accumulation of grant funding via asset purchases.

Similar repayment and asset purchase provisions are applied in the template grant agreements utilised by some of the major departmental sources of funding. For instance, see the Commonwealth Department of Social Services' *Streamlined Grant Agreement* and *Comprehensive Grant Agreement*.<sup>xxi</sup>

In addition, the provision of government-funded services or activities to the public can occur under a variety of relationships between government and the non-government entity that are not limited to contract (Verspaandonk 2001). For instance, the legislative obligations accepted on opting-in to a funding regime, as discussed for the education and health sectors in the following parts, can also impose expenditure and repayment requirements.

## Education

This part examines the regulatory frameworks applying, first, to tertiary education providers and, second, to primary and secondary schools. It demonstrates that these frameworks ensure that teaching and research is carried out with a degree of quality and that the provider has a minimum level of organisational capacity, including financial viability. To the extent that providers rely on government funding, much, though not all, of that funding is tied to the relatively contemporaneous carrying out of teaching or research, although tertiary education providers have some flexibility to retain some funding. This promotes a minimum level of asset and income retention, along with promoting the delivery of a certain amount of quality research and education each year. However, student fees and donations represent significant alternate sources of income for many education providers and, subject to the need for a base level of expenditure to meet quality and capacity requirements, the regulatory regimes leave some scope for providers to accumulate fees and donations.

## **Tertiary education**

The Australian tertiary education system comprises a range of providers: public universities, two private universities, a large number of non-university higher education providers and vocational education and training (**VET**) providers (Dow & Braithwaite 2013; Department of Education and Training 2015). The regulatory arrangements applying to these providers are diverse, involving a number of regulators and regulatory networks. However, there are certain key elements that are relatively unique to education providers, namely: the conditions imposed on Commonwealth funding for teaching and research; teaching quality accreditation and assurance; and international education accreditation requirements. The international

requirements are not considered separately as they cover similar matters to the domestic quality assurance frameworks, as well as addressing discrete issues such as visa management.

While not all higher education providers receive Commonwealth funding, for those that do funding is largely linked to past or proposed research projects, to student completions or enrolments, to supporting specific infrastructure, or to activities that support these measures (see, e.g. Watt 2015: 8-26; Commonwealth of Australia, 2015). The arrangements also make funding contingent on compliance with aspects of quality standards and accountability requirements, as well as compliance with matters such as financial viability, fairness and, for higher education providers, compliance with a funding agreement and entry into a mission-based compact (*Higher Education Support Act 2003* (Cth) (*HESA*) ss. 16-25 (1)(f), (fa), div 19, s. 22-15, sub-div 36-F, s. 41-25, s. 46-25, sch. 1A ss. 6,33).

Of relevance to the question of accumulation:

- The financial viability condition requires that a provider is and is likely to remain financially viable (*HESA* s. 19-5, sch. 1A s. 14).
- Fairness includes that providers must 'treat fairly' or treat 'equally and fairly' all current students and all persons seeking to enrol as students (*HESA* s. 19-30, sch 1A s. 18; *Higher Education Support (VET) Guideline 2015* (Cth) s. 41). This may impose some very loose limits as to fairness of provision of benefits over the several cohort years of the enrolled and enrolling students and hence be an initial step toward fair treatment over time.
- The mission-based compact articulates a higher education provider's overall mission and strategies for teaching and research (*HESA* s. 19-110). The compact might therefore be expected to impact in general terms on the time that research is undertaken and that educational benefits are provided to students.

In addition, quality assurance is also directly imposed for teaching and research training by way of registration and accreditation of institutions and courses, on-going quality standards<sup>xxii</sup> and on-going monitoring by bodies, such as the Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency and Australian Skills Quality Authority (for instance, see Dow & Braithwaite 2013: 12-16). Quality assurance is also indirectly imposed for much research funding through the research grant application selection process, especially for competitive grants and through Excellence in Research Australia assessments (compare Dow & Braithwaite 2013: 21-22).

Accordingly, the funding and quality assurance arrangements require tertiary education providers to carry out a certain amount of quality research and teaching activities, particularly as the unspent portion of some grants<sup>xxiii</sup> may be clawed back (*HESA* ss. 41-10, 41-40, 46-35, pt. 2-5; *Australian Research Council Act 2001* (Cth) s. 58). Nevertheless, it is possible for providers to retain surpluses from Commonwealth grants scheme amounts for Commonwealth supported student places and many universities have traditionally used such teaching surpluses to cross-subsidise research (Watt 2015: 12-13; Department of Education and Training 2015: 22). Research block grants based on historical research projects/funding could also potentially provide a surplus over the cost of those outputs or the indirect support required for that funded research project. Increased solicitation of donations and (although prospectively less so, due to COVID-19 travel restrictions) fees from full fee paying domestic and international students suggests additional sources of income that are not subject to the Commonwealth funding requirements discussed above.

Many universities are also created by their own piece of legislation and so subject to specific requirements under that legislation. The objects provisions in some pieces of legislation explicitly provide for teaching, research and community service activities (for instance, see University of Melbourne Act 2009 (Vic) s. 5; University of Sydney Act 1989 (NSW) s. 6), which would mean that at least some level of such activities would need to be routinely engaged in so that the university senate or council members satisfy their duties. University establishment legislation or public body financial management legislation also commonly imposes financial administration, reporting and auditing requirements (See University of Western Australia Act 1911 (WA) s. 41; University of Melbourne Act 2009 (Vic) s. 47, pt. 6 div 6; Financial Management Act 1994 (Vic); Audit Act 1994 (Vic)). This could influence donors if a university already appears to have sufficient assets. Further, universities are typically subject to additional internal and external influences that regulate their behaviour (Dow & Braithwaite 2013: 20). External league tables that rank education providers on measures comprising a range of teaching and/or research matters are likely to be one such important influence. So too are community expectations around support for students affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and provision of research assistance to governments in devising public health responses.

### Primary and secondary education

Non-government primary and secondary education providers are subject to state regulation relating to registration and to ongoing compliance and review in relation to a range of operational quality, safety and organisational capacity requirements regarding curriculum, staff qualifications and governance procedures (Varnham 2013: 160-165). In addition, to access funding provided by the Commonwealth via the States, non-government primary and secondary school providers must also be approved under the Australian Education Act 2013 (Cth). This legislation requires, amongst other things, that providers be financially viable and have ongoing quality improvement processes in place; and generally within the year that it is received 'spend, or commit to spend' recurrent education funding, short term emergency assistance funding and capital funding (Australian Education Act 2013 (Cth) ss. 78(2)(a), 85(2)(a), 93(2)(b); Australian Education Regulation 2013 (Cth) ss. 29, 30, 31). Failure to comply can result in the claw-back of funding (Australian Education Act 2013 (Cth) pt. 8). Significant financial and non-financial reporting is also imposed (Australian Education Act 2013 (Cth) ss. 78(2)(b), 85(2)(b), 93(2)(c); Australian Education Regulation 2013 (Cth) ss. 32-40). However, as for universities, privately sourced school fees and donations are also significant sources of income (Gonski et al. 2011: 37).

#### Health

This part focuses on private hospitals as a large number are NFPs (including charities) and they have been identified, at least in North America, as a potential accumulation source (O'Neil & Hatch 2017; Fricke 2015: 1153-1161). In Australia, the safety and quality standards applying to hospitals effectively require a minimum level of activities from year to year and ministerial approval of health insurance premium increases indirectly limits some fees. However, material scope for accumulation remains.

Individual states and territories have responsibility for licensing private hospitals and regulating the safety and quality of health services provided (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2018). In broad terms, the licensing arrangements set safety and quality standards and impose suitability requirements for operators and licence holders that typically include financial viability (see Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2018: 41-47). Nationally agreed safety and quality standards in the form of the *National Safety and Quality Health Service Standards* also apply (Australian Commission on Quality and Safety in Health Care 2017). Safety and quality standards extend, to a degree, to matters such as staffing, to minimum

numbers of patients for certain types of services and to on-going education and quality monitoring, thus requiring a certain level of activity by the private hospital (see Australian Commission on Quality and Safety in Health Care 2017: std 1; *Private Health Facilities Regulation 2017* (NSW) sch. 1 standards 11, 23, 24, sch 2 standards 2, 20, 31, 61, 72; *Health Services Act 1988* (Vic) ss. 42, 83(1)(h), (i), (j); *Health Services (Health Service Establishments) Regulations 2013* (Vic)).

Funding is primarily sourced from private health insurance funds and payments from individuals, though still with over 30 percent of Commonwealth and state government funding, including payments under the Medicare Benefits Scheme and Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (which may therefore involve some direct pricing caps) (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2018: 61, figures are for 2015-16). Private hospitals that receive funding from private health insurers or under the Medicare Benefits Scheme are required to be declared by the minister under the *Private Health Insurance Act 2007* (Cth). Matters that the minister considers in making a declaration include the nature of the facility and the range of services provided, as well as whether state licences and accreditations are in place (s. 121-125(7)). As private health insurers are required to obtain ministerial approval for premium increases under the *Private Health Insurance Act 2007* (Cth), this may result in an indirect constraint on fees, reducing the ability to hoard.

#### Licensed trustee companies

Based on data as at 2013, licensed trustee companies (LTCs) administered charitable trusts holding around half of all charitable trust assets; at the time amounting to \$3.4 billion (CAMAC 2013: 17). LTCs are professional trustees prescribed by regulations to the *Corporations Act* and that are required to hold an Australian financial services licence (AFS licence) for the provision of traditional trustee company services, which include administering a charitable trust (*Corporations Act* ch. 5D, especially s. 601RAC). It appears that the 'vast majority' of the charitable trusts administered by LTCs have trust terms that seek to preclude distributions of capital (Financial Services Council 2012: 16), suggesting a significant number of permanently endowed philanthropic foundations for which accumulation is a potential concern.

The *Corporations Act* regulatory regime for LTCs requires an LTC to be a fit and proper person and to be capable of providing traditional trustee services (s. 601RAB(2A)), contains rules

about LTC fees (pt. 5D.3), imposes duties on LTC officers and employees (pt. 5D.4) and restricts the level of voting power a person is permitted to hold in an LTC (pt. 5D.5). The AFS licence requirements bring further obligations. Some relate to the integrity, competence and organisational capacity of the LTC. Amongst other things, the LTC must have adequate resources (*Corporations Act* s. 912A(1)(d)), have office holders who are fit and proper persons and are competent (ss. 912A(1)(e), (f), 913B) and have adopted an appropriate risk management framework (s. 912A(1)(h)). Some requirements relate more directly to trust administration. For instance, the AFS licence requirements to do all things necessary to ensure that services are provided 'efficiently, honestly and fairly' (s. 912A(1)(a))<sup>xxiv</sup> and to provide a financial services guide to the charitable trust settlor (pt. 7.7 div 2).

The above requirements clearly go to the fitness and capacity of LTCs and their officers and employees and hence help reduce the accumulation-related agency costs of mission drift or loss of trust assets. Indeed, the duties imposed on LTC officers and employees relate to acting honestly, acting with due care and diligence, not making improper use of information or position and taking reasonable steps to ensure LTC compliance with the *Corporations Act* and AFS licence conditions (*Corporations Act* pt. 5D.4). They therefore reflect a number of charity governance duties, as well as extending to LTC specific requirements. The LTC requirements also help to ensure an LTC's capacity to give genuine consideration to intergenerational equity.

However, where LTC fees are based in some way on the level of trust assets, there is a lingering concern that LTCs might seek to maintain or increase trust capital to enhance their fees (compare Madoff 2010: 107-108). When reviewing LTC administration of charitable trusts, the federal government's Corporations and Markets Advisory Committee received divergent submissions on the reasonableness of fees charged by LTCs and ultimately recommended both 'stewardship audits' of the reasonableness of LTC fees and the addition of a 'fair and reasonable' fee requirement (CAMAC 2013).<sup>xxv</sup> Notably, post-ch 5D charitable trusts administered by LTCs appear to involve fees determined by private agreement between the LTC and settlor or based on a statutory percentage of the annual value of trust assets, rather than on the statutory income (and one-off capital) commission approach (CAMAC 2013: 23-4), suggesting a focus on maintaining accumulated assets.

#### Conclusion

This article has demonstrated that concerns about charity hoarding are ameliorated to a degree by activities-based legal restraints. For instance, charities undertaking fundraising are potentially subject to slightly greater constraints on retention of the solicited funds as a result of private law obligations or fundraising regulation. This might involve a Warren Buffett-style condition that donated funds be spent within a set period, or, as a result of fundraising legislation requirements that funds be used for the purpose raised, a charity assertion or donor wish that collected funds be spent within a certain time. The existence of any such assertion or wish will depend on the nature of the fundraising appeal. For example, it is more likely for a COVID-19 pandemic relief appeal than for a university's endowment fundraising drive.

However, the above fundraising restrictions are based on the private choices of donors in selecting an express or implied time limit for their donation, or of charity controllers in framing the specific fundraising purpose and its temporal nature. Only some jurisdictions go further. The New South Wales fundraising legislation does provide for appointment of an external administrator on public interest grounds, which permits greater recourse to considerations such as efficiency or intergenerational justice, and to the underlying goals of charity law. Dormant funds legislation in New South Wales, South Australia and Queensland, that applies where it is not practicable to use collected funds for the purpose collected, may also allow limited consideration of efficiency and intergenerational justice in a similar fashion to the cy-près scheme jurisdiction. Indeed, the New South Wales legislation focuses on the reasonableness of the time between collection and use of collected funds.

Those in receipt of government funding may also be subject to claw-back of unspent funds under the terms of the funding agreement. Further, the funding and quality and safety assurance legislative regimes for education and health providers such as universities and non-profit hospitals, impose a range of pertinent requirements. For instance, requirements as to financial viability and capacity, but also recoupment of unspent funds, as well as the obligation to provide a certain amount of contemporaneous quality teaching, research and care. Likewise, the LTC regime imposes fitness and capacity measures, along with some constraints on fees.

Thus, it is first worth noting that the requirements for education, health providers and LTCs, that go to viability and capacity, act as mechanisms to reduce governance risks such as mission drift due to an inappropriate focus on building up accumulated assets (compare Tuckman & Chang 1992: 79). As suggested by the LTC fee discussion, however, the measures do not appear to be entirely effective in eliminating governance risks of hoarding.

Second, the state's ability to intervene under fundraising or dormant funds legislation in some circumstances and to set expenditure and service-provision conditions for government funding does also mean that the current generation has some ability to alter accumulation approaches over time where funds have been raised by these means.

Third, activities-based regulation applying to sectors such as education and health does require a base level of activity for the benefit of present generations. Fundraising obligations may in limited circumstances also preclude indefinite accumulation of solicited funds.

Nevertheless, this activities-based regulation is somewhat piecemeal in its coverage of charities. Nor does it appear to be informed by any normative approach to the allocation of benefits between generations, albeit that it is possible to incorporate considerations of intergenerational justice and efficiency into service levels set for government funding, or within fundraising and dormant funds legislation public interest or practicability tests. Accordingly, while activity-based restraints do restrict hoarding, they still leave many charities significant opportunities for accumulation. Further, the lack of a clear normative approach to accumulation within the activities-based restraints is likely to dilute the general guidance that charity controllers might draw from the restraints. The once-in-a-lifetime COVID-19 pandemic therefore provides an opportunity for revisiting law reform options for the regulation of charity accumulation.

#### NOTES

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>i</sup> Taxation Administration (Private Ancillary Fund) Guidelines 2019 (Cth) r. 15; Public Ancillary Fund Guidelines 2011 (Cth) r. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>ii</sup> Governance duties may, however, apply in limited circumstances if the fundraising objective results in a charitable trust for that fundraising purpose or if a donation obligation arises, such that the duty of care and diligence is enlivened.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>iii</sup> The conditional gift may be characterised as subject to a trust, a condition or a charge, that the donated funds be used for a purpose. As to the differing bases, see, eg, *Countess of Bective v FCT* (1932) 47 CLR 417, 418-20 (Dixon J); *Muschinski v Dodds* (1984-1985) 160 CLR 583, 604-7 (Brennan J).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>iv</sup> Collections for Charities Act 2001 (Tas) s. 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>v</sup> Charitable Collections Act 2003 (ACT) ss. 44(1), (2); Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 (NSW) s. 20(1).

<sup>vi</sup> In South Australia, ACNC registered charities are deemed to have a collections licence and hence to be subject to the collections legislation: *Collections for Charitable Purposes Act 1939* (SA) s. 6(3).

<sup>vii</sup> A further ground is that the charity 'has ceased effectively to carry out any charitable purpose': s. 13(2)(d).

<sup>viii</sup> In which case the Director can appoint an administrator in relation to the appeal assets: s. 61B.

<sup>ix</sup> A mere difference between the ultimate degree of deferral and an initial statement will not always render the making of the statement misleading or deceptive. As to application of the *Australian Consumer Law* to charitable fundraising (see, eg, CAANZ 2016: 13, 15-17; 2017: 75-76). As to the inclusion in state fundraising legislation of prohibitions on misleading or deceptive statements and/or conduct, see, eg, Dal Pont 2017: ch. 18.

<sup>x</sup> *Charitable Fundraising Act 1991* (NSW) s. 33(2) (appointment of administrator); *Collections Act 1966* (Qld) ss. 34(1), 35(1)(d) (potential vesting of donated property in the public trustee); *Collections for Charitable Purposes Act 1939* (SA) ss. 6(7)(a), 12(4)(a) (revocation); *Charitable Collections Act 1946* (WA) s. 13(2)(a) (revocation).

<sup>xi</sup> Collections for Charitable Purposes Act 1939 (SA) s. 17(1)(b) (vesting of funds in the Minister); Charitable Collections Act 1946 (WA) ss. 5, 17(1)(b) (vesting of funds in the Minister); Collections Act 1966 (Qld) s. 35(1)(f) (vesting of funds in public trustee).

x<sup>ii</sup> Associations Incorporation Act 2015 (WA) s. 123, sch. 4 item 4.

x<sup>iii</sup> Associations Incorporation Act 2009 (NSW) s. 63(1)(b); Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012 (Vic) s. 126(1)(b). Cf Associations Incorporation Act 1981 (Qld) s. 90(1)(a); Associations Incorporation Act 1991 (ACT) s. 90(c).

xiv Associations Act 2003 (NT) s. 73(2)(e); Associations Incorporation Act 1985 (SA) s. 44. Cf Associations Incorporation Act 1964 (Tas) s. 34.

<sup>xv</sup> *Re McElroy Trust* [2003] 2 NZLR 289, [14] (Tipping J). See also *Knowles v A-G (Tas)* [2016] TASSC 25, [15]-[17] (Wood J); *Free Serbian Orthodox Church Diocese for Australia and New Zealand Property Trust v Dobrijevic* (2017) 94 NSWLR 340, [214] (Court of Appeal). <sup>xvi</sup> *Re Radich* [2013] NZHC 2944.

<sup>xvii</sup> By addressing information asymmetry as a source of market failure (Treasury (Cth) 2012: 5-6).

<sup>xviii</sup> There are significant exceptions in some states and territories. For instance, Tasmania expressly excludes some categories of charities, such as charitable trusts: *Collections for Charities Order 2001* (Tas) s. 4. Some religious bodies are exempt from the *Charitable Fundraising Act 1991* (NSW).

<sup>xix</sup> For instance, South Australia (*Statutes Amendment* (*Commonwealth Registered Entities*) Act 2016 (SA) pt. 3) and the Australian Capital Territory (*Red Tape Reduction Legislation Amendment Act 2017* (ACT) s. 18).

<sup>xx</sup> Charitable fundraisers are able to access relief from some requirements.

<sup>xxi</sup> Department of Social Services (Cth), 'DSS Streamlined Grant Agreement – General Grant Conditions' (November 2014) cl. 10.1; Department of Social Services (Cth), 'Streamlined Grant Agreement' (May 2014) G7; Department of Social Services (Cth), 'DSS Comprehensive Grant Agreement – Terms and Conditions' (July 2014) cl. 10, 11, 13 (the Comprehensive Grant Agreement sets out more detailed rules for asset purchasing approval and asset ownership).

<sup>xxii</sup> Such as the Higher Education Standards Framework and the VET Quality Framework.

<sup>xxiii</sup> Commonwealth grant scheme amounts for commonwealth supported places are not subject to a claw-back of this nature other than in limited circumstances.

<sup>xxiv</sup> As to the scope and impact of this requirement, see Latimer (2006).

<sup>xxv</sup> The existing requirement to ensure that services are provided 'efficiently, honestly and fairly' would already appear to offer some bulwark against unfair or unreasonable fees.

#### REFERENCES

- ACNC (2020) Australian Charities Report 2018. Melbourne: ACNC. Available at: <u>https://www.acnc.gov.au/tools/reports/australian-charities-report-2018</u>
- ASIC (2016) *Regulatory Guide Charities: RG 87.* Available at: <u>https://asic.gov.au/regulatory-resources/find-a-document/regulatory-guides/rg-87-charitable-schemes-and-school-enrolment-deposits</u>.
- Australian Commission on Quality and Safety in Health Care (2017) National Safety and Quality Health Service Standards. 2nd ed. Sydney.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (2018) *Australia's Health 2018: Australia's Health Series No. 16.* Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Australian Taxation Office (2018) *Taxation Statistics 2015-16*. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia. Available at: <u>https://data.gov.au/data</u>.
- Bell, J. & Dubb, S. (2020) Will donor-advised funds meet their 'rainy day' promise? *Nonprofit Quarterly*, 28 April.
- Buffett, W. (2006) Letter to Bill and Melinda Gates, 26 June. Available at: www.berkshirehathaway.com/donate/bmgfltr.pdf.
- CAANZ (2016) Australian Consumer Law Review: Interim report. Parkes: Treasury (Cth).
- CAANZ (2017) Australian Consumer Law Review: Final report. Parkes: Treasury (Cth).
- Cassidy, T. (2020) Great-Grandparents donate multi-million-dollar penthouse proceeds to COVID-19 research. *ABC News Online*, 24 April.
- Commonwealth of Australia (2015) Driving Greater Collaboration Through University Research Block Grants: National Innovation and Science Agenda, Factsheet 11. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Corporations and Markets Advisory Committee (CAMAC) (2013) Administration of Charitable Trusts: Report. Sydney: CAMAC. Available at: www.camac.gov.au.
- Cortis, N., Young, A., Powell, A., Reeve, R., Simnett, R., Ho, K. & Ramia, I. (2016) *Australian Charities Report 2015*. New South Wales: Centre for Social Impact and Social Policy Research Centre, UNSW.

Dal Pont, G. (2017) Law of Charity. 2nd ed. Chatswood: LexisNexis.

- Deep, A. & Frumkin, P. (2005) *The Foundation Payout Puzzle*: Working paper no. 9. Cambridge MA: Hauser Center for Nonprofit Organizations, Harvard University.
- Department of Education and Training (2015) *Higher Education in Australia: A review of reviews* from Dawkins to today. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Department of Finance (2017) Commonwealth Grants Rules and Guidelines: Guidelines. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Department of Finance (2018a) *Commonwealth Simple Grant Agreement*. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Department of Finance (2018b) Commonwealth Standard Grant Agreement. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Department of Finance (2019) Clause Bank Standard Agreement. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Dow, K. & Braithwaite, V. (2013) *Review of Higher Education Regulation*. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Eales, J. (2017) Old school ties. The Australian Magazine: The Philanthropy Issue, 15 September: 32.
- Ernst & Young (2014) Research into Commonwealth Regulatory and Reporting Burdens on the Charity Sector: A report prepared for the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission. Available at: www.acnc.gov.au/tools/reports/research-commonwealthregulatory-and-reporting-burdens-charity-sector.
- Financial Services Council. (2012) Submission to the Corporations and Markets Advisory Committee: Administration of charitable trusts. Sydney: CAMAC.
- Fishman, J. (2014) What went wrong: Prudent management of endowment funds and imprudent endowment investing policies. *Journal of College and University Law*, 40(2): 199.
- Fricke, M. (2015) The case against income tax exemption for nonprofits. *St John's Law Review*, 89(4): 1129-1184.
- Garton, J. (2009) The Regulation of Organised Civil Society. Oxford: Hart Publishing.
- Gonski, D. (2011) *Review of Funding for Schooling: Final report.* Canberra: Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations.
- Halperin, D. (2011) Tax policy and endowments: Is excessive accumulation subsidized? (Part II). *Exempt Organization Tax Review*, 67(2): 125.
- Hanmer, G. (2020) It's important for universities to continue their building programs. *The Australian*, 5 May.
- Johnson, C., Kamis, T. & Gendler, R. (2020) Cornell can't use its \$7.2 billion endowment to help mitigate COVID-19 losses: Here's why. *Cornell Daily Sun*, 24 April.
- Kidd, J. (2020) Bushfire anger intensifies as NSW Ministers claim charities stockpiling cash meant for victims. *ABC News Online*, 23 January.
- Latimer, P. (2006) Providing financial services 'efficiently, honestly and fairly'. *Company and Securities Law Journal*, 24 (6): 362.

Martin, Attorney-General (1942) Parliamentary Debates: 15 October 1942. New

South Wales: Legislative Assembly.

Madoff, R. (2010) Immortality and the Law: The rising power of the American dead.

New Haven: Yale University Press.

- McClure, P., Hammond, G., McCluskey, S. & Turnour, M. (2018) Strengthening for Purpose: Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission legislation review 2018: Report and recommendations. Canberra: Treasury. Available at: <u>https://treasury.gov.au/sites/default/files/2019-03/p2018-t318031.pdf</u>.
- Mulheron, R. (2006) The Modern Cy-près Doctrine. London: UCL Press.
- Murray, I. (2014) Accumulation in charitable trusts: Australian statutory perpetuities rules. *Journal of Equity*, 8(2): 163-195.
- Murray, I. (2015) Charity accumulation: Interrogating the conventional view on tax restraints. *Sydney Law Review*, 37 (4): 541-568.
- Murray, I. (2017) Nudging charities to balance the needs of the present against those of the future. In R. Levy, M. O'Brien, S. Rice, P. Ridge & M. Thornton (eds.), *New Directions for Law in Australia*. Acton: ANU E-press: 347-356.
- Murray, I. (2020, forthcoming) *Charity Law and Accumulation: Maintaining an intergenerational balance*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- O'Neil, M. & Hatch, J. (2017) Taking it to the bank. Chronicle of Philanthropy, 29 (10): 24-31.
- Productivity Commission (Cth) (2010) Contribution of the NFP Sector: Research report. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Rooney, P. & Bergdoll, J. (2020) What happens to charitable giving when the economy falters? *The Conversation*, 23 March.
- Senate Standing Committee on Economics (2008) *Disclosure Regimes for Charities and Not-for-profit Organisations*. Canberra: Parliament of Australia.
- Seselja, Z. (2020) Government Response to the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Legislative Review 2018. Canberra: Treasury. Available at: https://treasury.gov.au/sites/default/files/2020-03/p2020-61958-govt-response.pdf.
- The Economist (2020) A helping hand: Covid-19 exposes American philanthropy's strengths and weaknesses. *The Economist*, 27 April.
- Treasury (Cth) (2011) *Scoping Study for a National Not-for-profit Regulator: Final report.* Parkes: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Treasury (Cth) (2012) Charitable Fundraising Regulation Reform: Discussion paper and draft regulation impact statement. Parkes: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Tuckman, H. & Chang, C. (1992) Nonprofit equity: A behavioural model and its policy implications. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, 11 (1): 76.
- Varnham, S. (2013) Halsbury's Laws of Australia: Education and research. Chatswood: LexisNexis.

- Verspaandonk, R. (2001) Outsourcing: For and against. Current Issues Brief No.18. Canberra: Parliament of Australia.
- Watt, I. (2015) *Review of Research Policy and Funding Arrangements*. Canberra: Department of Education and Training.

# **ABOUT THE AUTHOR**

IAN MURRAY is an Associate Professor in the Law School at the University of

Western Australia. His research focuses on the intersection between not-for-profit law, tax and corporate governance. He is currently investigating the intergenerational issues raised by the accumulation of assets by charities, as well as what it means to act in the best interests of a charity. Email: <u>ian.murray@uwa.edu.au</u>.

# FROM THE FIELD

# What does the next generation of Christian not-for-profit leaders need?

Paul Oslington, Professor of Economics, Alphacrucis College, Sydney

# Abstract

This paper reports on a project funded by the Genesis Foundation to interview CEOs of Australian Christian not-for-profits about the leadership needs of organisations, as part of the development of a new not-for-profit leadership specialisation within the Master of Leadership at Alphacrucis College. This program fills a gap in leadership education by integrating the skills the next generation of Christian not-for-profit leaders need to run large and complex organisations with the capacity to maintain the Christian identity and mission of the organisation. Those interviewed emphasised the importance of character formation, the need for programs tailored to a particular context of the organisation, and the intense time and resource pressures on programs for their future leaders. It is hoped these and other findings reported will be useful for practitioners in the sector.

## Introduction

This paper reports on a project funded by the Genesis Foundation to ascertain the leadership needs of Christian not-for-profit organisations in Australia, as part of the development of a new not-for-profit leadership specialisation within the Master of Leadership at Alphacrucis College. The sector is undergoing rapid change and its health is crucial for many disadvantaged Australians it serves (Gilchrist & Pilcher 2018). It is hoped that the findings will be useful for practitioners in the sector.

The new program at Alphacrucis fills a gap in leadership education in Australia. Many notfor-profit organisations, especially in social services, disability, and international development are connected with Christian churches. In social services, for instance, more than half of services are delivered by organisations connected with Christian churches (the terminology varies - sometimes faith-based organisations or religious organisations - see Hynd 2017), often involving government contracts (Oslington 2015). In developing their leaders, the historically driven separation between theological education and universities in Australia (Oslington 2014) means that Christian not-for-profits in Australia looking to develop leaders who can guard their Christian identity and mission as well as have the skills to run complex, sometimes very large, organisations in a rapidly changing environment are faced with a difficult choice. Our theological colleges remain focused on preparing congregational ministers for the respective church denominations, and while they may do a good job of that, their programs provide little in the way of business and leadership skills. Moreover, the training they offer does not equip their graduates to connect theology with the business and leadership in a way that meets the challenges of organisational leadership in Christian not-for-profits. If the offerings of our theological colleges are not helpful for future leaders of our Christian not-for-profits then the alternatives are Master of Business Administration (MBA) programs offered by most of our universities and programs focused on not-for profits such as those offered by the Centre for Philanthropy and Nonprofit Studies at QUT, and the Centre for Social Impact at UNSW/UWA/Swinburne.

These alternatives at secular universities don't include theology and so leave their students without the intellectual background for the crucial leadership task of maintaining the Christian identity and mission of Christian not-for-profit organisations. This task is crucial not just for appropriate Christian witness, but for the long-term health of the organisations, and hence their capacity to serve disadvantaged Australians of all religious persuasions. The title chosen by the sub-editor for a recent article I was invited to write for the *Australian Financial Review* on NFP leadership (Oslington 2019) perhaps too starkly captures the choice faced by Christian NFPs: "Sharp-Suited MBA or Incompetent Minister?". Another way of putting this is the choice between mission drift (Greer & Horst 2014; Grimes et al. 2019) and leadership which lacks the necessary skills, potentially putting the survival of the organisation at risk (Menefee 2009; Anheier 2014).

The grant Alphacrucis received from the Genesis Foundation enabled myself as project leader, Master of Leadership Program Director Dr Mulyadi Robin and facilitator Naomi Nash from New River Leadership to interview CEOs and other senior leaders of Christian not-for-profit organisations. Co-design of the program with practitioners was our aim as we wanted to ensure the new program met the actual needs of the sector rather than needs as imagined by a group of academics, albeit academics who had spent considerable time studying the sector.

Interviews were conducted with approximately thirty senior leaders of Christian not-for-profit organisations in Sydney, Melbourne, Perth, Brisbane and Hobart over a twelve-month period in 2018-19. Many of the not-for-profits were social service organisations, with some international development focus and other mission foci. Hospitals and schools were excluded. The organisations were mostly large. As part of the interviews we undertook not to identify individuals or organisations in any public reporting of the findings.

Our approach was to begin with questions about the operating environment and strategy, and then focus on the leadership development needs that flowed from these. We were particularly interested in the backgrounds of the current leaders of the organisations and the ways the organisations sought to develop future leaders. We took particular note of the resources available for leadership development.

## Findings

The strongest message from our interviews was concern about where the next generation of Christian not-for-profit leaders would come from. Organisations currently struggle to find appropriately formed and skilled senior leaders and the expectation is that this will get worse rather than better in the years to come.

A problem raised by some CEOs was that those with training in health, counselling, social work or similar fields who rise through front-line operations, though excellent practitioners, are often ill-equipped for senior leadership roles. The problem described was not just lack of skills such as finance, which can be remedied through training, but a problem of professional cultures. Training in the helping professions often comes with an ideological ingrained suspicion of markets and authority, leaving those who do rise to managerial positions deeply conflicted about their new leadership and management responsibilities (the issue is also discussed by Hwang & Powell 2009 and Hoefer 2009). There are exceptions, and even the CEOs describing the problem could point to successful leaders who had risen through the ranks. If a social service organisation instead bypasses those within the organisation and hires from outside there are other problems, such as disconnection of the organisation from those who it

serves. Leaders hired from outside with a corporate or government background often struggle with the service ethos of the organisation, and with the Christian mission and identity of the organisation. We heard many stories of disastrous cultural mismatch for hires from the corporate or government worlds into Christian not-for-profit organisations.

The development needs of those promoted through the organisation tend to be finance, governance and leadership, whereas for external hires the issues are adjusting to the culture of the Christian not-for-profit and learning to tell the Christian story of the organisation.

Another theme of the interviews was the extreme time pressure on leaders of Christian not-forprofit organisations, and the lack of resources for leadership development. Government contracts usually only cover the direct costs of service delivery leaving the organisations to somehow finance leadership development and maintenance of the Christian identity and mission. This observation has previously been made by others including Hynd (2016), Gallet (2016).

Organisations varied greatly in their understanding of Christian identity and mission. Some understood their Christian mission as providing high-quality services to the disadvantaged with little or no explicit reference to the Christian faith. Leaders occasionally referred to restrictions placed on Christian witness by accepting government contracts, but on the whole, it seemed that the minimalist understanding of Christian mission was culturally entrenched in the organisation and that government restrictions were the excuse rather than the driver of this understanding. At the other end of the spectrum some organisations saw communication of the Christian basis of their work as essential, and the reason for the continued existence of the organisation.

In conjunction with interviews we spent some time studying the governance arrangements of the different organisations and there seems to be a strong association between the Board representation and other influences of the church the organisation is associated with and the understanding of Christian mission and identity. This is a topic which warrants further systematic investigation.

In terms of the skills and character that organisations were looking for in their leaders, and thus in any educational program for them, the need for personal character formation came across very strongly. We heard very often that skills can be acquired more easily than character, and that failures of the latter tend to be much more damaging for the organisation. There is of course debate about the extent to which character can be formed in a degree program, but we will be paying great attention to character and spiritual development in the educational design. Our proposed program includes the existing core Master of Leadership units

- Christian Worldview,
- Introduction to Leadership,
- Governance Law and Ethics,
- Finance,
- Organisational Leadership,
- Intercultural Communication.

These core units were affirmed as important. The new units we were proposing in the not-forprofit leadership specialisation are:

- The Social Policy Environment for NFP Leadership
- Maintaining Christian Identity and Mission
- Evidence Based Evaluation.

The importance of the evidence-based evaluation unit was affirmed in an environment where Christian not-for-profits are called to justify their existence. There was particular interest in the component of this unit where we discussed techniques for measuring and valuing the Christian dimension of the organisations' services. The Christian identity and mission unit is something that sets the program apart from those offered by our Australian secular universities and was strongly affirmed by most of the CEOs we interviewed. They were particularly interested in practical guidance informed by the history of organisations that have succeeded or failed in maintaining their Christian identity and mission.

Two existing electives in the Master of Leadership program attracted strong interest

- Spiritual Life of the Leader
- Church and Not-For-Profit Law

The interest in the first reflects the importance the CEOs placed on character for their future leaders and this unit, together with the compulsory capstone unit in the Master of Leadership focus on cultivating the personal and communal spiritual disciplines to sustain fruitful longterm leadership. The capstone unit is also particularly concerned with integrating a Christian worldview with the more skills-based business and leadership units in the program.

The interest in our church and NFP law unit reflects the complex and changing environment that our Christian not-for-profits operate in. The concern of this unit is not just compliance with legal and ACNC governance requirements, but capacity of leaders to contribute to the political debates over religious freedom, taxation and other privileges enjoyed by religious organisations (Judd, Robinson & Errington 2012). And of course the issues flowing from the Royal Commissions into child sex abuse, disability, and aged care.

There was a concern among many of the leaders regarding the absence of women at the senior levels of these organisations. This, in many cases, flows from the lack of encouragement of women in leadership in the denominations with which the organisations are associated, and there is a need for subjects which attend to the particular needs of women leaders. As well as offering particular units for women leaders we were conscious that mentoring and other initiatives outside the classroom were important in raising women leaders. Addressing gender and diversity issues also involves men, and this needs to be reflected elsewhere in the new program.

The CEOs we talked with wanted programs that were flexible, practical, and oriented to the particular needs of their organisation. This means programs that are offered on-site to cohorts of future leaders selected by the organisation, at times which fit the organisational work patterns. It also means having practitioners from the organisation teaching alongside academics in the program. Pricing also has to fit the budget constraints of the organisations.

One conundrum was the conflict between the desire for flexibility and the emphasis that the CEOs placed on formation of their future leaders. Prioritising flexibility would prioritise online delivery whereas prioritising formation would emphasise face-to-face intensives, probably residential. Balancing flexibility and formation has been an ongoing struggle in other programs and the emerging answer seems to be not to try to replicate the face-to-face experience over the internet while building face-to-face learning communities where the students are geographically located. For a not-for-profit leadership program this means making an offer to cohorts of students within an organisation or a group of organisations and devoting resources to building learning communities there—this remedy also allows for increased flexibility with respect to timing and location of face-to-face delivery.

We are conscious that our interview sample was heavily weighted towards larger social service organisations, and those with a stronger commitment to maintaining their Christian identity and mission.

#### Comparison with other Australian studies

At the most recent Australian and New Zealand Third Sector Review conference Craig Furneaux (2018) presented preliminary results of a similar project surveying the leadership needs of Australian not-for-profits as part of a review of the QUT Master of Business (Philanthropy and Nonprofit Studies) curriculum. Furneaux's study focuses on the needs of not-for-profits generally rather than the particular needs of religious NFPs. However, like this project, there is a concern to design programs that meet the needs of the sector rather than needs as perceived by academics or agendas within the administration of the institution offering the program.

Furneaux also made the important point (drawing on Di Maggio 1988) that there is huge diversity of not-for-profits by sub-sector of activity, size, and other features that mean the leadership needs vary greatly. For instance, leaders in small organisations have to be generalists and much more hands-on. In some sectors where government contracts and funding predominate leaders need to be able to develop tenders, manage compliance, as well as make strategic judgments about the organisation's relationship with government. I would add, based on the findings of the current project, that religious identity and mission is another dimension of leadership that varies greatly across Australian not-for-profits and requires special attention. This dimension of diversity has received less attention than it warrants in the research literature, especially in Australia where not-for-profits sectors such as social services, overseas aid & development, and education are dominated by religious organisations.

In terms of leadership skills required, the literature review stage of Furneaux's project, mostly drawing on US literature, suggested the core skills were strategy, HRM, conflict resolution, finance, fundraising, marketing, communication, and cross-cultural analysis. Various context specific skills were also identified.

The most significant recent published work on leadership needs of Australian not-for-profits is Wenzel and De Klerk (2016) and Wenzel (2017), developed as part of the Learning for Purpose project based at the Centre for Social Impact at University of Western Australia. His organising concept was human capital in the sector while the project dealt with all ranks of employees not just senior leadership.

Findings emphasised strategy, fundraising and people management, including managing volunteers, among a longer list of competencies needed in the social sector: "strategy; governance; leadership and management of employees and volunteers; program and service design; impact measurement and evaluation; risk management and legal issues; enlisting funding; financial management and accounting; integrated reporting; attracting, developing, retaining talent; information and technology management; community outreach and marketing; advocacy and public policy; ethics; diversity" (Wenzel 2017: 122). This list accords with Furneaux's literature review findings.

As well as considering the content of a leadership training program, Wenzel argues that attention is needed to emphasise motivation and transferability if learning is to be effective. For organisations and educators this means care about the timing and location of programs in the annual and weekly rhythms of leaders. Some of the CEOs we interviewed as part of the current project felt that weeklong intensives, preferably offsite, were the best way of getting participant focus on the course, though we have found at Alphacrucis that weeklong intensives mean that participants feel swamped with material and would like more time for reflection. There are always withdrawals before weeklong intensives as senior staff find themselves unable to be away for a whole week. We've found that breaking courses up into two-day blocks, incentivising pre-reading through early assessment based on the course readings, and enhancing opportunities for on-line interaction between the blocks helps. Part of the plan for the new NFP leadership program is teaching courses on the NFP site if they have enough participants, or teaching hubs for participants from NFPs in an area. This model as well reducing travel time makes the program fit better into the rhythms of the working week for leaders. Having cohorts of leaders from an organisation or organisations in an area studying will also likely increase motivation and application of learning.

An important point Wenzel makes is that funding models need to change to address the leadership gaps, and workforce training more generally. Government contracts for delivery of social services cover only the direct costs of programs, and not the indirect costs. Where there is competition for contracts between providers, the price is often driven down to the direct

program costs as providers market position and scale. The result is that leadership development misses out, to the long-term detriment of service delivery. Dealing with this in an environment of tight government budgets is not easy. It requires co-ordinated action from providers and the making of the political case for funding of indirect costs in order to secure the future of the program, and the continued efficient delivery of quality services to Australians who need them. One of those indirect costs highlighted by the current project interviewees and germane to this article is investment in the maintenance of mission and identity of the organisations.

#### Issues for practitioners and educators

Issues for not-for-profit leaders with responsibility for developing the next generation of leaders are discussed throughout the paper. However, here I would like to highlight several issues, especially those that also involve educators, governments, and philanthropy.

The particular history of Australia's higher education system has contributed to the gap in leadership training identified in this project. In Australia, in contrast to Britain and the US, there is a separation between theological training in church colleges and leadership, and management training in our universities. Religious not-for-profits play a much larger role in delivering social services, schooling and so on in Australia than in Britain or the US, with our historically non-ideological and utilitarian relationship between government and religious organisations providing services (Oslington 2015). Whether it is programs like the new Alphacrucis NFP leadership Masters in Leadership specialisation or leadership and MBA programs in secular universities that pay greater attention to the religious dimensions of not-for-profits, we need this gap filled if the mission and identity of these organisation is to be developed.

Besides identifying this gap, which is important for the future of Christian not-for-profits and those they serve, we have presented the findings of our interviews with CEOs of these organisations about what they value in an educational program for their future leaders. These findings provide a point of comparison for Christian not-for-profits assessing what needs to be done to develop future leaders in their organisation, as well as the sorts of internal programs and external courses that meet these needs. Any discussion of development needs for leaders in Christian not-for-profits rests on understandings of their Christian identity and mission and I hope this article will stimulate debate about that issue also.

The bottom line though for leadership development to happen is funding, and we need either new models of government contracting or philanthropy to focus more on capacity building than program delivery.

### Acknowledgements

I gratefully acknowledge the support of the Genesis Foundation which made this research possible. My Alphacrucis colleague Dr Mulyadi Robin, Director of our Master of Leadership program, and Naomi Nash and Dr Peter Kaldor from New River Leadership worked with me on the project. I also appreciate helpful comments and discussions with Dr Craig Furneaux from QUT, Professor David Gilchrist and Professor Paul Flatau from UWA, Dr Doug Hynd, Dr Wilma Gallet, Dr Brendan Long and Professor Stephen Pickard from Charles Sturt University, and Susan King Director of Research at Anglicare Sydney, as well as the senior leaders of the Christian NFPs who were so generous in sharing their knowledge and perspectives on the sector with us. The views expressed in this paper are my own and should not be attributed to the individuals and organisation which participated in the project.

#### REFERENCES

- Anheier, H. K. (2014) *Nonprofit Organizations: Theory, management, policy.* 2nd edn. New York, Routledge.
- Furneaux, C. (2018) "What Skills Do Nonprofit Managers Need?" Presentation at ANZTSR Conference. Sydney: University of Notre Dame.
- Gallet, W. (2016) Christian Mission or an Unholy Alliance? The changing role of churchrelated organisations in welfare-to-work service delivery, PhD Thesis, University of Melbourne, Melbourne.
- Gilchrist, D. & Pilcher, R. (2018) The Intention and the Reality: A commentary on the not-forprofit reform agenda in Australia in public sector. In D. Gilchrist & R. Pilcher (eds.), Accounting, Governance and Accountability: Globalising the experiences of Australia and New Zealand. London: Routledge.
- Greer, P. & Horst, C. (2014) *Mission Drift: The unspoken crisis facing leaders, charities, and churches.* Bethany House Publishers.
- Grimes, M. G., Williams, T. A. & Zhao, E. Y. (2019) Anchors aweigh: The sources, variety, and challenges of mission drift. *Academy of Management Review*, 44(4): 819-845.

- Hoefer, R. (2009) Preparing Managers for the Human Services: Identifying and overcoming barriers in social work management education. In R. J. Patti (ed.), *The Handbook of Human Services Management*. Los Angeles: Sage.
- Hwang, H. & Powell, W. W. (2009) The rationalization of charity: The influences of professionalism in the nonprofit sector. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 54: 268–298.
- Hynd, D. (2016) On (Not) Becoming 'A Servant of the State' in 'Seeking the Flourishing of the City'? A theologically informed inquiry into the impact on 'church-related' agencies' of contracting with government to provide social welfare and human services in Australia 1996 to 2013, PhD Thesis, Australian Catholic University: Fitzroy
- Hynd, D. (2017) Church-related social welfare agencies in Australia. Zadok Papers.
- Kaldor, P., Nash, N. & Paterson, S. (2017) *Rethinking Leadership*. Sydney: Thousand Lakes Publishing.
- Menefee, D. (2009) What Human Service Managers Do and Why They Do It. In R. J. Patti (ed.), *The Handbook of Human Services Management*. Los Angeles: Sage.
- Oslington, P (2014) Religion and Australian Universities: Tales of horror and hope." *The Conversation*. Available at: Theconversation.com/australian-universities-and-religion-tales-of-horror-and-hope-23245.
- Oslington, P. (2015) Sacred and secular in Australian social services. Pacifica, 28(1):79-93
- Oslington, P. (2019) The Leadership Gap: Sharp suited MBA or incompetent Minister?" *Australian Financial Review*, 18 March.
- Stephen, J., Robinson, A. & Errington, F. (2012) *Driven by Purpose: Charities that make the difference*. Sydney: Hammond Press.
- Wenzel, R (2017) Learning for Purpose: Challenges and opportunities for human capital development in the social sector. In S. A. Tirmizi & J. De Klerk (eds.), *Leading and Managing in the Social Sector: Strategies for advancing human dignity and social justice*: 113-137. Cham: Springer.
- Wenzel, R & De Klerk, J. (2016) *Learning to be a Leader*. Perth: University of Western Australia.

## **ABOUT THE AUTHOR**

PAUL OSLINGTON is Professor of Economics and Theology at Alphacrucis College, the national college of the Pentecostal movement in Australia. His PhD in Economics was completed at the University of Sydney and Doctor of Theology through University of Divinity, Melbourne. Books include *Adam Smith as Theologian* 2011, *Oxford Handbook of Economics and Christianity* 2014, *Political Economy as Natural Theology: Smith Malthus and their Followers* 2018, and current projects include a monograph commissioned by Harvard University Press *God and Economic Order*. He is a Council member and past Vice-President

of the Economic Society of Australia (NSW Branch), and was Chair of the 2017 Conference of Economists in Sydney. Email: <a href="mailto:paul.oslington@ac.edu.au">paul.oslington@ac.edu.au</a>

